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Audited information according to IFRS 7 and IAS 1
Risk and capital disclosures provided in line with the requirements of International Financial  
Reporting Standard 7 (IFRS 7), Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and International Accounting 
Standard 1 (IAS 1), Presentation of Financial Statements, form part of the financial statements 
included in the ”Financial statements” section of this report and audited by the independent 
registered public accounting firm PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Zurich. This information is marked 
as “Audited” within this section of the report.

Signposts

The Audited | signpost that is displayed at the beginning of a section, table or chart indicates that 
those items have been audited. A triangle symbol -s- indicates the end of the audited section, 
table or chart. 
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Risk management and control framework
Audited | The proper assessment and control of risks are critically important for Leonteq’s  
business. In compliance with regulatory requirements in Switzerland and other applicable jurisdic-
tions, the Company has established a comprehensive risk management and control framework 
covering market risk, credit risk, operational risk and liquidity risk. Established policies and proce-
dures not only ensure that risks are identified and monitored throughout the organisation but also 
that they are controlled in an effective and consistent manner.

Risk management and control principles

Risk management and control are an integral part of the ongoing management of Leonteq’s  
business. Leonteq is exposed to market, credit and operational risks as part of its client focused, 
fee-based business model. Risk management and control are an important component of this 
model, ensuring that the activities of Investment Solutions and Insurance & Wealth Planning 
Solutions – which offer services related to the structuring and issuance of structured investment 
products – are client-driven rather than motivated by proprietary risk-taking activities. 

The following guiding principles are designed to maintain and further develop our client-focused 
business approach:

•	 The Company’s reputation is its most valuable asset and needs to be protected by means of 
a robust risk framework and effective risk culture;

•	 Compliance with all regulatory requirements must be ensured at all times;

•	 The capital base and risk exposures have to be continuously managed to achieve capital ratios 
that exceed regulatory minimum requirements;

•	 Risk concentrations and exposure to stress scenarios are to be closely monitored and  
managed within approved limits;

•	 Independent risk control functions serve to monitor adherence with the established risk  
appetite;

•	 Accurate, timely and detailed risk disclosures are provided to Senior Management and the 
Board of Directors, as well as to regulators and auditors.

Our policies, risk measurement and reporting methodologies and the risk limit framework reflect 
the above principles. The risk framework is constantly being developed to take account of new 
business activities and changes in our risk profile. s

Risk tolerance framework

Capital

Volatility of profit
and losses

Liquidity

Operational excellence

Non-financial

Target rating

• Business model / strategy

• Budget process / strategic business plan

• Cost management / financial reporting &   
 monitoring

• Risk and stress testing framework

• Risk limit framework

• Capital planning / capital management

• Profit & loss reporting and analysis /    
 valuation framework / model validation

• Liquidity planning, monitoring & 
 management framework

• Operational risk framework

• Internal control system / ISAE 3402

• Sanction policy and policy  framework

• Incentive system & internal management   
 communication

• External rating by a major rating agency
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Risk governance 

Leonteq’s risk governance framework operates according to the “Three lines of defence” model, 
which provides guidance regarding the main set-up of the internal control system, with its clear 
allocation of tasks and responsibilities and the segregation of duties between risk management 
and risk control functions, as well as Internal and External Audit.

Overall responsibility for the Company-wide internal control system lies with the Board of Direc-
tors and its committees. The Board of Directors defines the overall guidelines and performs an 
assessment of the internal control system on a regular basis but delegates the implementation 
and maintenance of the internal control system to the Executive Committee. The first line of  
defence is formed by managers and “risk owners”, who are responsible for identifying, assessing 
and managing inherent risks associated with business activities. Line managers must implement 
effective internal controls, operational activities and other risk responses to address the risks  
associated with the processes they manage. The second line of defence consists of functions 
such as compliance and risk control and provides independent oversight of the risk management 
activities of the first line of defence. The second line of defence prepares the policies, frame-
works, tools and techniques to be implemented in the first line, conducts monitoring to judge how 
effectively this is being done, and helps to ensure consistency in the definition and measurement 
of risk. The third line of defence comprises the Internal Audit which reports independently to the 
Board of Directors and is not part of the risk management processes. The function provides an 
evaluation, using a risk-based approach, of the effectiveness of governance, risk management, 
and internal control and submits it to the Company’s Board of Directors and Executive Committee.

The key roles and responsibilities for risk management and control are illustrated in the following 
chart and described on the following pages.

Executive Committee | Risk Committee | Product Approval Committee

Mitigation of key weakness identified during assessments by strategic projects

Board of Directors | Audit Committee | Risk Committee
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Audited | The Board of Directors is responsible for defining an appropriate framework for the 
measurement, limitation, management and supervision of all risks to which the Company is  
exposed. It approves the overall risk policies and global risk limits, following decisions by the Risk 
Committee.

The Risk Committee of the Board of Directors monitors a wide variety of risks – especially 
credit (clients, counterparties, bond investment portfolios, countries, large exposures), market, 
liquidity, reputational and operational risks. It also oversees general risks within the policy, frame-
work, rules and limits set by the Board of Directors or by the Committee itself, as well as the 
internal control system and risk management process throughout the Company.

The Executive Committee is responsible for the operational management and supervision of all 
types of risks within the framework and risk appetite defined by the Board of Directors. The Chief 
Risk Officer is responsible for the development of the Company’s risk framework, its risk man-
agement and control principles, and its risk policies. In this context, the Executive Committee 
has delegated certain responsibilities to the following committees:

•	 The Product Approval Committee is responsible for approving new types of financial products 
before they are issued and new services before they are launched. The Product Approval 
Committee is composed of both members of the Executive Committee and employees  
responsible for operational risk control, trading and treasury. 

•	 The Risk Committee of the Executive Committee is responsible for determining and monitor-
ing liquidity risks, market risk limits, counterparty limits and country-specific limits within the 
scope defined by the Board of Directors. It establishes permissible hedging instruments with-
in the scope defined by the Board, approves eligible issuers and stress scenarios, and issues 
guidelines on the general handling of legal and regulatory risks. The Risk Committee further 
decides on the initiation of lawsuits, the withdrawal from lawsuits or other legal proceedings 
and the conclusion of settlements if the committed amount is below a certain threshold or 
not of a material nature. 

The Risk Control department is responsible for ensuring that risk exposures remain in line with 
the risk appetite defined by the Board of Directors. The main responsibilities of Risk Control  
include:

•	 Risk identification to ensure that all material risks are detected and quantified;

•	 Definition of appropriate risk measures to monitor all material risks;

•	 Monitoring and controlling of risk exposures against all limits;

•	 Independent oversight of treasury activities in managing structural FX risks and liquidity risks;

•	 Escalation of limit breaches to the limit owner;

•	 Independent profit and loss verification and explanation of all trading activities on a daily basis;

•	 Independent assessment of models;

•	 Independent price testing of all financial positions. s
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Risk limit framework

Audited | Risk appetite is defined as the overall level of risk that the Company is willing to  
accept. The Board of Directors approves Leonteq’s Risk Appetite Framework and sets objectives 
related to risk appetite to ensure sustainable profitability and the preservation of shareholder 
value. These objectives include the protection of capital, liquidity and earnings during plausible 
but severe stress scenarios. They are translated into risk limits for individual financial risks inher-
ent in the Company’s activities and qualitative statements for risks that cannot be quantified, e.g. 
operational risk.

Risk and limit framework

Capital target ratios | Capital reporting, monitoring and planning

Liquidity framework | Liquidity Excess Reserves (LER)

Governance | Risk and Product Approval Committees | Policies

Market risk framework Credit risk framework Operational risk framework

Board limits
Represent the risk appetite 
on the main risk drivers

EC limits
Limits set by the Executive 
Committee on the main and 
additional risk drivers

Released limits
Limits against which Risk 
Control monitors risk 
exposures

Regional limits
Limits allocated to branches 
or regions

Credit limits
Limits are set on individual 
counterparty group level

Risk diversification rules
Sets upper bounds for credit 
limits set by EC

Credit risk mitigation
Eliminating credit exposure by 
means of netting agreements, 
segregation of collateral

Monetary operational risk 
Tolerance level defines 
accepted loss level 

Risk identification
Event reporting, control
assessments and risk
register

Risk measurement and 
monitoring
Self assessments, key risk
indicators and reports

Risk mitigation
IT initiatives and projects, 
education and policies 

The limit framework has three different levels of limits:

•	 Board of Directors limits represent the Company’s overall risk appetite set by the Board of 
Directors. Breaches of these limits are escalated to the Board of Directors;

•	 Executive Committee limits are additional granular limits imposed by the Risk Committee of 
the Executive Committee;

•	 Released limits are the part of the limits defined by the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Committee that the Executive Committee decides to release in order to closely monitor and 
control trading activity. s
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Risk infrastructure

The Company’s risk infrastructure has been continuously developed since Leonteq started its 
operations in 2007. Since then Leonteq has significantly invested in its maintenance and further 
development. Today, a single position keeping system eliminates the need for complex data and 
risk aggregation and consolidation systems. A data warehouse which is accessed by all relevant 
departments ensures a high level of data consistency. Automated data extractions, enrichment 
and risk analysis processes ensure a high level of efficiency when monitoring and reporting risk. 
Significant computational resources are available to handle hundreds of risk and trading reports 
each day and no approximations or proxy models are used for risk management purposes, i.e. all 
instruments are fully calculated.

Users

Risk infrastructure

Data sources

Position
keeping

Risk
management

Instrument
repository

Data warehouse

Risk
reporting

applications

P&L
reporting

applications

Finance
systems

Regulatory
reporting

application

ETL

ETL

ETL

As of 31 December 2019, over 100 experienced IT professionals were responsible for maintaining 
and further developing the Company’s systems. The same core information technology system is 
used across all asset classes, integrating important front-, mid- and back-office functions as well 
as risk management and risk control and quantitative modelling. Leonteq’s structured investment 
service platform consists of its proprietary information technology systems and processes as well 
as standard hardware and software tools for non-differentiating and commoditised functions.

Sophis RISQUE is the Company’s risk management, trading and position keeping system.  
Leonteq uses Sophis RISQUE for all products across all asset classes in all its business lines, 
including for straight-through processing, covering a large part of the value chain from trading  
via mid-office to back office areas. Sophis RISQUE is also integrated with systems used in risk 
control to perform stress scenario, sensitivity and other calculations.

Analytics Service, which includes Leonteq’s Analytics Library, is key to all quantitative and ana-
lytical computations that Leonteq performs and is the basis for all pricing and risk management 
applications. The Analytics Library is a proprietary library that contains the quantitative pricing 
and risk-management models that are developed in-house. Since it covers all asset classes, the 
Analytics Library allows to create hybrid products and implement new payoffs across all asset 
classes. It currently supports a wide number of different payoffs and can be extended using a 
scripting language. The Analytics Library contains functions for calibrating the Company’s market 
data in a consistent way. The resulting volatility surfaces allow pricing of both exotic and vanilla 
options on a continuous basis. This methodology enables the Company’s traders to maintain a 
large universe of underlyings more efficiently, facilitating short response times to client requests.  
The combination of pricing functionality with the calibration methods of market data within the  
Analytics Library ensures that Leonteq’s pricings and analytical computations are not only indica-
tive but tradable and executable for the clients.
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INCORE is a proprietary data warehouse that was developed in-house and is used for internal and 
external reporting and data delivery. It serves as the central repository of risk and financial data 
reporting and is used by several departments, such as Risk Control, Finance, Compliance, Trading 
and Treasury. In addition, it serves as the reporting engine for regular data delivery to platform 
partners. INCORE also stores instrument and market data for end-of-day pricing requests and is 
used for daily profit and-loss analysis. Data and reports are distributed and provided to end-users 
via automated schedules or visualised in dashboards using business intelligence tools. 

Risk control
Audited | Leonteq’s risk control department is responsible for identifying, monitoring and  
controlling risks resulting from the issuance of structured investment products to clients, which 
the Company seeks to hedge efficiently. It is exposed to market risk, which results from  
mismatches between its exposure to equity prices, interest rates, currencies, credit spreads and 
commodity prices arising from the issuance of structured investment products and the instru-
ments that are used to hedge that exposure. It is also exposed to liquidity risk relating to the 
need to fund its hedging activities. The Company is exposed to credit risk due to its exposure  
to trading counterparties and as a result of the investment of the proceeds from the issuance  
of structured investment products in bonds and other fixed income instruments. In addition, 
Leonteq is exposed to operational risks including processing errors, legal and regulatory risks 
and risks related to its IT infrastructure.

Risk measures

The Company measures risk at the level of individual positions and at portfolio level. Sensitivity, 
stress and statistical loss measures are calculated and recorded at position level, facilitating the 
analysis of the results across multiple dimensions, such as entities, trading portfolios or individ-
ual asset classes. 

Leonteq does not use any approximation techniques to calculate risk sensitivities or the results 
of sensitivity and stress scenarios. A full revaluation of all positions, including derivatives priced 
using Monte Carlo techniques, is used for risk-related calculations. The resulting risk exposure 
and limit consumption for all established risk limits is reported to senior management on a daily 
basis. Risk limits are applied to credit exposure and market risk sensitivities.

Stress testing
Daily stress testing of the Company’s portfolios is performed in order to monitor and control 
exposures to various risks. More than 300 daily stress tests and scenarios are calculated to  
ensure that the trading book remains within the defined risk limits. Specific stress scenarios 
have been defined for changes in security prices (including changes in underlying parameters 
such as volatilities, correlation and dividend parameters), foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates, as well as for the Company’s credit exposures. 

Sensitivities
The Company calculates the sensitivity to changes in the value of individual positions and the 
sensitivity of the entire portfolios to changes in underlying risk factors such as share prices,  
volatility, interest rates and credit spreads.

Risk concentration
Management considers that a risk concentration exists when an individual or Company of finan-
cial instruments is exposed to changes in the same risk factor and that exposure could result in a 
significant loss based on plausible adverse future market developments. Management monitors 
and reviews credit risk concentrations, as well as residual risks such as vega, correlation, dividend 
and gap risk, on a regular basis and takes corrective actions to ensure exposures are reduced to 
an acceptable level. s
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Profit and loss analysis
The Company performs daily profit and loss analysis and reports economic revenues on a con-
solidated as well as individual trading book level to senior management. Economic revenues 
consist of sales and trading income earned and are considered as recognised at the trade date 
without applying IFRS revenue recognition rules. Economic revenues do not include certain oth-
er income components such as partner project cost reimbursements. 

The below charts show the weekly economic revenues for the financial year 2019 and 2018.  
Leonteq’s fee-based business model and the its focus on risk management within tight limits is 
evidenced by a small number of weeks with negative contribution. The economic revenues are 
relatively stable in different market dynamics as a result of a large number of trades with a rather 
small average notional per trade. In 2018 and 2019, a total of 5 out of 104 weeks had a negative 
contribution in the amount of CHF -14.3 million, representing 3% of the total economic revenues 
of CHF 537.0 million during these periods.
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Market risk

Audited | Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from adverse movements in the market price or 
model price of financial assets. The Company distinguishes among five types of market risk: 

•	 Equity risk, i.e. the risk of adverse movements in share prices and related derivatives;

•	 Interest rate risk, i.e. the risk of adverse movements in the yield curve and corresponding 
movements in the valuation of fixed income-based assets;

•	 Credit spread risk, i.e. the risk that the widening of credit spreads may negatively impact  
asset prices; this type of risk relates primarily to the investment portfolio;

•	 Foreign exchange, i.e. the risk of adverse movements in currency exchange rates and related 
derivative instruments;

•	 Commodity risk, i.e. the risk of adverse movements in commodity prices and related deriva-
tives.

Monitoring of market risk
Equity, commodity, foreign exchange and interest rate risks are monitored and controlled through 
the daily calculation of various risk measures: 

•	 Delta risk measures the impact of a change in the price of the underlying (equity, precious 
metal or commodity) and the impact on profit and loss is measured based on a 1% increase 
in the price of all underlying securities. 

•	 Vega risk is the sensitivity of the derivative value with respect to changes in the implied  
volatility of an underlying (equity, precious metal or commodity) and the impact on profit and 
loss is measured based on a 1% normalised shock on the implied volatility in absolute terms 
for all underlyings. A normalised volatility shock is defined by a term structure of shocks with 
shocks decaying by 1/sqrt(t), with caps and floors applied at the short and long end.

•	 Correlation risk measures the impact on the derivative value of changes in implied correlation 
between underlying pairs and the impact on profit and loss is measured based on a change in 
implied correlation of 1 percentage point in absolute terms for all underlying pairs.

•	 Dividend risk measures the impact on the derivative value of changes in the expected  
dividend and the profit or loss impact is measured based on a change in dividend of -10% in 
relative terms for all underlyings.

•	 Foreign exchange risk measures the impact of a change in currency prices. The impact on 
profit and loss is measured for a 1% change in the value of all currencies against the Swiss 
franc. Sensitivities are further classified into G10 currencies (FX G10) and non G10 currencies 
(FX EM).

•	 Credit spread risk measures the impact of a change in the price of the underlying bond as a 
result of a change in the credit spread of the issuer and is measured based on the change in 
credit spreads of 10 basis points. Sensitivities are divided between credit linked products 
(CS10 Credit linked products), corporate and financial institution exposures (CS10 Corpora-
tions and banks), and governments, agencies and supranationals (CS10 Governments and 
agencies).

•	 Interest rate risk measures the impact of a parallel shift in the yield curve and the impact on 
profit and loss is measured based on a change in all the yield curves of 1% (DV100) for the 
G10 interest rates (IR G10) and the non G10 interest rates (IR EM).

•	 IR vega risk is the sensitivity of the derivative value with respect to changes in the implied 
volatility of interest rates and the profit or loss impact is measured based on a change in the 
normal implied volatility of +1 basis point for all interest rate curves.
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Sensitivity analysis
As of 31 December 2019, the Company had the following exposures relating to its financial  
assets and liabilities, which include the interest rate exposure from the investment portfolio.

Impact on income statement

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Risk factor

Equity delta  65  (319)

Precious metal delta  134  35 

Commodity delta  (43)  (30)

Equity vega  2,294  3,657 

Precious metal vega  16  (10)

Commodity vega  223  (165)

Equity correlation  (4,570)  (9,820) 

Equity dividend  (3,480)  (5,799) 

FX G10 delta  (44)  (328)

FX EM delta  46  150 

CS10 Credit linked products  437  345 

CS10 Government and agencies  (1,866)  (2,526)

CS10 Corporations and banks  (1,039)  (983)

IR G10 DV100  (7,868)  3,980 

IR EM DV100  (444)  310 

IR Vega  (107)  (66)

Impact on equity

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Risk factor

FX G10 delta  2,905 N/A

CS10 Government and agencies  (81) N/A

CS10 Corporations and banks  (3,836) N/A

In 2019, the Company established a branch in Guernsey (Leonteq Securities AG, Guernsey  
Finance Branch) which commenced operations on 1 March 2019. The main purpose of the branch 
is to manage a portfolio of mainly US dollar denominated bonds. As a consequence, the func-
tional currency of the branch is US dollar. As of 31 December 2019, the new branch was funded 
with capital of USD 150 million as well as a long-term intra-company loan of USD 150 million, 
which created a US dollar exposure for the Company in the amount of approximately USD 300 
million. Sensitivities between the US dollar and the Swiss franc affecting the Company’s equity 
are reflected in the above table. 

In 2018, the Company started to invest a certain portion of proceeds from own product issuance 
in mid-term high-quality bonds issued by corporates and financials. This investment portfolio  
increased further in 2019, leading to a new business model (as defined under IFRS 9) for how the 
Company manages its investment portfolio (buying and selling debt instruments and collecting 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding). Management therefore concluded that the investment portfolio should no longer 
be designated to be measured at fair value through profit or loss but at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI). Bonds measured at FVOCI are presented as “financial invest-
ments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income”. Credit spread sensitivities 
relating to this FVOCI portfolio are presented in the above table. s
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Stress analysis
Audited | The Company reports the impact on its income statement when the following relevant 
historical stress scenarios are applied to its portfolio:

	 9/11 is a 1-day crash scenario that happened on 11 September 2001 after the terrorist attack 
on the Twin Towers in New York. Equity prices fell significantly and equity volatilities  
increased.

	 Rally is a 1-day rally scenario that happened two weeks after 11 September 2001, i.e. on  
24 September 2001. Equity prices increased and equity volatilities decreased.

The following tables give an indication of the overall risk exposure as of 31 December 2019 and 
as of 31 December 2018. Scenarios that are close to the diagonal from the lower left corner to 
the upper right corner are more likely to be observed, especially over a short period. The long 
volatility exposure is induced by client flow. With downside and volatile market movements, the 
trading books make a profit, whereas with low volatility and positive market movements, the 
trading books can generate a loss that is expected to be offset by client activity.

Structured products

31 December 2019 

CHF thousand

Vol. –5% Vol. –2% Vol. 0% Vol. +2% Vol. +5% Vol. +10%

Spot -10%  (69,844)  (31,161)  (8,879)  10,904  35,582  64,242 

Spot -5%  (31,976)  (12,740)  (808)  10,689  25,9 77  46,662 

Spot -2%  (17,438)  (7,025)  (95)  6,967  17,746  34,297 

Spot 0%  (10,299)  (4,407) —  4,666  12,721  27,433 

Spot +2%  (3,020)  (1,345)  437  3,151  9,291  21,938 

Spot +5%  9,924  4,855  3,701  4,077  7,491  17,202 

Spot +10%  30,811  20,542  15,589  12,805  12,414  19,189 

31 December 2018 

CHF thousand

Vol. –5% Vol. –2% Vol. 0% Vol. +2% Vol. +5% Vol. +10%

Spot -10%  (55,542)  (23,995)  (8,995)  1,861  10,082  7,733 

Spot -5%  (40,976)  (14,249)  (934)  8,391  16,180  13,252 

Spot -2%  (30,576)  (10,325)  284  7,682  13,568  9,221 

Spot 0%  (24,055)  (8,476) —  5,944  9,883  4,846 

Spot +2%  (19,627)  (7,435)  (1,228)  2,936  5,329  (458)

Spot +5%  (15,858)  (8,614)  (5,531)  (3,617)  (3,139)  (9,729)

Spot +10%  (16,345)  (17,022)  (17,888)  (19,250)  (21,997)  (29,439)

Pension products

31 December 2019 

CHF thousand

Vol. –20bp Vol. –10bp Vol. 0bp Vol. +10bp Vol. +20bp

Spot -50bp  570  811  1,061  1,359  1,716 

Spot -25bp  1,963  819  173  (147)  (241)

Spot 0bp  3,591  1,392 —  (860)  (1,356)

Spot +25bp  3,907  1,476  (179)  (1,296)  (2,028)

Spot +50bp  2,648  480  (1,055)  (2,144)  (2,901)

31 December 2018 

CHF thousand

Vol. –20bp Vol. –10bp Vol. 0bp Vol. +10bp Vol. +20bp

Spot -50bp  (92)  (1,019)  (895)  (114)  1,101 

Spot -25bp  2,281  449  (224)  (113)  548 

Spot 0bp  3,550  1,176 —  (330)  (55)

Spot +25bp  3,895  1,387  (9)  (595)  (589)

Spot +50bp  4,905  2,112  383  (532)  (835)

s
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Credit risk

Audited | Credit or default risk is defined as the general risk of financial loss occurring if a  
counterparty or an issuer of a financial security does not meet its contractual obligations. The 
Company distinguishes between the following types of credit risk: 

•	 Counterparty credit risk is the risk of the counterparty defaulting on a derivative instrument 
that has a positive replacement value after consideration of collateral;

•	 Issuer risk is the risk of default by the issuer of a debt instrument held as a direct position or 
as an underlying of a derivative;

•	 Country risk is the risk of financial loss due to a country-specific event.

Monitoring of credit risk
Leonteq is exposed to credit risks related to over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives and securities 
lending and borrowing activities with counterparties, as well as through the investment of  
proceeds from the issuance of structured investment products in bonds or other fixed income 
instruments, as well as the exposure incurred by the issuance from credit linked notes. Counter-
party and country risk limits are set by management and reviewed regularly by the Risk 
Committee of the Board of Directors. Exposure to counterparties resulting from the Company’s 
OTC derivatives and securities lending and borrowing activities is typically mitigated through the 
use of mark-to-market collateral and close-out netting arrangements. Investments in bonds or 
other fixed income instruments are subject to additional limits. 

Counterparty exposures

CHF million 31.12.2019 
Exposure

31.12.2018 
Exposure

OTC  23.5  67.3 

SLB  46.3  62.9 

Total  69.8  130.2 

Investment portfolio 
The Company has primarily invested proceeds from own product issuance in short- to mid-term 
high-quality bonds issued by corporations and financial institutions, as well as by central govern-
ments, organisations supported by these governments and supranational organisations. A com-
prehensive overview of the investment portfolio is provided in the following tables:

CHF million Maturity Total 
31.12.2019

Total 
31.12.2019 

in %
0 – 12  

months
12 – 24 

months
24 – 36 

 months
36 – 48 

 months
48 – 60 

 months
>60 

months

Governments and agencies1 77.0 456.9 341.2 167.2 51.1 0.0 1,093.4 45.5%

of which Aaa 43.2 303.9 216.2 123.5 39.3 0.0  726.1 30.2%

of which Aa1-Aa3 33.8 153.0 125.0 43.7 0.0 0.0  355.5 14.8%

of which A1-A3 — — 0.0 0.0 11.8 0.0  11.8 0.5%

Corporations/Institutions 11.1 56.1 202.3 175.1 209.3 220.7  874.6 36.4%

of which Aaa — — 28.5 0.7 14.3 60.4  103.9 4.3%

of which Aa1-Aa3 15.6 20.3 45.6 56.2 41.6 74.2  253.5 10.6%

of which A1-A3 5.9 35.8 126.8 101.5 138.5 79.3  487.8 20.3%

of which Baa1-Baa3 — — 1.4 6.0 14.9 6.8  29.1 1.2%

of which B1-B3 (10.4) — 0.0 10.7 0.0 0.0  0.3 0.0%

Banks 57.9 39.1 106.4 63.0 96.5 71.4  434.3 18.1%

of which Aa1-Aa3 24.9 12.6 76.0 29.4 26.3 34.4  203.6 8.5%

of which A1-A3 22.9 26.5 12.3 28.6 61.3 32.1  183.7 7.6%

of which Baa1-Baa3 10.1 — 18.1 5.0 8.9 4.9  47.0 2.0%

Total  146.0  552.1  649.9  405.3  356.9  292.1  2,402.3 100%

1	 Includes bonds issued by governments, public sector bodies and supranational agencies.
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CHF million Maturity Total 
31.12.2018

Total 
31.12.2018 

in %
0 – 12  

months
12 – 24 

months
24 – 36 

 months
36 – 48 

 months
48 – 60 

 months
>60 

months

Governments and agencies2 661.2 266.8 233.5 177.6 127.5 48.8 1,515.4 86.1%

of which Aaa 543.4 184.3 167.7 83.9 107.6 48.8 1,135.7 64.5%

of which Aa1-Aa3 117.8 82.5 65.8 93.7 19.9 — 379.7 21.6%

of which A1-A3 — — — — — — — —

Corporations/Institutions 0.0 0.0 24.2 0.0 42.6 63.9 130.7 7.4%

of which Aaa — — — — — — — —

of which Aa1-Aa3 — —  23.6 —  25.0  15.5 64.1 3.6%

of which A1-A3 — —  0.6 —  11.4  48.4 60.4 3.4%

of which Baa1-Baa3 — — — —  6.2 — 6.2 0.4%

of which B1-B3 — — — — — — — —

Banks 0.9 15.0 15.5 10.2 27.5 45.2 114.3 6.5%

of which Aa1-Aa3 —  9.8  15.5 —  14.6  13.4 53.3 3.0%

of which A1-A3  0.9  5.0 —  10.2  8.1  23.5 47.7 2.7%

of which Baa1-Baa3 —  0.2 — —  4.8  8.3 13.3 0.8%

Total  662.1  281.8  273.2  187.8  197.6  157.9  1,760.4 100.0%

2	 Includes bonds issued by governments, public sector bodies and supranational agencies.

s

Operational risk

Audited | Operational risk is the risk of losses occurring due to inadequate or failed internal  
processes, people and systems or due to external causes. Losses can take the form of direct 
financial losses, regulatory sanctions or lost revenues, e.g. due to the failure of a service or  
system. Such events may also lead to reputational damage that could have longer-term financial 
consequences.

Operational risk is limited by means of organisational measures, automation, internal control and 
security systems, written procedures, legal documentation, loss mitigation techniques and a 
business continuity plan overseen by management, among other measures. Special attention is 
paid to the key performance indicators of the Company’s core risk management system. All  
securities purchases are executed through central trading desks and the size and quality of the 
trades are reviewed by traders. Positions are reconciled on a daily basis by the back office.  
However, operational risk cannot be entirely mitigated. 

Leonteq’s management considers operational risk to be one of the major risks to which the 
Company is exposed. A broad Operational Risk Framework has therefore been put in place to 
manage and control operational risk. Within that framework, any operational risk is “owned” by 
management as the first line of defence. Operational Risk Control independently monitors the 
effectiveness of operational risk management and oversees operational risk-taking activities.  
The Board of Directors determines the risk appetite for significant sources of operational risk. 
Management performs its own periodic assessments of the operational risk profile within its 
areas of responsibility. As part of this process, unmitigated risks and mitigation actions are 
logged in a Company-wide inventory. Operational Risk Control independently reviews the  
assessments produced by management and collates the Company’s overall operational risk pro-
file to determine whether it is in line with the risk appetite established by the Board of Directors. 
Operational events are analysed to determine their root causes, and adequate and sustainable 
mitigation actions are defined. s 
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Other risks 

Audited | The Company is also exposed to a number of other risks, including reputational risk, 
model risk and tax risk.

Reputational risk is the risk of a potential loss of reputation due to a financial loss or any other 
real or perceived event with a negative impact on reputation. In particular, this includes the risk 
arising from any cases of employee misconduct. The implemented risk framework aims to iden-
tify, quantify and reduce primary and consequential risks that could have an adverse impact on 
the Company’s reputation. Leonteq believes that its reputational risk is further mitigated through 
strict compliance controls and a culture of ownership and responsibility across all levels of the 
Company. This is also reinforced by a systematic and transparent communication policy towards 
all stakeholders.

Model risk is the risk of financial loss due to inappropriate model assumptions or inadequate 
model usage. In Leonteq’s business, the major model risks arise when models are used to value 
financial securities and to calculate hedging ratios. The consequence of an inadequate model 
could be an incorrect valuation, leading to incorrect risk measurement and incorrect hedging 
positions, both of which could result in a financial loss. Leonteq mitigates these risks through a 
comprehensive model validation process performed independently by the Risk Control depart-
ment. The process includes the assessment of conceptual aspects, model implementation and 
integration into the risk management system, valuation results and best market practices, and it 
is concluded by the granting of a formal approval. Further validation is achieved through continu-
ous monitoring of model performance in daily market operations.

Tax risk is the risk of losses arising from changes in taxation (derived from tax legislation and 
decisions by the courts), including the misinterpretation of tax regimes as well as the manner in 
which they may be applied and enforced. This also applies to new international tax laws that 
could have a negative impact on the taxation of structured products, making them unattractive to 
investors. Leonteq proactively manages and controls these risks. It usually asks the relevant tax 
authorities for written confirmation of its interpretation of the relevant regulations (tax rulings) or 
seeks appropriate advice from professional local tax consultants. Tax risk is monitored by the Tax 
department, which takes an integrated view of tax risks for the whole Company.

The Company proactively manages risks relating to cyber security by implementing multiple layers 
of technical defences against unauthorised access from both internal and external sources. In  
addition to these technical defences, the Company’s Information Security Management System 
includes scheduled controls to ensure that the procedures and routines that underpin its defences 
are correctly configured and are effective.s 
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Liquidity management
Audited | The Company distinguishes between market liquidity risk, or the risk that it may not be 
able to sell or buy assets at fair value, and funding liquidity risk, or the risk that Leonteq may not 
have sufficient cash or other liquid assets to meet its obligations as they come due.

Market liquidity risk

Since the Company hedges its liabilities arising from issued structured investment products 
through the sale or purchase of derivatives or other financial and non-financial instruments, it is 
exposed to the risk that it will be unable to sell or buy such hedging assets at fair value to cover 
its liabilities for the corresponding structured investment products. Leonteq refers to this risk as 
market liquidity risk related to outstanding structured investment products. As the product buy-
back price is linked to the price of unwinding the asset, market liquidity risk related to trading 
activities is limited. Measures to mitigate market liquidity risks related to trading include: 

•	 Issuance of financial instruments only on reasonably liquid underlying instruments (shares, 
bonds, freely convertible currencies and commodities) and markets; 

•	 Diversification of OTC hedging counterparties;

•	 Quotation of structured investment products, including a bid-ask spread that provides an ade-
quate buffer for less liquid underlyings. The buffer between the value of the product using the 
current market value of illiquid underlyings and the prices at which Leonteq is willing to trade 
these products is needed in order to compensate for the possibility that it may not be able to 
hedge its liabilities at the current market prices of the illiquid underlyings. 

Furthermore, Leonteq invests excess proceeds from the issuance of structured products in a 
high-grade bond investment portfolio managed by its Treasury department. Any market liquidity 
risk of the investment portfolio is not offset by structured investment products. Measures to 
mitigate market liquidity risks related to treasury activities include: 

•	 Ensuring the investment universe comprises government and supranational agency credits 
with a high grade credit rating as well as bonds issued by corporates and financials with an 
investment grade rating;

•	 Maintaining diversification across countries and issuers;

•	 Specifying a minimum issue size;

•	 Defining the maximum concentration per single issue.

Funding liquidity risk

Funding liquidity risk represents the risk that Leonteq will not be able to efficiently meet both 
expected and unexpected current and future cash flow and collateral needs without either its 
daily operations or the financial condition of the Company being impacted. Funding consumption 
occurs mainly within Leonteq Securities AG Zurich and Leonteq Securities AG Amsterdam 
Branch.

The Company is exposed to funding liquidity and refinancing risk due primarily to the issuance 
structured product both for the Company and its platform partners, for whom the Company  
provides derivative hedges. Funding liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to 
efficiently meet both expected and unexpected liquidity flows. In addition, Leonteq is required to 
post collateral with SIX to secure obligations relating to COSI® and TCM-issued products.  
The repatriation of certain offshore cash placements would be subject to Swiss withholding tax. 
Leonteq therefore avoids using such unsecured liquidity held in the Guernsey/Amsterdam branch 
of Leonteq Securities AG to fund the purchase of securities needed to hedge market risks in 
Switzerland.

The liquidity management framework requires Leonteq to maintain sufficient liquidity reserves 
across its locations, thus ensuring adequate liquidity during general market, industry-specific or 
Company-specific stress conditions. Under the framework, Leonteq is required to maintain  
certain levels of available or onshore liquidity, excluding funding that may not be repatriated to 
Switzerland. The framework metrics are independently verified by Risk Control each business 
day. In addition, Risk Control simulate the effects of various stress scenarios on the amount of 
funding required under those scenarios on a daily basis. The framework requires that sufficient 
liquidity is available in locations to cover their respective funding requirements. If Leonteq were 
to experience shortfalls in any aspect of its liquidity requirements, committed credit facilities can 
be drawn on in conjunction with other reserve liquidity measures, as specified in the liquidity 
framework.
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Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities
The following tables show the maturity analysis of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities. 
Financial assets are presented based on either the first time period in which they can be contractu-
ally redeemed or, in the case of trading financial assets (principally equity instruments with no 
contractual maturity), in the “up to 1 month” category, reflecting management’s view of the liquid-
ity characteristics of these instruments. Financial liabilities are presented based on the first time 
period in which they are contractually redeemable. 

As undiscounted cash flows are not significantly different from discounted cash flows, the  
balances equal their carrying amount on the statement of financial position, with the exception of 
other financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, financial 
investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, and trading financial 
assets and liabilities.

With a higher amount of financial assets redeemable within three months relative to financial  
liabilities, Leonteq has a surplus of short-term liquidity. This gives the Company the flexibility to 
repay its liabilities in the event of early redemptions of structured products due to unforeseen 
market movements. Assets with shorter durations are periodically renewed or rolled over. This 
ensures a constant funding match and facilitates the adequate liquidity management of assets 
and liabilities.

CHF thousands Due Total 
31.12.2019

Up to  
1 month

1 – 3 
months

3 – 12 
months

Over 
12 months

Assets

Liquid Assets  130,891 — — —  130,891 

Amounts due from banks  478,031 — — —  478,031 

Amounts due from securities financing transactions  48,883 — — —  48,883 

Amounts due from customers  393,448 — — —  393,448 

Trading financial assets  2,034,867  5,950  10,576  103,692  2,155,085 

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments  48,998  1,668,929  472,038  801,781  2,991,746 

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss  1,933  21,220  144,012  1,320,156  1,487,321 

Financial investments measured at fair value through other  
comprehensive income

—  30,055 —  1,070,295  1,100,350 

Accrued income  15,892  6,811 — —  22,703 

Total financial assets  3,152,943  1,732,965  626,626  3,295,924  8,808,458 

Liabilities

Amounts due to banks  232,210 — — —  232,210 

Liabilities from securities financing transactions  259,319 — — —  259,319 

Amounts due to customers  622,190 — — —  622,190 

Trading financial liabilities  432,606 — —  1,301  433,907 

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments  29,197  687,703  556,355  1,253,819  2,527,074 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss  986,661  797,698  1,067,479  1,292,504  4,144,342 

Lease liability — —  7,079  43,983  51,062 

Accrued expenses  116,279  49,834 — —  166,113 

Total financial liabilities  2,678,462  1,535,235  1,630,913  2,591,607  8,436,217 
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CHF thousands Due Total 
31.12.2018

Up to  
1 month

1 – 3 
months

3 – 12 
months

Over 
12 months

Assets

Liquid Assets  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due from banks  1,375,066  —  —  —  1,375,066 

Amounts due from securities financing transactions  84,076  —  —  —  84,076 

Amounts due from customers  214,291  —  —  —  214,291 

Trading financial assets  1,943,103  11,584  8,410  67,334  2,030,431 

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments  109,790  2,448,518  1,001,716  1,388,869  4,948,893 

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss  61,713  168,661  442,206  1,221,972  1,894,552 

Financial investments measured at fair value through other  
comprehensive income

 —  —  —  —  — 

Accrued income  8,991  4,496  —  —  13,487 

Total financial assets  3,797,030  2,633,259  1,452,332  2,678,175  10,560,796 

Liabilities

Amounts due to banks  924,049  —  —  —  924,049 

Liabilities from securities financing transactions  428,901  —  —  —  428,901 

Amounts due to customers  1,375,104  —  —  —  1,375,104 

Trading financial liabilities  359,188  —  —  894  360,082 

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments  152,096  739,749  915,560  1,880,948  3,688,353 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss  1,148,449  752,770  489,844  996,566  3,387,629 

Lease liability  —  —  —  —  — 

Accrued expenses  23,387  37,661  1,740  —  62,788 

Total financial liabilities  4,411,174  1,530,180  1,407,144  2,878,408  10,226,906 

s
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Leonteq Securities AG
Income statement for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

CHF thousand Note 2019 2018

Fee income from securities trading and investment activities  270,792  276,082 

Fee income from other services  1,063  1,385 

Fee expense  (56,647)  (52,735)

Net fee income 8  215,208  224,732 

Result from trading activities and the fair value option 9  (3,149)  21,465 

Interest and discount income  9,644  5,893 

Interest expense  (26,472)  (25,842)

Changes in value adjustments for default risks and losses from interest operations  1,834  (1,640)

Net result from interest operations 10  (14,994)  (21,589)

Other ordinary income 11  2,788  3,363 

Total operating income  199,853  227,971 

Personnel expenses 12  (79,986)  (79,278)

Other operating expenses 13  (33,288)  (42,963)

Depreciation of long-lived assets 29  (26,411)  (15,736)

Changes to provisions and other value adjustments, and losses 34  (3,068)  (3,706)

Total operating expenses  (142,753)  (141,683)

Result from operating activities  57,100  86,288 

Taxes 14  (1,070)  (758)

Net profit  56,030  85,530 

of which allocated to shareholders of Leonteq Securities AG  56,030  85,530 

Leonteq Securities AG
Statement of other comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

CHF thousand Note 2019 2018

Net profit  56,030  85,530 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not be reclassified to the income statement

Remeasurement of the defined benefit plan 31  (4,750)  (1,559)

Income tax on items that will not be reclassified 14  866  330 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not be reclassified to the income statement  (3,884)  (1,229)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified to the income statement

Net unrealised gains/(losses) on debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 27  5,214  — 

Expected credit loss changes on debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 33  847  — 

Currency translation adjustments 15  (10,038)  — 

Income tax on items that may be reclassified 14  2  — 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified to the income statement  (3,975)  — 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss)  (7,859)  (1,229)

Total comprehensive income  48,171  84,301 

of which allocated to shareholders of Leonteq Securities AG  48,171  84,301 

The notes on pages 28 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Leonteq Securities AG
Statement of financial position as of 31 December 2019 and 2018

CHF thousand Note 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Assets

Liquid assets 18  130,891  — 

Amounts due from banks 19  478,031  1,341,405 

Amounts due from securities financing transactions 21  48,883  84,076 

Amounts due from customers 20  393,448  214,784 

Trading financial assets 22  2,155,040  2,026,581 

Trading inventories 23  26,661  16,221 

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments 24  2,991,746  4,948,893 

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 25  1,521,992  1,913,507 

Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 27  1,122,302  — 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 28  22,703  15,148 

Current tax assets 14  574  964 

Deferred tax assets 14  2,732  2,690 

Long-lived assets 29  109,173  52,527 

Other assets 30  19,188  36,574 

Total assets  9,023,364  10,653,370 

Total subordinated claims  11,612  4,809 

of which subject to mandatory conversion and/or debt waiver  —  — 

Liabilities

Amounts due to banks 19  232,210  924,049 

Liabilities from securities financing transactions 21  259,319  428,901 

Amounts due to customers 20  622,190  1,404,709 

Trading financial liabilities 22  433,907  360,432 

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments 24  2,527,075  3,688,353 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 25  4,092,490  3,123,856 

Bond issued and central mortgage institution loan 26  100,000  100,000 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 28  166,113  133,830 

Current tax liabilities 14  1,100  1,100 

Other liabilities 30  68,639  18,130 

Expected credit loss provision 33  269  2,950 

Provisions 34  15,464  11,360 

Total liabilities  8,518,776  10,197,670 

Equity

Share capital 35  15,000  15,000 

Share premium  269,306  269,306 

Retained earnings1  231,891  175,144 

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) 15  (11,609)  (3,750)

Total shareholders’ equity  504,588  455,700 

Total liabilities and equity  9,023,364  10,653,370 

Total subordinated liabilities  127,706  127,644 

of which subject to mandatory conversion and/or debt waiver  100,000  100,000 

1	 Retained Earnings comprise cumulated earnings, including net profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the period ended 31 December 2018, respectively.

The notes on pages 28 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Leonteq Securities AG
Statement of changes in equity for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

CHF thousand Note Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

OCI Own shares Total  
shareholders’  

equity
Defined benefit  

plans
Change in 

own credit
Unrealised income 

related to debt 
instruments at 

fair value 
through OCI

Changes in  
expected credit  

loss on debt 
instruments at fair 
value through OCI

Currency  
translation  

adjustments

Balance as of 31 December 2017  15,000  170,306  110,648  (2,521)  —  —  —  —  —  293,433 

Impact of change in accounting principle 6  —  —  (20,690)  —  —  —  —  —  —  (20,690) 

Balance as of 1 January 2018  15,000  170,306  89,958  (2,521)  —  —  —  —  —  272,743 

Employee participation schemes 12  —  —  (344)  —  —  —  —  —  —  (344)

Capital increase/(decrease) 35  —  99,000  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  99,000 

Dividends and other distributions 35  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other allocations to/(transfers from) other comprehensive income 15  —  —  —  (1,229)  —  —  —  —  —  (1,229) 

Net profit  —  —  85,530  —  —  —  —  —  —  85,530 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  15,000  269,306  175,144  (3,750)  —  —  —  —  —  455,700 

CHF thousand Note Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

OCI Own shares Total  
shareholders’  

equity
Defined benefit  

plans
Change in 

own credit
Unrealised income 

related to debt 
instruments at 

fair value 
through OCI

Changes in  
expected credit  

loss on debt 
instruments at fair 
value through OCI

Currency  
translation  

adjustments

Balance as of 31 December 2018  15,000  269,306  175,144  (3,750)  —  —  —  —  —  455,700 

Impact of change in accounting principle 6  —  —  561  —  —  —  —  —  —  561 

Balance as of 1 January 2019  15,000  269,306  175,705  (3,750)  —  —  —  —  —  456,261 

Employee participation schemes 12  —  —  156  —  —  —  —  —  —  156 

Capital increase/(decrease) 35  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Dividends and other distributions 35  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other allocations to/(transfers from) other comprehensive income 15  —  —  —  (3,884)  —  5,216  847  (10,038)  —  (7,859) 

Net profit  —  —  56,030  —  —  —  —  —  —  56,030 

Balance as of 31 December 2019  15,000  269,306  231,891  (7,634)  —  5,216  847  (10,038)  —  504,588 

The notes on pages 28 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CHF thousand Note Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

OCI Own shares Total  
shareholders’  

equity
Defined benefit  

plans
Change in 

own credit
Unrealised income 

related to debt 
instruments at 

fair value 
through OCI

Changes in  
expected credit  

loss on debt 
instruments at fair 
value through OCI

Currency  
translation  

adjustments

Balance as of 31 December 2017  15,000  170,306  110,648  (2,521)  —  —  —  —  —  293,433 

Impact of change in accounting principle 6  —  —  (20,690)  —  —  —  —  —  —  (20,690) 

Balance as of 1 January 2018  15,000  170,306  89,958  (2,521)  —  —  —  —  —  272,743 

Employee participation schemes 12  —  —  (344)  —  —  —  —  —  —  (344)

Capital increase/(decrease) 35  —  99,000  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  99,000 

Dividends and other distributions 35  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other allocations to/(transfers from) other comprehensive income 15  —  —  —  (1,229)  —  —  —  —  —  (1,229) 

Net profit  —  —  85,530  —  —  —  —  —  —  85,530 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  15,000  269,306  175,144  (3,750)  —  —  —  —  —  455,700 

CHF thousand Note Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

OCI Own shares Total  
shareholders’  

equity
Defined benefit  

plans
Change in 

own credit
Unrealised income 

related to debt 
instruments at 

fair value 
through OCI

Changes in  
expected credit  

loss on debt 
instruments at fair 
value through OCI

Currency  
translation  

adjustments

Balance as of 31 December 2018  15,000  269,306  175,144  (3,750)  —  —  —  —  —  455,700 

Impact of change in accounting principle 6  —  —  561  —  —  —  —  —  —  561 

Balance as of 1 January 2019  15,000  269,306  175,705  (3,750)  —  —  —  —  —  456,261 

Employee participation schemes 12  —  —  156  —  —  —  —  —  —  156 

Capital increase/(decrease) 35  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Dividends and other distributions 35  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other allocations to/(transfers from) other comprehensive income 15  —  —  —  (3,884)  —  5,216  847  (10,038)  —  (7,859) 

Net profit  —  —  56,030  —  —  —  —  —  —  56,030 

Balance as of 31 December 2019  15,000  269,306  231,891  (7,634)  —  5,216  847  (10,038)  —  504,588 

The notes on pages 28 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Leonteq Securities AG
Statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

CHF thousand Note 2019 2018

Cash flow from operating activities

Net profit  56,030  85,530 

Reconciliation to net cash flows from operating activities

Non-cash positions in net profit

Depreciation 29  26,411  15,736 

Deferred tax expense/(benefit) 14  (184)  (572)

Change in expected credit loss provision 33  (1,834)  1,640 

Change in general provision 34  3,073  3,705 

Share-based benefit programs 12  156  (344)

Other non-cash income and expenses  (9,756)  (1,229) 

Net (increase)/decrease in assets related to operating activities

Amounts due from banks 19  772,932  (508,642) 

Amounts due from securities financing transactions 21  35,193  (70,543) 

Amounts due from customers 20  (178,664)  (100,136) 

Trading financial assets 22  (186,070)  248,681 

Trading inventories 23  (10,440)  72,741 

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments 24  1,957,147  (3,319,176) 

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 25  391,515  (771,905)

Net (investment)/disposal of financial investments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income

27  (1,122,302)  — 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 28  (7,555)  2,043 

Other assets 30  17,386  8,558 

Net increase/(decrease) in liabilities related to operating activities

Amounts due to banks 19  (528,543)  322,838 

Liabilities from securities financing transactions 21  (169,582)  51,504 

Amounts due to customers 20  (782,519)  1,224,203 

Trading financial liabilities 22  73,475  259,186 

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments 24  (1,161,278)  2,125,337 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 25  968,634  83,325 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 28  37,025  8,745 

Other liabilities 30  3,582  916 

Utilisation of general provision 34  (1,751)  (542)

Dividends received  57,611  69,148 

Interest received  9,548  5,761 

Interest paid  (23,085)  (26,818) 

Current taxes, non-cash adjustment 14  (868)  1,000 

Current taxes paid 14  —  — 

Cash flow from operating activities  225,287  (209,310) 

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchases of long-lived assets 29  (28,128)  (18,045) 

Proceeds from long-lived assets 29  230  161 

Cash flow from investing activities  (27,898)  (17,884) 
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CHF thousand Note 2019 2018

Cash flow from financing activities

Lease payments (excl. short term/low-value leases) 29  (7,128)  — 

Gross proceeds from capital increase 35  —  100,000 

Costs incurred from capital increase 35  —  (1,000)

Cash flow from financing activities  (7,128)  99,000 

Exchange rate differences  (53)  (67)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  190,208  (128,261) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  98,004  226,265 

Cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date  288,212  98,004 

Cash and cash equivalents

Liquid assets  130,891 —

Due from banks on demand2  162,890  266,869 

Due to banks on demand  (5,569)  (168,865) 

Net cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date  288,212  98,004 

2	 The “Due from banks on demand” balance is included in balance sheet line item “Amounts due from banks”.

Cash and cash equivalents include liquid assets and receivables due from banks on demand (including clearing balances at recognised 
clearing centres and clearing banks). Bank overdrafts, if applicable, are shown within amounts due to banks. Cash as defined for the  
purpose of the statement of cash flow comprises cash and cash equivalents. For significant non-cash transactions refer to Note 6 which 
explains the impact of the first-time adoption of IFRS 16.

The notes on pages 28 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1	 General information
Leonteq Securities AG (Leonteq or ‘the Company’) is the main operating subsidiary of Leonteq 
AG (together with its subsidiaries referred to hereinafter as ‘the Group’). The Company is an  
independent expert for structured investment products and long-term savings and retirement 
solutions.

The Company’s business divisions – Investment Solutions and Insurance & Wealth Planning  
Solutions – leverage the Company’s IT infrastructure and engineering capabilities to offer a wide 
range of solutions and services to its client base. These solutions and services include the devel-
opment, structuring, distribution, hedging and settlement, lifecycle management and market 
making of structured products, as well as the design and management of structured certificates 
and unit-linked life insurance policies. 

The Company provides some of these core services to platform partners under the terms of 
cooperation agreements. The Company also distributes its products directly to institutional inves-
tors and indirectly to retail investors through third-party financial intermediaries.

Disclosures provided in the “Risk and Control” section of this report (pages 3 to19) that are 
marked as audited form an integral part of the Financial Statements. These disclosures relate to 
requirements under IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IAS 1, Presentation of Finan-
cial Statements, and are not in this section.

The Company was incorporated in November 2007 and is a public limited company incorporated 
in Zurich, Switzerland. Its registered office is at Europaallee 39, 8004 Zurich, Switzerland. 

These financial statements were approved for publication by the Board of Directors on 11 Febru-
ary 2020.

2	 Basis of presentation
The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
They are prepared according to the historical cost approach, with the exception that financial  
assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments and trading inventories) are revalued at fair 
value through profit or loss.

3	 Principal accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below and in the appropriate Notes. These policies have been consistently applied unless 
otherwise stated.

Foreign currency translation 
The presentation currency of the Company is Swiss franc (CHF). The company uses the following 
main FX rates:

 Spot rate 
 31.12.2019 

 Spot rate  
31.12.2018 

 Average rate 
2019 

 Average rate  
2018 

EUR / CHF 1.0854  1.1253 1.1125  1.1552 

USD / CHF 0.9676  0.9816 0.9937  0.9787 

GBP / CHF 1.2819  1.2519 1.2696  1.3058 

JPY / CHF 0.0089  0.0090 0.0091  0.0089 

HKD / CHF 0.1242  0.1253 0.1268  0.1249 

SGD / CHF 0.7192  0.7201 0.7273  0.7270 

28

LEONTEQ SECURITIES AG
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



The Company and its branches prepared their financial statements in their respective functional 
currencies. Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency are recognised by the 
Company at the spot rate on the date of transaction. Exchange differences arising between the 
date of a transaction and its subsequent settlement are recognised in the income statement. At 
the balance sheet date, all monetary assets and liabilities, as well as non-monetary assets and 
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss denominated in a foreign currency, are 
translated into the functional currency using the closing exchange rate. 

Unrealised exchange differences arising from the use of different functional currencies were 
recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets and liabili-
ties not measured at fair value through profit or loss were translated into the functional currency 
at the historical exchange rate.

Initial recognition and derecognition
The Company uses trade date accounting to recognise financial transactions. The Company  
recognised a financial asset or financial liability at the transaction date (i.e. trade date) at fair 
value of the consideration given or received. Costs that are directly attributable to the transaction 
were recognised in the statement of financial position. At the date on which the Company enters 
into a sales contract for financial assets and the conditions for derecognition are met, the rele-
vant financial instrument is derecognised from the statement of financial position. Recognition 
or derecognition is mainly associated to the transfer of the contractual rights to receive cash as 
well as the respective risks and rewards (market risk).

Financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets are allocated to the following categories based on type, solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI) and business model test: Fair value through profit or loss, amortised 
cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. Financial liabilities are allocated based 
on type and designation to the fair value option into the following categories based on type and 
designation: Fair value through profit or loss and amortised cost. 

Financial assets or liabilities held for trading purposes are measured at fair value in “trading finan-
cial assets” or “trading financial liabilities”. Gains and losses on the sale and redemption of such 
instruments, interest and dividend income, as well as changes in fair value, are recognised in 
“result from trading activities and the fair value option”. 

Financial assets or liabilities can be designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception, if 
the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
(i.e. accounting mismatch). Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value are 
recognised in the line items “other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss” 
or “other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss” in the statement of 
financial position. The accounting treatment in the income statement is analogous to the treat-
ment of trading financial assets or liabilities. The Company’s issued products meet these criteria.
Issued products contain hybrid financial instruments, certificates (including actively managed 
certificates) and mini-futures. Hybrid financial instruments are composed of debt components 
and embedded derivatives. Certificates may comprise an underlying instrument (or a basket of 
underlyings) combined with derivatives. Alternatively, the pay-off of a certificate could be 
achieved through the combination of a debt host and one or more embedded derivatives (similar 
to a hybrid financial instrument). The Company has designated all its issued products as other 
financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Under IFRS 9, changes in fair value related to own credit risk for other financial liabilities desig-
nated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in other comprehensive income. The 
changes in own credit risk recognised in other comprehensive income are subsequently trans-
ferred within equity to retained earnings reserves over the same period as the sales fee income 
is deemed earned. Any fair value impact not related to changes in own credit risk is recognised 
in the income statement. 

In addition to issued products, the Company applies the fair value option to selected receivables 
from customers and to interest rate instruments. The application of the fair value option to these 
instruments reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise from recognising these 
assets using a different measurement basis (e.g. amortised cost) than for liabilities, issued prod-
ucts as well as issued derivative instruments that are measured at fair value or designated at fair 
value through profit or loss.
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4	� Critical accounting estimates and judgments  
in applying accounting policies

The application of certain accounting principles requires considerable judgment based upon  
estimates and assumptions that involve significant uncertainty at the time they are made. 
Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period 
when assumptions are changed. Accounting treatments, where significant assumptions and  
estimates are used, are discussed in this section as a guide to understand how their application 
affects the reported results.

The application of assumptions and estimates means that any selection of different assumptions 
would cause the reported results and/or disclosures to differ. The Company believes that the  
assumptions it has made are appropriate, and that the Company’s financial statements are there-
fore a fair representation of the financial position and results in all material respects.

The most relevant areas in which the Company exercises judgment include the application of  
the Company’s assumptions with respect to: revenue recognition as well as the deferral period 
applied to fee income (Note 8); fair value of financial instruments and trading inventory –  
especially levels 2 and 3, including own credit (Note 16); depreciation period and testing for  
impairments of long-lived assets (Note 29); provisions and expected credit loss provisions (Note 
34 and 33); share-based payments (Note 12); and retirement benefit obligations (Note 32).

Sensitivities are presented solely to assist the reader in understanding the Company’s financial 
statements and are not intended to suggest that other assumptions would be more appropriate.

5	 Changes to critical accounting estimates 
No changes in critical accounting estimates were applied compared to 31 December 2018.

6	 Changes in accounting policies and presentation
New or revised standards and interpretations adopted
The following new or revised standards and interpretations became effective for the first time on 
1 January 2019:

•	 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation – Amendments to IFRS 9

•	 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures – Amendments to IAS 28

•	 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement – Amendments to IAS 19

•	 IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

•	 IFRS 16, Leases

Except for IFRS 16 these standards and interpretations did not have a significant impact on the 
Company or were not relevant to the Company when applied for the first time.

First time adoption of IFRS 16 “Leases”
The Company adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” on its mandatory effective date as of 1 January 2019. 
The Company chose to apply the modified retrospective adoption method, which allows it to  
account for the difference between the previously applicable and new accounting framework 
through equity and to leave the comparative period unchanged. Consequently, the financial infor-
mation for 2019 is prepared and presented in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 16, 
while the comparative information is prepared and presented in accordance with IAS 17. In  
applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Company has used the following practical expedients:

•	 The accounting for leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as of 1 January 
2019 as short-term leases;

•	 the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date 
of initial application; and

•	 the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to 
extend or terminate the lease.
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The following table outlines the impact of the first-time adoption of IFRS 16 on the opening  
balances of assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity as of 1 January 2019:

CHF thousand Balance as of 
31.12.2018

Adjustment 
due to the 
first-time 

adoption of 
IFRS 16

Balance as of 
01.01.2019

Assets

Deferred tax assets  2,690  (141)  2,549 

Long-lived assets  52,527  54,122  106,649 

Liabilities

Accrued expenses and deferred income  133,830  (3,483)  130,347 

Other liabilities  18,130  54,055  72,185 

Provisions  11,360  2,849  14,209 

Shareholders’ equity

Retained earnings  175,144  560  175,704 

In accordance with IAS 17, the total commitments arising from operational leases amounted to 
CHF 55,827 thousand as of 31 December 2018. As of 1 January 2019, the lease obligation deter-
mined in accordance with IFRS 16 amounted to CHF 54,055 thousand. The difference is attribut-
able to the following items:

CHF thousand Balance

Commitments arising from operating leases as of 31 December 2018  55,827 

Addition of extension options  1,092 

Short-term and low-value leases —

Effect of discounting  (2,864)

Lease liability as of 1 January 2019  54,055 

A weighted average discount (borrowing) rate of 1.14%was applied as of 1 January 2019.

For further information on the accounting for leases refer to Note 29.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Various other new and revised standards and interpretations must be applied with effect from  
1 January 2020 or a later date:

•	 Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a Business – effective 1 January 2020

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8, Definition of Material – effective 1 January 2020

•	 IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts – effective 1 January 2021

The Company has performed an initial assessment of the new standards and interpretations and  
based on this assessment, the Company expects that none of them will have a significant impact 
on the Company’s financial statements.
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7	 Segment reporting
Leonteq’s Executive Committee, which is the chief operating decision maker, manages and  
assesses the performance of the Company and its businesses based on the following operating 
segments:

•	 Investment Solutions 

•	 Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions 

•	 Corporate Centre 

Leonteq is an independent expert for structured investment products and long-term savings and 
retirement solutions. The Company focuses on industrialising the production process for struc-
tured investment products and unit-linked life insurance policies and on providing its clients and 
partners with high standards of service delivered by an international team of experienced indus-
try professionals. Leonteq has a strong presence in its home market of Switzerland and Europe 
as well as an established footprint in Asia.

Investment Solutions
The Investment Solutions business line manufactures and distributes structured investment 
products, which it offers to and distributes on behalf of financial intermediaries (our clients) in 
more than 50 countries. The business line further enables and enhances the structured product 
capabilities of its issuance partners. Structured investment products are manufactured and man-
aged for Leonteq’s own name or for an issuance partner, which acts as the issuer or guarantor of 
the respective products. The services cover the entire lifecycle of a structured investment prod-
uct, and clients are serviced by an experienced sales force with the possibility to choose from a 
variety of issuers available on the platform. The structured investment product offerings are 
grouped into three main categories: capital protection, yield enhancement and participation with 
a variety of different payoffs, all managed on Leonteq’s platform. Distribution of structured  
investment products is done by Leonteq or by its issuance partners and distribution capabilities 
are complemented by a dedicated in-house ideation, structuring, and trading team and include a 
digital and automated pricing engine.

Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions
The Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions business line offers a digital platform to life insurers, 
enabling unit-linked retail products with financial protection. This provides a viable alternative to 
traditional guarantee product approaches. Partners and their end customers benefit from attrac-
tive and transparent long-term savings and draw-down solutions with both, upside potential and 
downside protection. Partners have the advantage of high capital efficiency based on third party-
guarantees and upfront hedging as well as high cost efficiency by employing scalable straight-
through digital processes covering the full policy lifecycle on individual policy level.

Beyond the platform business, Leonteq provides structured solutions, both, to life insurers for 
their single premium business and to insurance brokers. In addition, the business line leads the 
product offering with interest rates as underlying for structured products.

Corporate Centre
Costs related to corporate functions such as Finance, Human Resources, Information Technology, 
Investor Relations & Communications, Legal & Compliance, Marketing, Operational Services and 
Risk Control are largely allocated to the business lines based on cost allocation keys. The unallo-
cated corporate functions are presented within the Corporate Centre.
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CHF thousand Investment 
Solutions

Insurance 
& Wealth 
Planning 

Solutions

 Corporate 
Centre

Total 
2019

Net fee income  180,040  35,168  —  215,208 

Net trading income/(loss)  (15,674)  12,525  —  (3,149) 

Net interest income/(expense)  (15,459) 575 (110)  (14,994) 

Other ordinary income 327  —  2,461  2,788 

Total operating income  149,234  48,268  2,351  199,853 

Personnel expenses  (60,751)  (9,623)  (9,612)  (79,986) 

Other operating expenses  (25,079)  (2,098)  (6,111)  (33,288) 

Depreciation of long-lived assets  (18,821)  (3,496)  (4,094)  (26,411) 

Changes to provisions and other value 
adjustments, and losses

 —  —  (3,068)  (3,068) 

Total operating expenses  (104,651)  (15,217)  (22,885)  (142,753) 

Result from operating activities  44,583  33,051  (20,534)  57,100 

CHF thousand Investment 
Solutions

Insurance 
& Wealth 
Planning 

Solutions

 Corporate 
Centre

Total 
2018

Net fee income  198,959  25,773  —  224,732 

Net trading income/(loss)  18,169  3,296  —  21,465 

Net interest income/(expense)  (22,217)  628  —  (21,589) 

Other ordinary income  817  —  2,546  3,363 

Total operating income  195,728  29,697  2,546  227,971 

Personnel expenses  (64,184)  (8,326)  (6,768)  (79,278) 

Other operating expenses  (32,305)  (2,621)  (8,037)  (42,963) 

Depreciation of long-lived assets  (12,259)  (1,345)  (2,132)  (15,736) 

Changes to provisions and other value 
adjustments, and losses

 (1,756)  —  (1,950)  (3,706) 

Total operating expenses  (110,504)  (12,292)  (18,887)  (141,683) 

Result from operating activities  85,224  17,405  (16,341)  86,288 

The Company applies a distribution view to allocate its revenues to the different business lines. 
The allocation of the expenses is based on different activities performed by the segments to 
provide their services. Leonteq does not have reportable major customer concentrations in the 
distribution of structured investment products; however, Leonteq does have concentrations with 
issuance partners providing their balance sheets (supply side).
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Information by geographic location

CHF thousand Switzerland Europe (excl. 
Switzerland)

Asia Total 
2019

Net fee income  111,663  95,942  7,603  215,208 

Net trading income/(loss)  6,851  (6,476)  (3,524)  (3,149) 

Net interest income/(expense)  (4,550)  (10,391) (53)  (14,994) 

Other ordinary income  2,754  44 (10)  2,788 

Total operating income  116,718  79,119  4,016  199,853 

CHF thousand Switzerland Europe (excl. 
Switzerland)

Asia Total 
31.12.2019

Accrued income and prepaid expenses  6,336  16,367  —  22,703 

Current tax assets  574  —  —  574 

Deferred tax assets  2,720  12  —  2,732 

Long-lived assets  108,246  927  —  109,173 

Other assets  18,604  584  —  19,188 

CHF thousand Switzerland Europe (excl. 
Switzerland)

Asia Total 
2018

Net fee income  115,274  98,289  11,169  224,732 

Net trading income/(loss)  10,167  8,327  2,971  21,465 

Net interest income/(expense)  (8,087)  (11,223)  (2,279)  (21,589) 

Other ordinary income  3,234  133 (4)  3,363 

Total operating income  120,588  95,526  11,857  227,971 

CHF thousand Switzerland Europe (excl. 
Switzerland)

Asia Total 
31.12.2018

Accrued income and prepaid expenses  2,246  12,902  —  15,148 

Current tax assets  964  —  —  964 

Deferred tax assets  2,690  —  —  2,690 

Long-lived assets  52,395  132  —  52,527 

Other assets  36,115  459  —  36,574 

The Company is a subsidiary wholly owned by Leonteq AG which as a group has offices in various 
international locations. The Company distributes its own and issuance partners’ structured invest-
ment products either through its own sales force located in Zurich and Geneva, the distribution 
network of its related group companies outside Switzerland or through the distribution channels 
of its issuance partners. The geographical allocation of the Company’s revenues is undertaken 
based on the location of the distributor, servicing primarily banks, insurance companies and asset 
manager/financial intermediaries. Switzerland consists of the offices in Zurich and Geneva as well 
as its issuance partners distribution channels. Europe subsumes the Company’s or issuance part-
ners’ operations in Amsterdam and Guernsey as well as the Group’s offices in Frankfurt, London, 
Monaco and Paris. Asia represents the Group’s offices Hong Kong, Singapore and Tokyo.
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8	 Net fee income
Fees earned are allocated to Leonteq’s main service offerings (service obligations). In the  
Investment Solutions division, these include: product design and launch; issuance, settlement 
and order management; risk management; lifecycle management; product documentation and 
reporting; risk, regulatory and financial reporting and other services. Similarly, the main services 
offered in the Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions division include the issuance, design and 
management of structured certificates or variable annuity products, as well as the respective 
hedge strategy and platform management. These services are provided either when a product is 
issued or over the lifetime of a product. Consequently, part of the fee is deemed earned when a 
product is issued, while the remaining portion is deemed earned over the effective lifetime of 
products issued. The effective lifetime of Leonteq’s products is defined on a product-by-product 
basis in the Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions division, where the respective fee is collected 
when a product is issued and again when certain conditions are met during the lifetime of a 
product. A portfolio approach is applied to determine the average effective lifetime of products 
issued in the Investment Solutions divisions. Generally, fees generated in the Investment Solu-
tions division are collected when the product is issued or repurchased. The allocation of the total 
fee to the individual service obligation, as well as the determination of when these service  
obligations are satisfied, involves the exercising of judgement. The average effective lifetime of 
products issued in the Investment Solutions divisions is determined based on the historical ef-
fective lifetime of expired products and the expected effective lifetime of existing products at the 
balance sheet date. The calculation only excludes products or product categories that show a 
unique revenue recognition profile that differs significantly from the majority of issued products. 
As of 31 December 2019, the average effective lifetime is estimated to be 12 months (31 Decem-
ber 2018: 12 months). The fee received is allocated to the individual service obligations based on 
the estimated share of the total effort required (input method) over the lifetime of a product as it 
best reflects the compensation for services provided. Material and customised contracts in the 
Investment Solutions division are accounted for to best reflect the actual patterns of the agree-
ment which can be substantially different from the portfolio approach described above.

In the Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions division, the satisfaction of previously unsatisfied 
service obligations can be determined on a product-by-product basis. The fee is generally col-
lected once the service obligation is expected to be satisfied. In cases where the fee is collected 
before the satisfaction of the respective service obligation, the fee is deferred until services are 
rendered.

Management is of the opinion that the methods and judgement applied provide a best estimate 
of the real circumstances at the balance sheet date. Revenue recognised from contracts with 
customers is presented in “fee income from securities trading and investment activities” or 
“other ordinary income”. Revenues from contracts with customers presented in “other ordinary 
income” include other services rendered to platform partners (i.e. onboarding and technical inte-
gration). These are usually non-recurring fees collected based on customised contracts and 
therefore revenue recognition is defined individually for each material contract based on comple-
tion of service obligations. The amount of deferred fee income is included in “accrued expenses 
and deferred income”. Fees are generally not discounted when recognised. The Company pres-
ents fee income net of any costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of partner products 
and Leonteq products. Consequently, incremental costs of obtaining a contract are not recog-
nised as an asset. Since Leonteq does not sell its products to the end investor but acts through 
distribution partners, Leonteq discloses its fee income net of directly attributable costs which 
were agreed upfront.
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CHF thousand 2019 2018

Fee income from Leonteq sales distribution  195,268  207,545 

Fee income from platform partner distribution  67,748  62,656 

Other fee income  7,776  5,881 

Total fee income from securities trading and investment activities  270,792  276,082 

Fee income from other services  1,063  1,385 

Total fee income from other services  1,063  1,385 

Fee expense  (56,647)  (52,735) 

Total fee expense  (56,647)  (52,735) 

Net fee income  215,208  224,732 

Net fee income decreased by 4% compared to 2018. Contributions from Leonteq sales distribu-
tion were 6% lower than in 2018 and fee income from platform partner distribution increased by 
8% compared to 2018 in line with Leonteq’s strategy to leverage on partner distribution net-
works. Other fee income comprised primarily commission for securities lending transactions and 
increased by CHF 1.9 million year on year. Fee income from other services relates to intercom-
pany cost recharges and slightly decreased compared to previous year. Large ticket transactions 
(defined as transactions where Leonteq earns a fee of CHF 0.5 million or more) amounted to 
CHF 17.5 million and accounted for 8% of net fee income in 2019, down from 10% (or CHF 22.0 
million) in 2018.

Fee expense comprised intercompany fee recharges, mainly for distribution services, rendered 
by related group companies in line with transfer pricing agreements. Fee expense rose by 7% 
compared to 2018 demonstrating Leonteq’s international expansion. 

For a breakdown of revenue, refer to Note 7 where revenue from contracts was allocated to the 
operating segments as well as geographic locations.

Since Leonteq collected the majority of its fees when the product was issued, the Company 
defers the recognition of fees until it satisfied respective service obligations. The following table 
shows a reconciliation of the balance of deferred fees:

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Balance of deferred fees as of 31 December 2017 —  45,553 

Adjustment due to the first-time adoption of IFRS 15  N/A  20,690 

Balance of deferred fees as of 1 January  75,745  66,243 

Recognition of deferred fees in the income statement  (94,741)  (92,610) 

Deferral of fees collected  125,895  102,112 

Balance of deferred fees as of 31 December  106,899  75,745 

of which recognised within the next 12 months  42,911  39,988 

of which recognised after 12 months  63,988  35,757 

Deferred fees are included in “accrued expenses and deferred income” in the statement of  
financial position. The balance of deferred fees will be recognised as fee income in the income 
statement when the respective service obligations are satisfied. 

In the Investment Solutions divisions, service obligations that are not satisfied upon issuance of 
the product are deemed to be satisfied over the average effective lifetime of issued products 
which is estimated to be 12 months as of 31 December 2019. Consequently, an amount of  
CHF 35.1 million is expected to be recognised as fee income over a period of 12 months. Due to 
the long-term nature of the pension business, service obligations in the Insurance & Wealth  
Planning Solutions division are satisfied over a period of up to 48 years. CHF 23.3 million are 
expected to be recognised as fee income over the next 5 years, CHF 35.9 million between 6 and 
20 years and CHF 12.6 million after 20 years.
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9	 Result from trading activities and the fair value option

Net result from trading activities and the fair value option allocated to risk categories per 
underlying.

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Debt securities (incl. funds)  31,135  (4,935) 

of which effective interest income from debt instruments at FVOCI  10,472  — 

Equity securities (incl. funds)  (2,963)  32,911 

Forex  16,283  6,381 

Precious metals/commodities/crypto-currencies  (23,052)  8,711 

Trading related costs  (24,606)  (21,603) 

Result from trading activities and the fair value option  (3,149)  21,465 

of which result due to financial assets designated at fair value  46,831  23,923 

of which result due to financial liabilities designated at fair value  (272,536)  (287,799) 

The result from trading activities due to financial liabilities designated at fair value represents the 
gross results from products issued. The offsetting result from hedging activities is reflected in 
various components of the trading result (excluding trading related costs).

The net result from trading inventories (cryptocurrencies) is reflected in the line item “precious 
metals / commodities / cryptocurrencies”.

The decrease in the result from trading activities and the fair value option is primarily due to the 
decrease in volatility levels in 2019 compared to 2018.

10	 Net result from interest operations

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Interest and discount income  9,644  5,893 

Total interest and discount income  9,644  5,893 

Interest expense  (26,472)  (25,842) 

Total interest expense  (26,472)  (25,842) 

Gross result from interest operations  (16,828)  (19,949) 

Changes in value adjustments for default risks and losses from interest 
operations

 1,834  (1,640) 

Net result from interest operations  (14,994)  (21,589) 

The increase in interest income is due to higher collateral balances in connection with increased 
US dollar interest rates.

For further information on Changes in value adjustments for default risks and losses from inter-
est operations refer to Note 33.
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11	 Other ordinary income

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Rental income   2,298   2,396 

Other fee income from platform partners  162  850 

Other  328  117 

Total other ordinary income   2,788   3,363 

Other ordinary income mainly consists of rental income generated through the sub-leasing of 
office space and non-recurring income earned in connection with other services rendered to 
platform partners (i.e. set-up, onboarding, migration).

12	 Personnel expenses
Variable compensation plans for employees
The Company implemented variable compensation plans for its employees. A portion of variable 
compensation equal to or greater than CHF 50 thousand is deferred. Depending on the function 
of each employee and the individual variable compensation amount, the proportion of variable 
compensation deferred ranges from 20% to 80%. 

Non-deferred variable compensation is paid in cash and recognised as personnel expenses in the 
income statement during the performance period.

Deferred variable compensation is paid in cash over a three-year period, in three equal  
instalments for deferred variable compensation of CHF 60 thousand or less. Deferred variable 
compensation is generally paid two third in cash over a three-year period, in three equal instal-
ments, and one third in restricted stock units (RSUs) over a vesting period of three years (stage 
vesting), for deferred variable compensation of more than CHF 60 thousand. 

Deferred variable compensation expenses incurred in cash are recognised as personnel expens-
es in the income statement with a third of the expense in each year using a straight-line attribu-
tion model. Deferred variable compensation expenses incurred in RSUs are recognised as  
personnel expenses in the income statement over the respective vesting period corresponding 
to the grant value of RSUs.

The awards are subject to the condition that the recipient remains in an employment relationship 
with the Company at the payment or vesting date, respectively.

Short- and long-term incentive plans for members of the Executive Committee  
(new compensation model)
In 2019, the Company implemented a new short- and long-term incentive plan for the members 
of the Executive Committee.

Variable compensation for the short-term incentive plan (STIP) is cash-settled and deferred with 
a rate of 50%. The non-deferred variable compensation of the STIP plan is recognised in the  
income statement in the year for which the variable compensation is committed (performance 
period). The deferred variable compensation element is paid in cash over a three-year period in 
three equal instalments (stage vesting). Variable compensation expenses incurred from deferred 
cash incentive plans are recognised as personnel expenses in the income statement with a third 
of the expense in each year straight-line.

Variable compensation for the long-term incentive plan (LTIP) is granted in performance share 
units (PSUs). The number of PSUs is calculated as a multiple of the annual base salary for each 
member of the Executive Committee applying as grant price the volume-weighted average share 
price from the last quarter prior to the start of the three-year performance period. PSUs allocated 
will vest after a period of three years (cliff vesting) and convert into Leonteq AG shares. The 
number of shares to vest will depend on the level of achievement of the performance criteria and 
will become freely tradeable after an additional blocking period of one year. Two thirds of the 
performance target is measured against Leonteq AG’s return on shareholder’s equity (ROE)  
target whereas one third is measured against Leonteq AG’s total shareholder return (TSR)  
compared with the performance of a basket of equity indices.

38

LEONTEQ SECURITIES AG
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



Compensation expense arising from the LTIP performance condition ROE is recognised over the 
service period based on the estimated number of shares expected to vest. The number of shares 
and the related expense recognition are adjusted over the three-year performance period to  
reflect the anticipated actual outcome. Compensation expense arising from the LTIP perfor-
mance condition TSR is determined based on its fair value at grant date and recognised over the 
vesting period, even if vesting awards may change or forfeit. Share-based compensation arising 
from the performance condition TSR is therefore not re-measured unless the conditions’ terms 
would be modified such that the fair value after modification exceeds the fair value prior to 
modification.

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Salaries and bonuses  73,399  69,847 

of which share-based compensation  4,542  3,083 

Social contributions  5,290  4,615 

Pension plan expenses  134  4,430 

Other personnel expenses  1,163  386 

Total personnel expenses  79,986  79,278 

Personnel expenses for 2019 of CHF 79,986 thousand increased by 1% in 2019 compared to CHF 
79,278 thousand in 2018. Pension plan expenses decreased by CHF 4.3 million in 2019 mainly 
impacted by the change of conversion rates and the replacement of parts of the current Swiss 
defined benefit plan through a newly introduced 1e plan. For further information refer to Note 32.

Personnel expenses include deferred benefits granted in prior years under the employee variable 
compensation plans. Future commitments arising from deferred compensation awards amount-
ed to CHF 21.3 million for the year ending 31 December 2019 (2018: CHF 22.6 million).

The Company employed 384 and 363 employees as of 31 December 2019 and 2018, respec-
tively. It had 374 and 357 full-time equivalents as of 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Personnel expenses include the impact of the three types of equity-settled, employee share-
based compensation plans operated by the Company.
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Restricted stock unit (RSU) plans
The Company operates RSU plans for certain Leonteq employees. Part of the deferred compen-
sation of participating employees is paid in the form of RSUs that are converted into Leonteq AG 
shares, whereby one RSU is the equivalent to the entitlement of one Leonteq AG share. RSU 
plans align the deferred variable compensation of such employees with the long-term perfor-
mance of Leonteq Group. The number of RSUs granted is determined by the amount of deferred 
variable compensation awarded to the employee, as well as the fair value of Leonteq AG shares 
at the grant date. Allocations made under this plan are based on deferred compensation for  
services rendered in the financial year ending 31 December prior to the grant date. Eligible  
employees will earn the RSUs over the pre-defined vesting period (stage vesting), provided the 
employee fulfils the vesting conditions in March of each of the following years. Up until the finan-
cial year 2018, the members of the Executive Committee participated in separate RSU plans in 
which parts of the remuneration of the long-term incentive plan were only earned at the end of 
a three-year vesting period (cliff vesting), if vesting conditions are fulfilled.

Number of RSUs Employees Executive 
Committee

Total  
2019

Unvested committed RSUs at the beginning of the year  114,219  54,453  168,672 

Allotted RSUs and transfers (additions) in the year under review  80,092  53,812  133,904 

Forfeited RSUs and transfers (reductions) in the year under review  (15,764)  —  (15,764) 

Settlement of RSUs by Leonteq AG shares  (45,128)  (23,224)  (68,352) 

Unvested committed RSUs at the balance sheet date  133,419  85,041  218,460 

CHF

Average grant price of unvested committed RSUs (programme 2016 to 2022) 44.09

CHF thousand Employees Executive 
Committee

Total  
2019

Personnel expenses recognised over the vesting period for RSUs  15,723  5,349  21,072 

Market value of RSUs on the allocation date  15,723  5,349  21,072 

Charged as personnel expenses in the year under review  2,402  1,543  3,945 

Cumulative charges recognised as personnel expenses up to the balance sheet date  12,020  3,826  15,846 

Estimated personnel expenses for the remaining vesting periods without future terminations  2,081  1,523  3,604 

Number of RSUs Employees Executive 
Committee

Total  
2018

Unvested committed RSUs at the beginning of the year  124,354  56,995  181,349 

Allotted RSUs and transfers (additions) in the year under review  22,719  15,517  38,236 

Forfeited RSUs and transfers (reductions) in the year under review  (528)  —  (528)

Settlement of RSUs by Leonteq AG shares  (32,326)  (18,059)  (50,385) 

Unvested committed RSUs at the balance sheet date  114,219  54,453  168,672 

CHF

Average grant price of unvested committed RSUs (programme 2016 to 2022) 55.49

CHF thousand Employees Executive 
Committee

Total  
2018

Personnel expenses recognised over the vesting period for RSUs  12,315  3,059  15,374 

Market value of RSUs on the allocation date  12,315  3,059  15,374 

Charged as personnel expenses in the year under review  2,013  1,023  3,036 

Cumulative charges recognised as personnel expenses up to the balance sheet date  9,618  2,283  11,901 

Estimated personnel expenses for the remaining vesting periods without future terminations  1,738  776  2,514 
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Share-based compensation plan
The Company operated a share-based compensation plan for certain Leonteq employees. Part of 
the deferred variable compensation of participating employees is paid in the form of Leonteq AG 
shares. The share-based compensation plan aligns the deferred variable compensation of such 
employees with the long-term performance of Leonteq Group. The number of shares granted is 
determined by the amount of deferred compensation awarded to the employee, as well as the 
fair value of Leonteq AG shares at the grant date. Allocations made under this plan are based on 
deferred variable compensation for services rendered in the financial year ending 31 December 
prior to the grant date. Eligible employees will earn one-third of the shares over the next three 
years (stage vesting), depending on the plan, provided the employee fulfils the vesting condi-
tions in March of each of the following years.

Number of shares Employees Executive 
Committee

Total 
2019 

Unvested committed Leonteq AG shares at the beginning of the year  —  —  — 

Allotted rights and transfers (additions) in the year under review  —  —  — 

Forfeited rights and transfers (reductions) in the year under review  —  —  — 

Settlement by Leonteq AG shares  —  —  — 

Unvested committed Leonteq AG shares at the balance sheet date  —  —  — 

CHF

Average grant price of unvested committed shares (programme 2015 to 2019)  N/A 

CHF thousand Employees Executive 
Committee

Total 
2019 

Personnel expenses recognised over the vesting period for shares  —  —  — 

Market value of shares on the allocation date  —  —  — 

Charged as personnel expense in the year under review  —  —  — 

Cumulative charges recognised as personnel expenses up to the balance sheet date  —  —  — 

Estimated personnel expenses for the remaining vesting periods without future terminations  —  —  — 

Number of shares Employees Executive 
Committee

Total  
2018

Unvested committed Leonteq AG shares at the beginning of the year  4,730  1,064  5,794 

Allotted rights and transfers (additions) in the year under review  —  —  — 

Forfeited rights and transfers (reductions) in the year under review  —  —  — 

Settlement by Leonteq AG shares  (4,730)  (1,064)  (5,794)

Unvested committed Leonteq AG shares at the balance sheet date  —  —  — 

CHF

Average grant price of unvested committed shares (programme 2015 to 2019)  101.27 

CHF thousand Employees Executive 
Committee

Total  
2018

Personnel expenses recognised over the vesting period for shares  3,259  428  3,687 

Market value of shares on the allocation date  3,259  428  3,687 

Charged as personnel expense in the year under review  37  11  48 

Cumulative charges recognised as personnel expenses up to the balance sheet date  3,259  428  3,687 

Estimated personnel expenses for the remaining vesting periods without future terminations  —  —  — 
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Deferred performance share units granted to the Executive Committee
From the financial year of 2019, the members of the Executive Committee participate in a  
long-term incentive plan (LTIP) which comprises forward-looking incentives for a three-year  
performance period. The LTIP is allocated in the form of performance share units (PSUs) and 
settled in Leonteq AG shares. 

As of 31 December 2019, estimated LTIP financial impacts amounted to CHF 1,743 thousand for 
the three-year period. An amount of CHF 581 thousand was recognised for the financial year 
2019. The fair value of each share award granted reflects the volume-weighted average share 
price from the last quarter prior to the start of the three-year performance period.

2019 2018

Maximum number of share units granted for compensation year  90,119 —

Fair value of each share unit at grant date (in CHF)  45.82 —

Anticipated expense recognition arising from share units granted  
over vesting period (in CHF thousand)

 1,743 —

Estimated fair value of share units granted over vesting period 
(in CHF thousand)

 1,559 —

The anticipated expense recognition arising from share awards granted for the KPI return on 
shareholders’ equity reflects the estimated number of shares to vest over the three-year perfor-
mance period applying the grant price. For the KPI target linked to the total shareholder return 
(TSR), the expense recognition is determined based on the fair value at grant date. The fair value 
for the performance criteria TSR has been determined using a Monte Carlo pricing model and 
was estimated to be 19.23%, equalling CHF 265 thousand at the measurement date. Leonteq 
chose to value the market condition internally given our valuation capabilities. To provide an inde-
pendent check, Internal Audit subsequently reviewed whether the respective valuation model 
applied adequately reflects the market conditions’ fair value.

13	 Other operating expenses

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Rent and accommodation  1,183  7,140 

Information and communication technology  19,602  20,144 

Vehicles, equipment, furniture and other accommodation expenses 35 (99)

Audit fees 568  1,105 

of which for financial and regulatory audit 204 903 

of which for other services 364 202 

Other administrative expenses  11,900  14,673 

of which for professional services other than audit fees  5,919  4,441 

Total other operating expenses  33,288  42,963 

With the first-time adoption of IFRS 16, the rent and accommodation expenses decreased by 
83.4% compared to previous year. For further information refer to Note 29.
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14	 Taxes
Income taxes 
Current income taxes are calculated based on the applicable tax laws in the relevant jurisdictions 
and recognised as an expense in the period in which the related profits are generated. Assets or 
liabilities related to current income taxes are reported in the statement of financial position as 
applicable. Income taxes are stated net of the participation relief which the Company may avail 
on dividend income from qualifying equity holdings.

Tax effects arising from temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and  
liabilities in the Company’s statement of financial position and their corresponding tax values are 
recognised as deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets arising from 
temporary differences and from loss carry-forwards eligible for offset are capitalised if it is likely 
that sufficient taxable profits will be available against which those temporary differences or loss 
carry-forwards can be offset. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are calculated at the 
tax rates expected to apply in the period in which the tax assets will be realised or the tax liabili-
ties settled.

Tax assets and liabilities of the same type (current or deferred) are offset when they refer to the 
same taxable entity, they relate to the same tax authority, the legal right to offset exists, and they 
are intended to be settled net or realised simultaneously.

Current and deferred taxes are credited or charged to other comprehensive income or sharehold-
ers’ equity if the taxes refer to items that are credited or charged to other comprehensive income 
or to shareholders’ equity in the same or a different period. Otherwise, taxes are recognised in 
the income statement.

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Income tax expense

Current income tax expense  388   1,000 

Deferred income tax (benefit)/expense  682  (242) 

Total income tax expense   1,070 758 

Profit before tax   57,100   86,288 

Income tax expense computed at the Swiss statutory tax rate   12,076   18,249 

Explanations for higher/(lower) tax expense:

Participation income tax relief  (5,721)  (2,893) 

Tax rate differential  (11,380)  (9,539) 

Impact due to IFRS 16 lease accounting  (71) —

Transfer pricing adjustments  776  683 

Addition/(Utilisation) of unrecognised tax losses carried forward  5,461  (2,786) 

Impact of first-time adoption of IFRS15 recognised through equity —  (2,760) 

Costs relating to capital increase recognised through equity —  (211) 

Other impacts  (71)  15 

Total income tax expense   1,070 758 

Capital tax expense  324  528 

Corporate tax expense   1,394   1,286 

The statutory tax rate of the Company was 21.15% and 21.15% for the years ended 31 Decem-
ber 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company’s foreign operations are taxed at varying rates. The 
tax rate differential presented relates primarily to the income of the Company’s Guernsey Branch, 
which is taxed at the Guernsey company standard rate of 0%.
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The Company applied for participation income tax relief in line with the applicable Swiss tax 
legislation. The resulting impact was CHF 5,721 thousand for the tax period 2019 and CHF 2,893 
thousand for the tax period 2018. The size of the benefit of the participation income tax relief is 
directly linked to the taxable profits of the Leonteq Securities AG, among other factors. Leonteq’s 
position remains unchanged regarding the assessments issued by the Zurich tax authority for the 
years 2013, 2014 and 2015 (additional potential tax liability of CHF 12 million) where the tax  
authority is applying a different method of calculating the participation relief (Beteiligungsabzug) 
of Leonteq Securities AG, Zurich. Leonteq filed an objection against the assessment and a deci-
sion is still outstanding to date. If contrary to management’s expectations, the courts were to 
decide in favour of the tax authority, such outcome would have a significant negative impact on 
the overall profitability of the Company. 

 The adjustments in transfer pricing mainly relate to interest rate adjustments (including corre-
sponding adjustments) to the Contingent Convertible Loan issued by Leonteq Securities AG and 
currently fully owned by the holding company Leonteq AG.

In 2019, CHF 5.4 million (2018: CHF -2.5 million) of the impact of tax losses not recognised is 
incurred by entities abroad.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities reported as of the date of the statement of financial 
position, and the resulting current tax expenses for the periods presented, are partly based on 
estimates and assumptions and may differ from the amounts determined by tax authorities in 
the future.

On 1 September 2019, the Swiss public accepted the proposed tax reform in the Canton of  
Zurich including a change in the income tax rate at the cantonal level. The combined statutory tax 
rate (for federal and cantonal purposes) will decrease from 21.15% to 19.70% as of 2021 and a 
potential further decrease could lead to 18.19% as of 2023. The effects of change in tax rates 
have been adjusted in the closing balances of deferred taxes accordingly.

At the end of 2018, Leonteq Securities AG’s ruling covering its branch activities with the Zurich 
Cantonal Tax Office expired. The Company continues to apply an OECD recognised transfer  
pricing standard to account for the income from its branches. 

Deferred taxes 

CHF thousand Assets 
31.12.2019

Assets 
31.12.2018

Liabilities 
31.12.2019

Liabilities 
31.12.2018

Composition of deferred taxes

Pension liability  2,790  2,690  —  — 

Share-based payment expenses  —  —  —  — 

Timing differences in depreciation of long-lived assets (58) — — —

Other  —  —  —  — 

Total deferred taxes  2,732  2,690  —  — 

CHF thousand Assets 
2019

Assets 
2018

Liabilities 
2019

Liabilities 
2018

Changes in deferred taxes

Balance at the beginning of the year  2,690  2,118  —  — 

Changes affecting the income statement (684) 241  —  — 

of which revaluation of share-based payment plans — — — —

of which movement in pension liability (766) 241 — —

of which other temporary differences 82 — — —

Changes recognised through equity related to first time adoption of new accounting 
standards

(141) — — —

Translation adjustment 1 1 — —

Changes affecting the statement of other comprehensive income from pension liability 866 330 — —

Balance at the end of the year  2,732  2,690  —  — 
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15	 Other comprehensive income

CHF thousand Currency 
translation 

adjustments

Defined  
benefit cost

Debt instru-
ments 

measured at 
FVOCI

ECL changes 
on debt 

instruments 
measured at 

FVOCI

Income taxes Accumulated 
other com-
prehensive 

income/(loss)

Balance as of 31 December 2017 (93)  (3,199)  —  —  678  (2,614) 

Increase/(decrease)  93  (1,559)  —  —  330  (1,136) 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  —  (4,758)  —  —  1,008  (3,750) 

Increase/(decrease)  (10,038)  (4,750)  5,214  847  868  (7,859) 

Balance as of 31 December 2019  (10,038)  (9,508)  5,214  847  1,876  (11,609) 

Currency translation adjustments
In 2019 the Company established a second branch of Leonteq Securities AG in Guernsey  
(“Leonteq Securities AG, Guernsey Finance Branch”). The functional currency of the branch is  
US dollar and therefore the capital allocated is exposed to USD/CHF currency fluctuations. In 
addition to the capital allocated, the branch is financed with an intra-company long-term loan  
facility in US dollar. Given the nature of this loan facility, it qualifies for a treatment in accordance 
with IAS 21.15A and consequently recognising the foreign currency impact in equity. Due to the 
appreciation of the Swiss franc versus the US dollar, a negative impact of CHF 10 million was 
recorded as of 31 December 2019. 

Defined benefit cost
The discount rate applied by the Company was reduced to 0.1% compared to 1% as of year-end 
2019. The declining long-term interest rates resulted in an increase of the pension liability and 
consequently a negative impact on the Company’s equity.

Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income / ECL 
changes on debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
The adoption of the fair value through other comprehensive income classification as well as the 
expected credit loss related to the bonds measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are outlined in Note 27 and 33.

Income taxes
Income taxes include the tax impact of income/losses recognised in other comprehensive  
income at locally applicable rates.
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16	 Fair values of financial instruments and trading inventories
Measurement methodologies
Derivative financial instruments, traded financial assets and liabilities, other financial assets  
designated at fair value, other financial liabilities designated at fair value and trading inventories 
are recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position. Changes in the fair values of 
these instruments are recognised in the income statement as the “result from trading activities 
and the fair value option”. Financial investments measured at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income are recognised in the statement of financial positions and changes in fair values on 
financial investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income attributable to 
movements in the issuer credit risk or the benchmark interest rate are initially recognised in the 
statement of other comprehensive income (OCI). Either due to the application of hedge account-
ing or upon disposal of the respective investment, amounts initially recognised in OCI are real-
located to the income statement as “result from trading activities and the fair value option”.

The transaction price represents the best indication of the fair value of financial instruments  
unless the fair value of the instrument can be better determined by comparison with other observ-
able current market transactions involving the same instrument (level 1 instrument) or is based on 
a valuation method using observable market data (level 2 instrument). For level 1 or 2 instruments, 
any difference between fair value and the transaction price is recognised as day-1 profit in the line 
item ‘result from trading activities and the fair value option’. For level 3 instruments, day-1 profit is 
deferred over the duration of the product.

Fair value is determined using quoted prices in active markets when these are available. In other 
cases, fair value is determined using a valuation model. Valuation models use market observable 
inputs and rates derived from market-verifiable data, such as interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates, when available. Valuation models are primarily used for the valuation and hedging of issued 
structured products and derivatives.

The output of a model is typically an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be deter-
mined with certainty, and the valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors  
relevant to the positions held. Significant risks arise when models are used to value financial 
securities and calculate hedging ratios. The consequence of an inadequate model could be an 
incorrect valuation leading to an incorrect risk assessment and an incorrect hedging position, 
both of which could lead to a financial impact.

All models are validated before they are used as a basis for financial reporting, and they are  
periodically reviewed thereafter by qualified personnel independent of model developers and 
users. Whenever possible, valuations derived from models are compared with prices of similar 
financial instruments and with actual values when realised in order to further validate and  
calibrate the models.

Valuation models are generally applied consistently across products and from one period to the 
next, ensuring comparability and continuity of valuations over time. However, models are 
changed or adapted to market developments where necessary, and the Company considers  
additional factors to ensure that the valuations are appropriate. The factors considered include 
uncertainties in relation to models used, parameters used, liquidity risks and, in the case of 
structured products, the risk of early redemption. The adjustments reflect the inherent uncer-
tainty in model assumptions and input parameters in relation to the valuation method used.  
Adjustments relating to liquidity risk take into account the expected cost of hedging open net 
risk positions. The Company believes that it is necessary and appropriate to take these factors 
into account to determine the fair value of these instruments.

There were no significant changes in the valuation models used for the period ending 31 Decem-
ber 2019.
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All financial instruments and trading inventories carried at fair value are categorised into one of 
three fair value hierarchy levels at year-end, depending on how fair value has been determined:

•	 Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

•	 Level 2 – valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are observable in the market, 
either directly or indirectly

•	 Level 3 – valuation techniques that include significant inputs not based on observable market 
data

Transfers between levels resulting from changes due to the availability of market prices or  
market liquidity are made when the change of market liquidity occurs.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments contained in the financial position of the Company based 
on the valuation methods and assumptions explained below is the same as the book value. There 
is no deviation between fair value and book value.

Financial assets and liabilities at amortised costs
The financial assets and liabilities at amortised costs contain the positions ”cash in hand”, 
”amounts due from banks”, “amounts due from securities financing transactions”, “amounts 
due from customers”, “accrued income”, “amounts due to banks”, ”liabilities from securities 
financing transactions”, “amounts due to customers” and ”accrued expenses”. All these posi-
tions have short-term maturities (i.e. less than three months) and it is assumed that the book 
value is equal to the fair value to take these factors into account to determine the fair value of 
these instruments correctly.

Trading financial assets and liabilities, trading inventories, positive and negative replace-
ment values of derivate financial instruments, financial investments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, other financial assets and liabilities designated at 
fair value through profit or loss

Own credit
Leonteq determines its own credit spread regularly based on a model using observable market 
inputs such as market capitalisation, debt and product type-specific adjustments. Management 
compared the determined credit spread with observable and paid credit spreads for public  
distributed products of Leonteq to ensure that all available market information is reflected in the 
determined credit spread. No own credit spread adjustment was required in 2019 and 2018  
respectively.

Valuation adjustments
The fair values of level 2 and level 3 instruments are based on valuation methods and therefore 
a level of uncertainty is inherent in those values. The valuation methods do not always reflect all 
relevant factors when determining fair values. The Company considers additional factors in the 
case of issued structured products as well as derivative instruments to ensure that the valuations 
are appropriate. The factors include uncertainties in relation to models used, to parameters used, 
to liquidity risks and, in the case of structured products, to the risk of early redemption. The  
adjustments reflect the uncertainty in model assumptions and input parameters in relation to the 
valuation method used. The adjustments relating to the liquidity risk take into account the  
expected cost of hedging open net risk positions. The Company believes that it is necessary and 
appropriate to take these factors into account to determine the fair value of these instruments 
correctly.

The valuation’s appropriateness of financial instruments based on valuation method is ensured 
through the application of clearly defined processes, methods and independent controls. The 
controls comprise the analysis and approval of new instruments, the approval and regular  
assessment of used valuation models, the daily analysis of profit and loss, and the regular  
independent price verification including the review of used input parameters. The controls are 
performed by risk control specialists who possess the relevant knowledge and operate indepen-
dently from trading and treasury functions.
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Level 1 instruments
The fair value of level 1 instruments is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets. 
Equity securities, interest rate or debt securities issued by governments, public sector entities 
and companies, quoted investment funds, precious metals, trading inventories, commodities 
and positive or negative replacement values of exchange traded derivatives are allocated to this 
category. The quoted market price used for the Company’s equity securities, debt securities, 
quoted funds and exchange traded derivative instruments is the exit price. Generally accepted 
market prices are used for foreign currencies, precious metals, trading inventories and com-
modities. Mid-market prices are used for the valuation of debt securities, which are categorised 
as financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss if the market price risks of these 
positions are offset fully or to a significant extent by issued structured products or other trading 
positions.

Level 2 instruments
The fair value of level 2 instruments is based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or on 
a valuation method using significant input parameters that are directly or indirectly observable. 
Level 2 instruments comprise positive or negative replacement values of derivative instruments, 
issued structured products, debt securities with reduced market liquidity and investment funds 
that are not quoted. The Company uses valuation methods to determine the fair value of positive 
and negative replacement value of derivative instruments and issued structured products if there 
is no active market pursuant to the definition of IFRS 13 or if market liquidity varies significantly 
over time. For the valuation of derivative instruments, including option components of structured 
products, and the interest rate components of structured products, generally recognised option 
pricing models and generally recognised valuation methods – e.g. discounted cash flow models 
– are used. If quoted prices for instruments are available but low trading volumes indicate that 
there is no active market or quoted prices are not available, then the fair values of equity securi-
ties, debt securities, other securities and trading inventories are based on pricing information from 
counterparties, brokers or other pricing services. In the case of investment funds, published net 
asset values are used. The input parameters for the valuation models are contract-specific and 
include the market price of the underlying asset, foreign exchange rates, yield curves, default risk, 
dividend estimates and volatility. Derivative instruments are traded on a collateralised basis. The 
Company’s own credit risk, as well as third-party credit risk in the case of assets, is not included 
in the valuation of collateralised derivative instruments.

Level 3 instruments
The fair value of level 3 instruments is based on a valuation method that uses at least one  
significant input parameter that cannot be observed directly or indirectly in the market. The  
Company’s level 3 instruments comprise positive or negative replacement values for longer-term 
derivative financial instruments. The Company uses generally recognised pricing models to de-
termine the fair value of derivative financial instruments. The input parameters for the valuation 
models are contract-specific and include the market prices of the underlying asset, yield curves, 
volatilities and possibly other parameters. Derivative financial instruments are traded predomi-
nantly on a collateralised basis and the Company’s own credit risk, as well as third-party credit 
risk in the case of assets, is not included in the valuation of collateralised derivative instruments. 
Whenever possible, the Company uses market observable input parameters to determine the 
fair value of financial instruments. However, due to the longer-term nature of some instruments, 
significant input parameters are not always considered observable for those long-dated products 
and they are therefore classified as level 3. The Company estimates these unobservable input  
parameters using market information as well as historical data. The estimated input parameters 
are reviewed during monthly independent price verification processes and are further reviewed 
by an independent risk control function.

No day 1 gains or losses were recognised as a result of transactions involving level 3 instruments 
during the year. An unrealised loss of CHF 6,334 thousand for fair value movements was recog-
nised in “result from trading activities and the fair value option” for the year 2019. The closing 
balance of level 3 financial liabilities as of 31 December 2019 totalled CHF 21,105 thousand  
(31 December 2018: CHF 18,383 thousand).
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Valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value measurement of level 3 liabilities
The following table shows significant level 3 liabilities together with the valuation techniques 
used to measure their fair value, significant inputs used in the valuation technique that are  
considered unobservable, and a range of values for unobservable inputs. The range of values 
represents the highest and lowest level input used in the valuation techniques. Consequently, 
the range does not reflect the level of uncertainty regarding a particular input but rather the dif-
ferent underlying characteristics of the relevant liabilities. The ranges will therefore vary from 
period to period and parameter to parameter based on the characteristics of the instruments held 
at each balance sheet date. Further, the ranges of unobservable inputs may differ across other 
financial institutions due to the diversity of the products in each firm’s inventory.

Significant unobservable inputs in level 3 positions
This section discusses the significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation of level 3 instru-
ments and assesses the potential effect that a change in each unobservable input in isolation 
may have on fair value measurement, including information to facilitate an understanding of  
factors that give rise to the input ranges shown. 

CHF thousand Range of unobservable inputs

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

 
 

31.12.2019

 
 

31.12.2018

 
Valuation 
technique

Significant 
unobservable 

input

 
 

low

 
 

high

 
 

low

 
 

high

 
 

Unit

Negative replacement values of 
derivative financial instruments

 21,105  18,383 Generic 
Replication 

Model3

Volatility of 
interest rates

51 61  62  72 basis 
points

3	 A generic replication model is used to price interest rate derivatives.

Volatility of interest rates
Volatility measures the variability of interest rates and is generally expressed as an absolute 
number in basis points (bps). The minimum level of volatility is 0 bps and there is no theoretical 
maximum. Volatility is a key input in option models, where it is used to derive a probability-based 
distribution of forward rates. The effect of volatility on individual positions within the portfolio is 
determined primarily based on whether the option contract is a long or short position. In most 
cases, the fair value of an option increases as a result of a rise in volatility and is reduced follow-
ing a decrease in volatility. Generally, volatility used in the measurement of fair value is derived 
from active market option prices (referred to as implied volatility). A key feature of  
implied volatility is the volatility “smile” or “skew”, which represents the effect of pricing options 
of different option strikes at different implied volatility levels.

Sensitivity of level 3 fair values
The Company’s management believes, based on the valuation approach used for the calculation 
of fair values and the related controls, that the level 3 fair values are appropriate.

The following table shows the impact of reasonably possible alternative assumptions to the un-
observable input parameters used. These results show no significant impact on the Company’s 
net profit, comprehensive income or shareholders’ equity.

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Impact of shifts of unobservable input parameters on fair values

Increase of volatility of interest rates (+5 bps)  31  (167)

Decrease of volatility of interest rates (-5 bps)  (31)  167 

Day 1 result
According to IFRS 13, the transaction price represents the best indication of the fair value of  
financial instrument unless the fair value of the instrument can be better determined by compar-
ing it with other observable current market transaction involving the same instrument (level 1 
instrument) or is based on a valuation method using observable market data (level 2 instrument).

For level 3 instruments, day 1 profit is deferred and is recognised as deferred income. Day 1 
profit is only recognised as “result from trading activities and the fair value option” when the fair 
value of the respective instrument is determined using observable market data. During the  
current and previous reporting period, the Company had no positions with deferred day 1 profit.
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CHF thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31.12.2019

Financial assets

Trading financial assets

Debt securities (listed)  84,035  16,254  —  100,289 

Equity securities  1,509,500  90,404  —  1,599,904 

Funds  232,598  196,834  —  429,432 

Other securities  —  25,415  —  25,415 

of which hybrid financial instruments  —  25,415  —  25,415 

Total trading financial assets  1,826,133  328,907  —  2,155,040 

Positive replacement values of derivative instruments  1,949,731  1,042,015  —  2,991,746 

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss  1,220,704  301,288  —  1,521,992 

Financial investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  1,110,881  11,421  —  1,122,302 

Total financial assets  6,107,449  1,683,631  —  7,791,080 

Trading inventories  26,661  —  —  26,661 

Total trading inventories  26,661  —  —  26,661 

Financial liabilities

Trading financial liabilities

Debt securities (listed)  1,300  —  —  1,300 

Equity securities  417,253  3  —  417,256 

Funds  15,350  —  —  15,350 

Other securities  —  1  —  1 

of which hybrid financial instruments  —  1  —  1 

Total trading financial liabilities  433,903  4  —  433,907 

Negative replacement values of derivative instruments  1,372,807  1,133,163  21,105  2,527,075 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

Interest rate instruments  —  429,662  —  429,662 

Equities  —  3,529,714  —  3,529,714 

Foreign currency  —  8,793  —  8,793 

Commodities (incl. precious metals)  —  124,321  —  124,321 

Total other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss  —  4,092,490  —  4,092,490 

Total financial liabilities  1,806,710  5,225,657  21,105  7,053,472 

In 2019, there were no significant reclassifications of positions between level 1 and level 2 and 
vice versa.
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CHF thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31.12.2018

Financial assets

Trading financial assets

Debt securities (listed)  38,196  27,693  —  65,889 

Equity securities  1,568,508  17,529  —  1,586,037 

Funds  181,526  168,163  —  349,689 

Other securities  —  24,966  —  24,966 

of which hybrid financial instruments  —  24,966  —  24,966 

Total trading financial assets  1,788,230  238,351  —  2,026,581 

Positive replacement values of derivative instruments  2,942,009  2,006,884  —  4,948,893 

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss  1,723,056  190,451  —  1,913,507 

Financial investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  —  —  —  — 

Total financial assets  6,453,295  2,435,686  —  8,888,981 

Trading inventories  16,221  —  —  16,221 

Total trading inventories  16,221  —  —  16,221 

Financial liabilities

Trading financial liabilities

Debt securities (listed)  1,242  —  —  1,242 

Equity securities  343,544  73  —  343,617 

Funds  15,573  —  —  15,573 

Other securities  —  —  —  — 

of which hybrid financial instruments  —  —  —  — 

Total trading financial liabilities  360,359  73  —  360,432 

Negative replacement values of derivative instruments  2,112,672  1,557,298  18,383  3,688,353 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

Interest rate instruments  —  501,498  —  501,498 

Equities  —  2,538,007  —  2,538,007 

Foreign currency  —  9,398  —  9,398 

Commodities (incl. precious metals)  —  74,953  —  74,953 

Total other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss  —  3,123,856  —  3,123,856 

Total financial liabilities  2,473,031  4,681,227  18,383  7,172,641 

In 2018, there were no significant reclassifications of positions between level 1 and level 2 and 
vice versa.
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Level 3 financial instruments

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Statement of financial position

Balance at the beginning of the year  18,383  14,975 

Additions  3,750  7,410 

Disposals  (6,177)  (1,317)

Result recognised in the income statement  8,583  (298)

Result recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income — —

Reclassifications to level 3 — —

Reclassifications from level 3  (3,434)  (2,387)

Translation differences — —

Total balance at the end of the year  21,105  18,383 

Income in the period on holdings at balance sheet date

Unrealised income/(loss) recognised in the trading income  (6,334)  1,019 

Unrealised income/(loss) recognised in other income — —

Unrealised income/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income — —

Financial instruments are reclassified into/out of level 2 and 3 is made based on changes in the 
observability of the significant input parameter “volatility of interest rates” for the valuation of 
financial instruments.

Based on the change in the observability of significant input parameters, CHF 3,434 thousand of 
level 3 financial instruments were reclassified to level 2 (CHF 2,387 thousand in 2018). No level 
2 financial instruments were reclassified to level 3 in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The result recognised in the income statement relates to trading (gains)/losses in connection 
with the substantial drop in long-term interest rates in 2019.
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17	 Hedge accounting
In accordance with the risk management framework, the Company hedges its exposure to the 
benchmark (market) interest rate risk related to its investment activities. Benchmark interest lev-
els may have a positive impact (declining interest rates) or a negative impact (increasing interest 
rates) on the bonds’ market price. Payer interest rate swaps or other derivative financial instru-
ments are used to offset the interest rate risk arising from the investment portfolio. For bonds 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, the changes in fair value of the hedging instruments 
as well as the hedged item are recognised in the income statement. By introducing the “fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)” business model, the changes in fair value of the 
respective bonds is first recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income and only 
recycled to the income statement if the bond is disposed of. To avoid this accounting mismatch, 
fair value hedge accounting was introduced simultaneously with the FVOCI business model. To 
apply hedge accounting, various criteria set out in IFRS 9 must be met:

•	 The hedging relationship must consist only of eligible hedging instruments and eligible 
hedged items.

•	 At inception of the hedging relationship, there is a formal designation and documentation of 
the hedging relationship, risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

•	 Hedges must be expected to be effective, so that there is an economic relationship between 
the hedged item and the hedging instrument, the effect of credit risk does not dominate the 
value changes that result from the economic relationship, and the hedge ratio is adequately 
weighted.

If the criteria for fair value hedge accounting are met, the Company reports the change in fair 
value on the financial investments measured at FVOCI attributable to the benchmark interest rate 
risk (hedged item) as “result from trading activities and the fair value option” in the income state-
ment instead of in the statement of other comprehensive income. The ineffectiveness of the fair 
value hedge is also recognised in the income statement in the line item “result from trading  
activities and the fair value option”. Elements other than the benchmark interest rate risk are not 
part of the hedge. The portfolios are managed dynamically, and the hedging relationship is  
designated on a daily basis. Hedge effectiveness is tested prospectively by applying different 
scenarios on a daily basis. Similarly, retrospective hedge effectiveness is measured on a daily 
basis by comparing the change in fair value of hedging instruments and the change in fair value 
of bonds that is attributable to the benchmark interest rate risk. Ineffectiveness is mainly  
expected to arise due to the different maturities of the bonds that fall within the scope of the 
hedging relationship and the hedging instruments, as well as differences in overall sensitivities 
to movements in benchmark interest rate curves. Credit risk is limited by entering into deriva-
tives transactions (related to hedging instruments) only with central clearing counterparties or on 
a collateralised basis. In the event of an early termination of the hedge, the cumulative adjust-
ment of the carrying amount of the bonds that fall within the scope of the respective hedging 
relationship is recognised as “result from trading activities and the fair value option” in the  
income statement over their remaining term.

For further information on risk management activities, refer to the separate Risk section.
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The following table provides an overview of the effect of fair value hedge accounting on financial 
investments measured at FVOCI:

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Hedging instruments

Positive replacement values of hedging instruments  4,014 —

Notional amount of derivative financial instruments used  
as hedging instruments

 525,615 —

Negative replacement value of hedging instruments  9,696 —

Notional amount of derivative financial instruments used as hedging 
instruments

 797,639 —

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Hedged item

Carrying amount of financial investments measured at FVOCI  1,122,302 —

of which accumulated amount of fair value hedge gain/(loss) included in 
the carrying amount

620 —

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Hedge effectiveness

Change in the fair value of the hedging instruments used as the basis  
for recognising hedge ineffectiveness

 14 —

Change in the fair value of the hedged item used as the basis for  
recognising hedge ineffectiveness

 620 —

Amount of hedge ineffectiveness recognised  
in the income statement

 634 —

The accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments remaining in the balance sheet for  
any hedged items that have ceased to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses is zero as of  
31 December 2019. The carrying amount of the hedging instruments is presented as the positive 
and/or negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments. All assets presented as 
“financial investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” are consid-
ered hedged items.

18	 Liquid assets
Liquid assets include deposits held at sight with the Swiss National Bank and are recognised at 
their nominal value.

19	 Amounts due from/to banks
Amounts due from banks include receivables from banks on demand, term deposits and settle-
ment receivables. Amounts due from banks are recognised initially at fair value and subsequent-
ly at amortised cost.

Amounts due to banks include bank overdrafts and settlement payables to banks and parties 
regulated by a banking supervising authority. Amounts due to banks are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently at amortised cost.
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CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Amounts due from banks

Due from banks on demand (cash and cash equivalents)  165,258  266,869 

Due from banks on demand (precious metals)  8,269  2,807 

Cash collateral paid to banks or regulated financial institutions  275,280  849,289 

Settlement receivables with banks or regulated financial institutions  19,672  220,993 

Settlement receivables with platform partners –  
banks or regulated financial institutions

 9,552  1,447 

Total amounts due from banks  478,031  1,341,405 

Amounts due to banks

Cash overdrafts (cash and cash equivalents)  5,569  168,865 

Cash collateral received from banks or regulated financial institutions  191,110  497,576 

Settlement liabilities with banks or regulated financial institutions  34,181  254,968 

Settlement liabilities with platform partners –  
banks or regulated financial institutions

 1,350  2,640 

Total amounts due to banks  232,210  924,049 

Amounts with related parties are reflected in Note 37.

Amounts due from banks decreased due to lower volatility levels at the end of 2019 resulting in 
lower negative replacement values.

20	 Amounts due from/to customers
Amounts due from customers include receivables (including settlement receivables and other 
receivables, as well as cash collateral paid) from counterparties other than banks. Amounts due 
from customers are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, less 
provision for impairment.

Amounts due to customers include payables (including settlement payables and other payables, 
as well as cash collateral received) to counterparties other than banks. Amounts due to custom-
ers are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost.

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Amounts due from customers

Cash balances with financial market infrastructure entities  59,727  115,733 

Cash collateral paid to non-banks  9,821 529 

Settlement receivables with financial market infrastructure entities  232,093  14,275 

Settlement receivables with platform partners – non-banks  83,532  74,434 

Other amounts due from platform partners – non-banks  7,463  6,975 

Other amounts due from customers 812  2,838 

Total amounts due from customers  393,448  214,784 

Amounts due to customers

Cash balances with financial market infrastructure entities  55  22,438 

Cash collateral received from non-banks  210,643  1,177,878 

Settlement payables against financial market infrastructure entities  336,365  164,043 

Settlement and other payables to platform partners – non-banks  43,820  10,310 

Subordinated loans  25,500  25,500 

Fees payable to other Leonteq companies  5,386  4,107 

Other fees payable  421  433 

Total amounts due to customers  622,190  1,404,709 

Amounts with related parties are reflected in Note 37. Amounts due to customers decreased due 
to lower collateral requirements on the back of lower volatility levels at the end of 2019 resulting in 
lower positive replacement values. 
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21	 Securities financing transactions (assets and liabilities)
The Company generally enters into securities lending and securities borrowing transactions on a 
collateralised basis. In such transactions, the Company typically lends or borrows securities in 
exchange for securities or cash collateral. Additionally, the Company’s lending and borrowing 
activities are done in exchange for a fee. The majority of securities lending and borrowing agree-
ments involve shares, funds and bonds. The transactions are conducted under standard agree-
ments employed by financial market participants and are undertaken with counterparties subject 
to the Company’s normal credit risk control processes. The Company monitors the market value 
of the securities received or delivered on a daily basis and requests or provides additional  
collateral or returns, or recalls surplus collateral in accordance with the underlying agree-
ments. Securities that have been transferred, whether in a lending/borrowing transaction or as 
collateral, are not recognised or derecognised in the statement of financial position unless the 
risks and rewards of ownership are also transferred. In such transactions where the Company 
transfers owned securities and where the borrower is granted the right to sell or repledge them, 
the securities are presented as “trading financial assets” or “other financial assets designated at 
fair value through profit or loss” of which pledged as collateral. Cash collateral received is recog-
nised with a corresponding obligation to return it. Cash collateral received is disclosed in the line 
item “liabilities from securities financing transactions” Cash collateral delivered is derecognised 
with a corresponding receivable, reflecting the right to receive it back. The cash collateral deliv-
ered is disclosed in the line item “amounts due from securities refinancing transactions”.  
Additionally, the sale of securities received in a lending or borrowing transaction triggers the 
recognition of a trading financial liability (short sale).

Consideration exchanged in such transactions (i.e. interest received or paid) is accrued in the 
period in which it incurred.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell, reverse repurchase agreements, and securities 
sold under agreements to repurchase, as well as repurchase agreements, are all treated as  
collateralised financing transactions. Nearly all repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements 
involve debt securities (i.e. bonds, notes, money market papers) and equity securities. The trans-
actions are normally conducted under standard agreements employed by financial market partici-
pants and are undertaken with counterparties subject to the Company’s normal credit risk control 
processes. The Company monitors the market value of the securities received or delivered on a 
daily basis and requests or provides additional collateral or returns, or recalls surplus collateral in 
accordance with the underlying agreements.

The transfer of securities in the case of repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements is not 
recognised or derecognised in the statement of financial position unless the risks and rewards 
of ownership are also transferred. In reverse repurchase agreements, cash collateral provided is 
derecognised with a corresponding receivable being recognised, reflecting the right to receive it 
back. The cash collateral provided is disclosed in the line item “amounts due from securities  
financing transactions”. In repurchase agreements, the cash collateral received is recognised 
with a corresponding obligation to return it. The cash collateral received is disclosed in the line 
item “liabilities from securities financing transactions”.

In repurchase agreements where the Company transfers owned securities and where the  
recipient is granted the right to resell or repledge them, the securities are presented in the state-
ment of financial position in the line items “trading financial assets” or “other financial assets 
designated at fair value through profit or loss”, of which pledged as collateral. Securities received 
in a reverse repurchase agreement are disclosed as off-balance sheet items if the Company has 
the right to resell or repledge them, with securities that the Company has resold or repledged 
being disclosed if applicable. Additionally, the sale of securities received in reverse repurchase 
transactions triggers the recognition of a trading financial liability (short sale).

Interest income from reverse repurchase agreements and interest expense from repurchase 
agreements are accrued in the period in which they are incurred.
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CHF thousand Book value 
of assets as 
reported on 

balance sheet

Cash 
collateral 
received

Securities 
lent or used 

for collaterali-
sation4

Total  
Net amount

 Amounts due from securities financing transactions   48,883  —  —   48,883 

 Trading portfolio  2,155,040   259,319  (1,306,959)  1,107,400 

 Other financial instruments at fair value  1,521,992  —  (992,860)   529,132 

 Total as of 31 December 2019  3,725,915   259,319  (2,299,819)  1,685,415 

 With unrestricted right to resell or repledge  —  —  (28,269)  (28,269) 

 CHF thousand  Book value of 
liabilities as 
reported on 

balance sheet 

 Cash  
collateral  

paid 

 Securities 
borrowed or 
received for 

collateralisa-
tion 

 Total  
Net amount 

 Amounts due in respect of securities financing transactions  259,319  —  —   259,319 

 Trading portfolio  433,907   48,883  (338,379)   144,411 

 Liabilities from other financial instruments at fair value  4,092,490  —  —  4,092,490 

 Total as of 31 December 2019  4,785,716   48,883  (338,379)  4,496,220 

of which repledged — — — —

of which resold — — — —

CHF thousand Book value 
of assets as 
reported on 

balance sheet

Cash 
collateral 
received

Securities 
lent or used 

for collaterali-
sation4

Total  
Net amount

Amounts due from securities financing transactions  84,076  —  —   84,076 

Trading portfolio  2,026,581  428,901  (1,588,298)   867,184 

Other financial instruments at fair value  1,913,507  —  (1,224,804)   688,703 

Total as of 31 December 2018  4,024,164   428,901  (2,813,102)  1,639,963 

With unrestricted right to resell or repledge  —  —  (145,737)  (145,737) 

 CHF thousand  Book value of 
liabilities as 
reported on 

balance sheet 

 Cash  
collateral  

paid 

 Securities 
borrowed or 
received for 

collateralisa-
tion 

 Total  
Net amount 

Amounts due in respect of securities financing transactions  428,901  —  —  428,901 

Trading portfolio  360,432  84,076  (419,710)  24,798 

Liabilities from other financial instruments at fair value  3,123,856  —  —  3,123,856 

Total as of 31 December 2018  3,913,189  84,076  (419,710)  3,577,555 

of which repledged — — — —

of which resold — — — —

4	 Securities lent or used for collateralisation of securities financing transactions are equal to the amounts of collateral received or paid (taking haircuts into account). The remaining 
amount is used as collateral for other purposes (i.e. initial margin for ETDs or add-ons).
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22	 Trading financial assets and liabilities

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Trading financial assets

Debt securities (listed)  100,289  65,889 

of which pledged as collateral  25,380  33,850 

Equity securities  1,599,903  1,586,037 

of which pledged as collateral  951,969  1,103,096 

of which lent as collateral in securities lending and borrowing  
transactions with the right to resell or repledge

 26,169  140,050 

Funds  429,433  349,689 

of which pledged as collateral  301,341  305,615 

of which lent as collateral in securities lending and borrowing  
transactions with the right to resell or repledge

 2,100  5,687 

Other securities  25,415  24,966 

of which hybrid financial instruments  25,415  24,966 

Total trading financial assets  2,155,040  2,026,581 

of which based on valuation-model (see Note 16)  328,907  238,351 

of which repo-eligible securities  —  1,894 

Trading financial liabilities

Debt securities (listed)  1,300  1,242 

Equity securities  417,256  343,617 

Funds  15,350  15,573 

Other securities  1  — 

Total trading financial liabilities  433,907  360,432 

of which based on valuation-model (see Note 16)  4  73 

Trading financial assets are purchased to offset the economic exposures arising from the non-
host debt component of the Company’s issued products or other financial liabilities.
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23	 Trading inventories
Trading inventories are carried at fair value less costs to sell and comprise cryptocurrencies held 
as an economic hedge for issued structured products. The fair market values for cryptocurrencies 
held as assets are determined by the custodian.

Leonteq is issuing certificates that replicate the performance of cryptocurrencies. To hedge the 
exposure resulting from the issuance of these certificates, Leonteq purchases or sells the  
respective underlying. At year-end 2019, Leonteq issued products with Bitcoin, Bitcoin Cash, 
Ether, Litecoin and Ripple as underlyings. As the characteristics of a cryptocurrency do not match 
the existing classification criteria, IAS 8.10 is applicable. IAS 8.10 requires management to use 
its own judgement when developing and applying an accounting policy. Management must  
consider IFRS’ approach to similar topics and accepted industry practices, among other factors. 
Based on the assessment performed, management decided to classify cryptocurrencies held as 
an asset as “trading inventories” and to apply the commodity broker-trader exemption (IAS 2.3) 
and therefore measure cryptocurrencies at fair value less costs to sell. The changes in fair value 
are recognised in the line item “result from trading activities and the fair value option”.

24	 Replacement values of derivative instruments
The replacement values of all derivative instruments are reflected at fair value in the statement 
of financial position and are reported as positive replacement values or negative replacement 
values. As the Company enters into derivative contracts for trading purposes, realised and unre-
alised gains and losses are recognised in “result from trading activities and the fair value option”.

A derivative may be embedded in a “host contract”. Such combinations are known as hybrid in-
struments and arise predominantly from the issuance of structured debt instruments. The values 
of embedded derivatives are presented with the host debt as other financial liabilities designated 
at fair value. Gains and losses from financial liabilities are reported in the income statement as 
“result from trading activities and the fair value option”.

In certain circumstances, the Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge risks  
associated with foreign exchange movements. At the inception of the transaction, the Company 
documents the relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the 
risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking the hedging transactions. At inception 
and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents the effectiveness of the hedge. For the hedge 
of fixed foreign currency denominated costs, the associated derivatives may be designated as 
cash flow hedges. Effective unrealised gains or losses on these instruments are recognised 
within the hedge accounting reserve in other comprehensive income. The Company transfers 
the hedge accounting reserves into the statement of other comprehensive income when the 
hedged cash flows occur or when hedge accounting is terminated.

For derivative financial instruments used for hedge accounting in accordance with IFRS 9 refer to 
Note 17.
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CHF thousand Trading instruments Hedging instruments

Positive RV Negative RV Contract 
volume

Positive RV Negative RV Contract 
volume

Interest rate instruments

Forward contracts incl. FRAs — — — — — —

Swaps  173,204  132,696  14,596,357  4,014  9,696  1,323,254 

Futures — —  6,432,984 — — —

Options (OTC)  58,687  157,560  18,331,534 — — —

Options (exchange traded) — — — — — —

Foreign currencies/precious metals

Forward contracts  37,039  16,774  2,696,188 — — —

Swaps  8,849  6,663  1,178,260 — — —

Futures — — — — — —

Options (OTC)  27,302  25,810  2,293,988 — — —

Options (exchange traded) — — — — — —

Precious metals

Forward contracts — — — — — —

Swaps  102  296  10,447 — — —

Futures — —  91,829 — — —

Options (OTC)  3,142  2,921  51,148 — — —

Options (exchange traded) — — — — — —

Equities/indices

Forward contracts — — — — — —

Swaps  474,615  122,359  8,997,247 — — —

Futures — —  1,138,343 — — —

Options (OTC)  134,381  467,354  8,605,688 — — —

Options (exchange traded)  1,972,436  1,493,528  33,771,210 — — —

Credit instruments

Credit default swap  96,290  84,125  3,943,159 — — —

Total return swap — — — — — —

First to default swaps — — — — — —

Other credit derivatives — — — — — —

Other

Forward contracts — — — — — —

Swaps  797  1,213  179,749 — — —

Futures — —  111,746 — — —

Options (OTC)  888  6,080  76,988 — — —

Options (exchange traded) — — — — — —

Total before deduction of netting agreements 
(incl. cash collateral) as of 31 December 2019

 2,987,732  2,517,379  102,506,865  4,014  9,696  1,323,254 

of which based on valuation-model (see Note 16)  1,042,015  1,133,163 — —

Total after deduction of netting agreements 
(incl. cash collateral) as of 31 December 20195

 566,359  195,643 

of which balances against central clearing  
institutions

 552,741  55,379 — —

of which balances against banks or securities 
dealers

 6,467  10,647 — —

of which balances against other customers  7,151  129,617 — —

5	 Replacement value of derivative instruments includes both Trading and Hedging instruments
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CHF thousand Trading instruments Hedging instruments

Positive RV Negative RV Contract 
volume

Positive RV Negative RV Contract 
volume

Interest rate instruments

Forward contracts incl. FRAs  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Swaps  78,124  78,164  11,344,737  —  —  — 

Futures  —   —   12,666,416  —  —  — 

Options (OTC)  29,334  115,333  4,714,918  —  —  — 

Options (exchange traded)  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Foreign currencies/precious metals

Forward contracts  38,000  37,253  4,259,824  —  —  — 

Swaps  13,106  799  1,116,297  —  —  — 

Futures  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Options (OTC)  36,641  60,233  4,046,200  —  —  — 

Options (exchange traded)  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Precious metals

Forward contracts  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Swaps  36  39  4,619  —  —  — 

Futures  —   —   77,724  —  —  — 

Options (OTC)  1,341  1,201  26,383  —  —  — 

Options (exchange traded)  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Equities/indices

Forward contracts  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Swaps  1,376,719  111,597  8,849,982  —  —  — 

Futures  —   —   866,863  —  —  — 

Options (OTC)  267,559  761,511  7,966,372  —  —  — 

Options (exchange traded)  3,002,957  2,411,872  35,758,997  —  —  — 

Credit instruments

Credit default swap  89,042  106,360  2,844,506  —  —  — 

Total return swap  —   —   —   —  —  — 

First to default swaps  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Other credit derivatives  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Other

Forward contracts  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Swaps  13,349  3  77,616  —  —  — 

Futures  —   —   158,880  —  —  — 

Options (OTC)  2,685  3,988  76,489  —  —  — 

Options (exchange traded)  —   —   —   —  —  — 

Total before deduction of netting agreements 
(incl. cash collaterals) as of 31 December 2018

 4,948,893  3,688,353  94,856,823  —  —  — 

of which based on valuation-model (see Note 16)  2,006,884  1,575,681  —  — 

Total after deduction of netting agreements (incl. 
cash collaterals) as of 31 December 2018

 751,589  237,145  —  — 

of which balances against central clearing  
institutions

 723,161  131,295  —  — 

of which balances against banks or securities 
dealers

 23,216  9,185  —  — 

of which balances against other customers  5,212  96,665  —  — 
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25	 Other financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value 	
	 through profit or loss

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

Debt securities (listed)  1,220,704  1,723,656 

of which pledged as collateral  987,949  1,154,783 

of which lent as collateral in securities lending and borrowing  
transactions with the right to resell or repledge

 4,911  70,021 

Other securities  117,219  24,465 

of which hybrid financial instruments  117,219  24,465 

Receivables from Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions counterparties  184,069  165,386 

Total other financial assets designated at fair value  
through profit or loss

 1,521,992  1,913,507 

of which based on valuation-model (see Note 16)  301,288  190,451 

of which repo-eligible securities  798,851  1,165,024 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

Interest rate instruments  429,662  501,498 

with own debt component  429,662  501,498 

without own debt component — —

Equities  3,529,714  2,538,007 

with own debt component  3,510,068  2,511,547 

without own debt component  19,646  26,460 

Foreign currency  8,793  9,398 

with own debt component  8,793  9,398 

without own debt component — —

Commodities (incl. precious metals)  124,321  74,953 

with own debt component  97,166  58,656 

without own debt component  27,155  16,297 

Total other financial liabilities designated at fair value  
through profit or loss

 4,092,490  3,123,856 

of which based on valuation-model (see Note 16)  4,092,490  3,123,856 

Bonds are used to offset exposures to similar term components of the Company’s issued  
products, principally the host debt component of structured products issued. Receivables from 
Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions counterparties relate to expenses incurred to purchase 
economic hedges for interest rate risks on behalf of Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions 
counterparties prior to the inception of their specific client contracts. These expenses are reim-
bursed to the Company by the respective Insurance & Wealth Planning Solutions counterparty. 

The maturity of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss range from 1 month 
to 15 years.

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Classification in accordance with SVSP Swiss Derivative Map

Capital protection  222,113  288,175 

Yield enhancement  2,674,073  2,032,774 

Participation  1,139,196  754,200 

Leverage  57,108  48,707 

Total other financial liabilities designated at fair value  
through profit or loss6

 4,092,490  3,123,856 

6	 All issued structured products are booked as financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.
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26 	Bond issued and central mortgage institution loans

CHF thousand Type of debt Coupon rate Year of 
issue

Early 
redemption  

date

Maturity 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Leonteq Securities AG

Tier 1 Contingent Convertible Loan Notes – 
Tranche 1

 Subordinated 
with PONV7 

clause 

 6.75% + 
6-months  

CHF LIBOR 

2015 26.08.2020  perpetual  50,000  50,000 

Tier 1 Contingent Convertible Loan Notes – 
Tranche 4

 Subordinated 
with PONV7 

clause 

 6.75% + 
6-months  

CHF LIBOR 

2015 26.08.2020  perpetual  50,000  50,000 

Total outstanding  100,000  100,000 

7	 PONV = Point of non-viability

Maturities of issued loans

CHF thousand Up to 1  
year

1-2years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4.5 years Over 5  
years

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Leonteq Securities AG

Tier 1 Contingent Convertible Loan Notes – 
Tranche 1

 50,000  50,000  50,000 

Tier 1 Contingent Convertible Loan Notes – 
Tranche 4

 50,000  50,000  50,000 

Total outstanding  100,000  100,000  100,000 

27	� Financial investments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

In 2018, the Company began investing a certain portion of proceeds from own product issuance 
in mid-term high-quality bonds issued by corporates and financials. This investment portfolio  
increased further in 2019, leading to a new business model (as defined under IFRS 9) for how the 
Company manages its investment portfolio (buying and selling debt instruments and collecting 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding). Management therefore concluded that a new business model was established 
which requires the recognition of the respective financial instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI). In relation with the newly introduced hedge accounting refer to 
Note 17. 

Bonds measured at FVOCI are presented as “Financial investments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income”. Effective interest, impairments and foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognised in the income statement in the line item “result from trading 
activities and the fair value option”. Other changes in fair value that are mainly attributable to 
changes in the benchmark interest rate or issuer credit risk are recognised in the statement of 
other comprehensive income. 

Since issuer credit risk is initially recognised in other comprehensive income, the expected cred-
it loss is accounted for on the portfolio of debt instruments measured at FVOCI. The change in 
the expected credit loss is recognised in the income statement in the line item “changes in value 
adjustments for default risks and losses from interest operations”, while the reverse entry is 
recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income (Note 15).

If a bond measured at FVOCI is disposed of, the amount recognised in the statement of other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to the income statement. The cumulative changes in fair 
value are transferred to “results from trading activities and the fair value option” and the corre-
sponding expected credit loss amount is credited to “changes in value adjustments for default 
risks and losses from interest operations”.
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The following table provides an overview of financial investments measured at FVOCI:

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Government bonds  3,865 —

Supranational agency bonds  17,005 —

Corporate bonds  741,833 —

Financial institution bonds  359,599 —

Total debt financial instruments measured at FVOCI  1,122,302 —

of which listed  1,110,881 —

of which unlisted  11,421 —

28	 Accrued income and prepaid expenses/Accrued expenses 
	 and deferred income
The Company recognises fee income from services rendered over a specific period of time on a 
pro rata basis for the deemed duration of the service. This includes the initial margin earned upon 
the issuance of products, as well as service and management fees related to the Insurance & 
Wealth Planning Solutions business. Interest income is accrued as earned. Dividends are recog-
nised when there is a right to receive the payment. Accrued and deferred income is presented 
as a separate asset or liability in the statement of financial position.

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Accrued income and prepaid expenses

Prepaid operating expenses  4,519  1,661 

Accrued interest  17,856  13,484 

Other 328 3 

Total accrued income and prepaid expenses  22,703  15,148 

Accrued expenses and deferred income

Accrued operating expenses  42,638  45,109 

Deferred fee income  106,899  75,745 

Accrued interest  3,826  5,005 

Other  12,750  7,971 

Total accrued expenses and deferred income  166,113  133,830 

Prepaid operating expenses relate to sublease, staff and other operating expense items. Accrued 
interest consists mainly of accrued interest from debt instruments held as an asset.

Accrued operating expenses include staff, audit fee and other operating expense items. For more 
details on the deferred fee income, refer to Note 8. Other accrued expenses consist of accrued 
capital tax, outstanding social security expense as well as accrued distribution fees.
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29	 Long-lived assets
Long-lived assets (furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements, internally developed and pur-
chased software, as well as IT equipment) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. Due to refurbishment in different offices, a partial disposal of the fixed assets 
has been realised. Right-of-use assets are reported at the amount equivalent to the capitalised 
lease payments less accumulated depreciation. Long-lived assets are reviewed periodically for 
impairment, with any impairment charge being recognised in the income statement.

Certain personnel costs directly attributable to the development of internally developed software 
are capitalised as long-lived assets. Capitalised costs include salaries and bonuses, social contri-
butions and pension costs.

Capitalised software acquisition costs are based on the costs of acquiring the software and the 
costs incurred in bringing it into the state of its intended use. Direct costs attributable to the 
development of internally developed software are capitalised when such items meet the defini-
tion of capitalisation. These costs relate to the design and implementation phase of internally 
developed software.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method. Long-lived assets are depreciated over 
their useful lives, as follows:

•	 Furniture and equipment: 5 to 10 years

•	 Leasehold improvements: 5 to 10 years

•	 Right-of-use assets: 2 to 15 years

•	 Internally developed software: 3 to 5 years

•	 Purchased IT software: 3 to 5 years

•	 IT equipment: 3 to 5 years

Leonteq’s IT platform consists of different components: Leonteq developed proprietary front-end 
tools for product construction, product set-up and product documentation. The position manage-
ment and risk management system is based on off-the-shelf software. Leonteq enhanced the 
software through the addition of specific functionalities such as in-built model libraries developed 
by Leonteq. The back-office tools used by Leonteq comprise of standard software.

Impairment of non-financial assets
For all non-financial assets not measured at fair value, the Company assesses at the end of each 
reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a non-financial asset or a group of 
nonfinancial assets is impaired. A non-financial asset or a group of non-financial assets is consid-
ered to be impaired and impairment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of impair-
ment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a 
loss event), and that loss event (or events) has an impact on estimated future cash flows of the 
non-financial asset or group of non-financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
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CHF thousand Property and equipment Total  
31.12.2019

Information technology and systems Total  
31.12.2019

Total  
31.12.2019

Furniture / equipment Leasehold improvement Right-of-use asset Internally developed software Purchased software IT equipment

Historical cost

Balance as of 1 January 2019   2,629   9,881   85,367  97,877   77,416   31,185   12,110  120,711  218,588 

Additions  261  —   1,786   2,047   15,200   6,516   6,151   27,867   29,914 

Disposals  (80)  (25)  (982)  (1,087)  —  (687)  (123)  (810)  (1,897) 

Reclassifications  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other value adjustments/impairments  —  —  (9)  (9)  —  —  —  —  (9)

Translation adjustments  —  —  (26)  (26)  —  —  —  —  (26)

Balance as of 31 December 2019  2,810  9,856  86,136  98,802  92,616  37,014  18,138  147,768  246,570 

Accumulated depreciation cost

Balance as of 1 January 2019   1,498   2,734   31,245   35,477   48,562   22,064   5,836   76,462   111,939 

Depreciation8  430   1,302   6,582   8,314   12,185   3,589   2,323   18,097   26,411 

Disposals  (80)  (25)  (246)  (351)  —  (687)  (123)  (810)  (1,161) 

Reclassifications — — — —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other value adjustments/impairments  3 —  (8)  (5)  —  —  227  227  222 

Translation adjustments — —  (14)  (14)  —  —  —  —  (14)

Balance as of 31 December 2019  1,851  4,011  37,559  43,421  60,747  24,966  8,263  93,976  137,397 

Net book value as of 31 December 2019  959  5,845  48,577  55,381  31,869  12,048  9,875  53,792  109,173 

8	 All internally developed and purchased software is currently depreciated over a period of five years.

CHF thousand Property and equipment Total  
31.12.2018

Information technology and systems Total  
31.12.2018

Total  
31.12.2018

Furniture / equipment Leasehold improvement Right-of-use  
asset

Internally developed software Purchased software IT equipment

Historical cost

Balance as of 1 January 2018   2,596   9,838  —   12,434   68,279   25,251   9,387   102,917   115,351 

Additions 33 43  — 76   9,137   5,934   2,898   17,969   18,045 

Disposals  —  —  —  —  —  — (175) (175) (175)

Reclassifications  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other value adjustments/impairments  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Translation adjustments  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  2,629  9,881  —  12,510  77,416  31,185  12,110  120,711  133,221 

Accumulated depreciation cost

Balance as of 1 January 2018   1,057   1,433  —   2,490   38,844   19,543   4,095   62,482   64,972 

Depreciation8  412   1,299  —   1,711   9,719   2,507   1,799   14,025   15,736 

Disposals  —  —  —  —  —  —  (77)  (77)  (77)

Reclassifications  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other value adjustments/impairments  29  2  —  31  (1)  14  19  32  63 

Translation adjustments  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  1,498  2,734  —  4,232  48,562  22,064  5,836  76,462  80,694 

Net book value as of 31 December 2018  1,131  7,147  —  8,278  28,854  9,121  6,274  44,249  52,527 

Leonteq’s IT platform consists of different components: Leonteq developed proprietary front-end 
tools for product construction, product set-up and product documentation. The position manage-
ment and risk management system is based on off-the-shelf software. Leonteq enhanced the 
software through the addition of specific functionalities such as in-built model libraries developed 
by Leonteq. The back-office tools used by Leonteq comprise standard software.
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CHF thousand Property and equipment Total  
31.12.2019

Information technology and systems Total  
31.12.2019

Total  
31.12.2019

Furniture / equipment Leasehold improvement Right-of-use asset Internally developed software Purchased software IT equipment

Historical cost

Balance as of 1 January 2019   2,629   9,881   85,367  97,877   77,416   31,185   12,110  120,711  218,588 

Additions  261  —   1,786   2,047   15,200   6,516   6,151   27,867   29,914 

Disposals  (80)  (25)  (982)  (1,087)  —  (687)  (123)  (810)  (1,897) 

Reclassifications  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other value adjustments/impairments  —  —  (9)  (9)  —  —  —  —  (9)

Translation adjustments  —  —  (26)  (26)  —  —  —  —  (26)

Balance as of 31 December 2019  2,810  9,856  86,136  98,802  92,616  37,014  18,138  147,768  246,570 

Accumulated depreciation cost

Balance as of 1 January 2019   1,498   2,734   31,245   35,477   48,562   22,064   5,836   76,462   111,939 

Depreciation8  430   1,302   6,582   8,314   12,185   3,589   2,323   18,097   26,411 

Disposals  (80)  (25)  (246)  (351)  —  (687)  (123)  (810)  (1,161) 

Reclassifications — — — —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other value adjustments/impairments  3 —  (8)  (5)  —  —  227  227  222 

Translation adjustments — —  (14)  (14)  —  —  —  —  (14)

Balance as of 31 December 2019  1,851  4,011  37,559  43,421  60,747  24,966  8,263  93,976  137,397 

Net book value as of 31 December 2019  959  5,845  48,577  55,381  31,869  12,048  9,875  53,792  109,173 

8	 All internally developed and purchased software is currently depreciated over a period of five years.

CHF thousand Property and equipment Total  
31.12.2018

Information technology and systems Total  
31.12.2018

Total  
31.12.2018

Furniture / equipment Leasehold improvement Right-of-use  
asset

Internally developed software Purchased software IT equipment

Historical cost

Balance as of 1 January 2018   2,596   9,838  —   12,434   68,279   25,251   9,387   102,917   115,351 

Additions 33 43  — 76   9,137   5,934   2,898   17,969   18,045 

Disposals  —  —  —  —  —  — (175) (175) (175)

Reclassifications  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other value adjustments/impairments  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Translation adjustments  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  2,629  9,881  —  12,510  77,416  31,185  12,110  120,711  133,221 

Accumulated depreciation cost

Balance as of 1 January 2018   1,057   1,433  —   2,490   38,844   19,543   4,095   62,482   64,972 

Depreciation8  412   1,299  —   1,711   9,719   2,507   1,799   14,025   15,736 

Disposals  —  —  —  —  —  —  (77)  (77)  (77)

Reclassifications  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Other value adjustments/impairments  29  2  —  31  (1)  14  19  32  63 

Translation adjustments  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  1,498  2,734  —  4,232  48,562  22,064  5,836  76,462  80,694 

Net book value as of 31 December 2018  1,131  7,147  —  8,278  28,854  9,121  6,274  44,249  52,527 

Leonteq’s IT platform consists of different components: Leonteq developed proprietary front-end 
tools for product construction, product set-up and product documentation. The position manage-
ment and risk management system is based on off-the-shelf software. Leonteq enhanced the 
software through the addition of specific functionalities such as in-built model libraries developed 
by Leonteq. The back-office tools used by Leonteq comprise standard software.
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Leases
In the previous year, the Company recognised leases under IAS 17 Leases. Leases that were 
classified as “operating leases” were not recognised on its balance sheet since the related own-
ership rights and obligations remained with the lessor. Expenses resulting from operating leasing 
were recognised in “other operating expenses”. The Company did not have any “finance leases” 
under IAS 17. For adjustments recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, please refer 
to Note 6. The Company’s leasing activities mainly relate to office, data centre and equipment. 
The lease liability reflects the present value of future lease payments, excluding any reinstate-
ment cost provision, which is accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 and presented as a provi-
sion (Note 34). In contrast, expected reinstatement costs are included in the right-of-use asset. 
The right-of-use asset is presented in the line item “long-lived assets” and the lease liability in 
“other liabilities”. The right-of-use asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 
unless it is determined to be subject to impairment according to IAS 36. Lease payments are 
deducted from the lease liability. The lease liability is measured at the present value of remaining 
lease payments, discounted at the interest rate determined at the commencement date or at the  
transition of the lease.

Upon the first time adoption of IFRS 16 if new lease agreements are entered into, the Company 
exercised judgement regarding the effective lease term in cases where the lease agreements 
included one or more early termination or extension options. Extension options (or periods after 
termination options) are only included if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended or not 
terminated, respectively. In most cases, the extension options are included, given the Company 
currently has no intention to move out of its various office locations in the near future. In cases 
where the original lease will only mature several years in the future (e.g. after more than 5 years), 
the respective extension options were not yet considered given the inherent uncertainty about 
office space required at that point in time. The applicability of the lease terms and termination or 
extension options is reassessed regularly. As of 31 December 2019, the effect of revising lease 
terms to reflect the effect of exercising extension and termination options would result in an  
increase in the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately CHF 26 million.

Lease payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value are recognised over 
the lease term as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 
12 months or less. Low-value leases comprise IT and other small items of office equipment.
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The following table outlines the effect of IFRS 16 during the period 1 January to 31 December 
2019:

CHF thousand Office under 
lease

Right-of-use asset

Balance as of 1 January 2019  54,122 

Additions  1,786 

Disposals (737)

Effect of contract modifications  — 

Amortisation  (6,582) 

Currency translation adjustment  (12)

Balance as of 31 December 2019  48,577 

Lease liability

Balance as of 1 January 2019  54,055 

Additions  1,049 

Disposals  — 

Effect of contract modifications 80

Interest expense 580

Payments  (7,478) 

Currency translation adjustment  (25)

Balance as of 31 December 2019  48,261 

Contractual liability (excluding short-term or low-value assets) as of 31 December 2019  51,062 

of which due within 1 year  7,079 

of which due within 2 and 5 years  24,574 

of which due within 6 and 10 years  19,409 

of which due after 10 years  — 

During the period 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, CHF 47 thousand of expenses relating 
to short-term leases or leases of low value were accounted for as an other operating expense.

Commitments arising from operational leases

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Due within one year  25,133  6,631 

Due between two and five years  57,326  24,350 

Due later than five years  2,982  24,846 

Commitments for minimum payments under operational leases  85,441  55,827 

Commitments arising from operational sublease rental income 

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Due within one year  2,381  2,611 

Due between two and five years  3,121  5,785 

Due later than five years  —  — 

Commitments for minimum payments under operational leases  5,502  8,396 

In 2018 and 2019, the Company sublet office space that it does not expect to be used in the coming 
years.
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30	 Other assets and other liabilities

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Other assets

Withholding and other tax receivables  19,182  36,573 

Other assets  6  1 

Total other assets  19,188  36,574 

Other liabilities

Other tax liabilities  3,162  5,391 

Pension liability  14,155  12,715 

Lease liability  48,261  — 

Other liabilities  3,061  24 

Total other liabilities  68,639  18,130 

The derivative component of structured products with Swiss underlyings, are generally hedged 
with Swiss shares. Withholding taxes on dividends from such Swiss shares are included in  
Withholding tax receivables. In the period under review, Leonteq received a repayment of  
CHF 25.3 million from the Swiss Federal Tax Authority.

Refer to Note 32 for further information on the change in net pension liability

As of 01 January 2019 IFRS 16 became effective. Due to the application of this standard the 
Company has recognised a lease liability which amounts to CHF 48.26 million as of 31 December 
2019.

Other liabilities mainly represents unpaid supplier invoices.
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31	 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements 
and similar agreements. The net amount shown reflects the net credit exposure per asset class.

CHF thousand Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
assets

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
liabilities 

set off in the 
balance sheet

Net 
amount of 

financial 
assets 

as reported in 
IFRS balance 

sheet

Effect of  
master 
netting  

agreements

Effect of  
collateral 
received

Net  
amount

Liquid assets  130,891 —  130,891 — —  130,891 

Amounts due from banks  478,031 —  478,031 —  (228,505)  249,526 

Amounts due from securities borrowing   48,883 —   48,883 —  (48,883) —

Amounts due from customers  393,448 —  393,448  (81,701)  (3,207)  308,540 

Positive replacement values of derivative instruments  2,991,746 —  2,991,746  (2,113,826)  (401,752)  476,168 

Other financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss

 1,521,992 —  1,521,992  (184,069) —  1,337,923 

Total as of 31 December 2019  5,564,991 —  5,564,991  (2,379,596)  (682,347)  2,503,048 

CHF thousand Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
assets

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
liabilities 

set off in the 
balance sheet

Net 
amount of 

financial 
assets 

as reported in 
IFRS balance 

sheet

Effect of  
master 
netting  

agreements

Effect of  
collateral 
received

Net  
amount

Liquid assets — — — — — —

Amounts due from banks  1,341,405 —  1,341,405 —  (519,195)  822,210 

Amounts due from securities borrowing  84,076 —  84,076 —  (84,076) —

Amounts due from customers  214,784 —  214,784  (44,974)  (529)  169,281 

Positive replacement values of derivative instruments  4,948,893  4,948,893  (2,652,210)  (1,675,454)  621,229 

Other financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss

 1,913,507 —  1,913,507  (165,386) —  1,748,121 

Total as of 31 December 2018  8,502,665 —  8,502,665  (2,862,570)  (2,279,254)  3,360,841 

In addition to the above amounts, the exposure to credit risk from trading financial assets is  
reduced via credit protection through structured products issued. The effect of this credit protec-
tion is a reduction in trading assets presented in the statement of financial position of CHF 89,762 
thousand for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: CHF 61,776 thousand).
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The following financial liabilities are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrange-
ments and similar agreements. The net amount shown reflects the net credit exposure per asset 
class.

CHF thousand Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
liabilities

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
assets 

set off in the 
balance sheet

Net 
amount of 

financial 
liabilities 

as reported in 
IFRS balance 

sheet

Effect of  
master 
netting  

agreements

Effect of  
collateral 

paid

Net  
amount

Amounts due to banks  232,210 —  232,210 —  (232,210) —

Liabilities from securities financing transactions  259,319 —  259,319 —  (252,219)  7,100 

Amounts due to customers  622,190 —  622,190  (81,701)  (350,125)  190,364 

Negative replacement values of derivative  
instruments

 2,527,075 —  2,527,075  (2,185,083)  (275,280)  66,712 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss

 4,092,490 —  4,092,490  (112,812)  (853,050)  3,126,628 

Total as of 31 December 2019  7,733,284 —  7,733,284  (2,379,596)  (1,962,884)  3,390,804 

CHF thousand Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
liabilities

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
assets 

set off in the 
balance sheet

Net 
amount of 

financial 
liabilities 

as reported in 
IFRS balance 

sheet

Effect of  
master 
netting  

agreements

Effect of  
collateral 

paid

Net  
amount

Amounts due to banks  924,049 —  924,049 —  (873,880)  50,169 

Liabilities from securities financing transactions  428,901 —  428,901 —  (428,901) —

Amounts due from customers  1,404,709 —  1,404,709  (44,974)  (1,297,071)  62,664 

Negative replacement values of derivative  
instruments

 3,688,353 —  3,688,353  (2,725,650)  (849,818)  112,885 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss

 3,123,856 —  3,123,856  (91,946)  (806,784)  2,225,126 

Total as of 31 December 2018  9,569,868 —  9,569,868  (2,862,570)  (4,256,454)  2,450,844 

For the financial assets and financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements 
or similar agreements above, each agreement between the Company and the counterparty allows 
for net settlement of the relevant financial asset and financial liability when both parties elect to 
settle on a net basis. In the absence of such an election, financial assets and financial liabilities will 
be settled on a gross basis; however, each party to the master netting arrangement or similar 
agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of 
the other party.
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32	 Retirement benefit obligations 
The Company operates a defined benefit plan and defined contribution plans.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contri-
butions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 
employee service in the current and prior periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is 
not a defined contribution plan.

The Company’s obligations for its Swiss pension scheme are to pay defined contributions.  
However, in accordance with the Swiss “LPP/BVG” law, the pension scheme incorporates cer-
tain guarantees, such as minimum interest accumulation at defined rates, conversion of capital 
at defined rates upon transfer of vested benefits, and potential life-long pension annuities. The 
pension scheme has therefore been reported as a defined benefit pension plan in accordance 
with IFRS.

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of the defined benefit 
pension plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting 
period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by 
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation is determined by discounting estimated future cash outflows using interest 
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 
obligation.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assump-
tions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which 
they arise. 

Past service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement.

The Company’s principal pension plan is operated in Switzerland and covers most of the  
Company’s employees. This pension scheme is run in accordance with Swiss law.

The Company also contributes to pension schemes on behalf of employees domiciled in other 
locations. These pension schemes qualify as defined contribution plans. A defined contribution 
plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. 
The Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund 
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee services 
in the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense 
when they fall due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash 
refund or a reduction in future payments is available. Contributions totalling CHF 406 thousand 
and CHF 159 thousand for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to 
contribution plans in other jurisdictions, were also recognised in personnel expenses.

The pension plan is maintained by a foundation that is a separate legal entity. The plan provides 
cover against retirement, death and disability for all staff employed in Switzerland. The founda-
tion is governed by a Board of Trustees and is supervised by the BVG und Stiftungsaufsicht (BVS) 
of the canton of Zurich. The pension scheme also includes the Leonteq Pension Committee, 
which has three employee and three employer representatives.

In 2019 a new service provider for the defined benefit plan was appointed. The collective founda-
tion was maintained by Zürich Lebensversicherungs-Gesellschaft AG for the year ended 31  
December 2018, and by Axa for the year ended 31 December 2019. It covers all actuarial and in-
vestment risks. The foundation has elected to fully insure death and disability insurance risks 
within the Swiss pension plan with a third-party insurance company. The insurance contract is 
renewable on an annual basis.

In addition to the above-mentioned risks, the pension plan is exposed to other risks such as asset 
volatility, changes in bond yields and changes in life expectancy. These risks have a significant 
impact on the pension plan: Asset volatility could increase or reduce the plan assets. Bond yields 
are the basis for the discount rate. Low yields (or discount rates) and a higher life expectancy 
lead to a higher plan obligation. The managers of the pension plan address these risks as part of 
their efforts to ensure the consistency and sustainability of the pension plan’s assets and liabili-
ties based on a diversified investment strategy that is aligned with the volatility and maturity of 
the pension obligation.

Simultaneously with the change in service provider, the Company introduced a 1e plan which 
covers salary and bonus from CHF 150 thousand to CHF 400 thousand. The 1e plan is treated as 
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a defined contribution plan. The switch from defined benefit to defined contribution plan resulted 
in a capital outflow of CHF 3 million and is recognised as a plan settlement in the following  
tables. 

As of 31 December 2019, the characteristics of the defined benefit plan were as follows: 

•	 Employees were insured up to a salary of CHF 150 thousand (prior year CHF 250 thousand)

•	 The benefits of the pension scheme are funded by the employer and employee as a fixed 
percentage of the insured salaries

•	 Conversion rate = 5.0% – 6.8% (increasing with retirement age)

•	 Total number of members: 356 (active members: 356 / pensioners: 0)

The below table outlines where the Company’s post-employment amounts related to the Swiss 
pension scheme are included in the financial statements.

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Reconciliation of the amount  
recognised in the statement of financial position 

Defined benefit obligation  58,073  54,106 

Fair value of plan assets (43,918) (41,391)

Adjustment of asset ceiling  —  — 

Net defined benefit liability/(asset)  14,155  12,715 

of which recognised as separate (asset)  —  — 

of which recognised as separate liability  14,155  12,715 

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Components of defined benefit cost in profit or loss

Current service cost (employer)  4,609  4,287 

Past service cost (4,497)  — 

(Gain)/loss on settlement  —  — 

Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 531  414 

Interest (income) on plan assets (422)  (329)

Interest expense/(income) on effect of asset ceiling  —  — 

Interest (income) on reimbursement right  —  — 

Administration cost (excl. cost for managing plan assets) 76  24 

Others  —  — 

Net expense recognised in the income statement  297  4,396 

of which service and administration cost  188  4,312 

of which net interest on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 109  84 

Past service cost of CHF (4,497) relate to impacts of decrease in future conversion rates and the 
mark up on the capital outflow due to implementation of the 1e solution.

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Components of defined benefit cost in OCI

Actuarial (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation  8,279  (972)

(Gain)/loss on plan assets (excl. interest income) (3,529)  2,531 

Change in effect of asset ceiling (excl. interest (income)/expense)  —  — 

Return on reimbursement right (excl. interest income)  —  — 

Others  —  — 

Defined benefit cost/(income) recognised in OCI  4,750  1,559 
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The effect of the discount rate applied when determining the actuarial gains and losses is recog-
nised in Actuarial (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation through OCI. The interest rate applied 
decreased from 1.0% as of 31 December 2018 to 0.1% as of 31 December 2019 and resulted in 
a loss for 2019.

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Reconciliation in net defined benefit liability/(asset)

Net defined benefit liability/(asset) as of 1 January  12,715  10,012 

Defined benefit cost recognised in profit or loss 297  4,396 

Defined benefit cost/(income) recognised in OCI  4,750  1,559 

Contributions by the employer (3,607) (3,252)

Benefits paid directly by the entity  —  — 

Effect of business combination and disposal  —  — 

Effect of reimbursement right  —  — 

Others  —  — 

Net defined benefit liability/(asset) as of 31 December  14,155  12,715 

Defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss include effects from the change in conversion 
rates and switch of the current Swiss defined benefit plan to the newly introduced 1e plan.

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation

Defined benefit obligation as of 1 January  54,106  48,778 

Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 531 414

Current service cost employer  4,685  4,311 

Contributions by plan participants  2,760  2,426 

Benefits (paid)/deposited (4,813) (851)

Past service cost and plan settlement (7,475) —

(Gain)/loss on settlement — —

Effect of business combination and disposal — —

Others — —

Actuarial (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation  8,279 (972)

Defined benefit obligation as of 31 December  58,073  54,106 

Past service cost and plan settlement include effects from the transfer into the 1e plan.

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Components of actuarial (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation

Actuarial (gain)/loss arising from changes in financial assumptions  5,985 (1,089)

Actuarial (gain)/loss arising from changes in demographical assumptions —  (991)

Actuarial (gain)/loss arising from experience adjustments  2,294  1,108 

Actuarial (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation  8,279 (972)
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CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets as of 1 January  41,391  38,766 

Interest income on plan assets 422 329

Contributions by employer  3,607  3,252 

Contributions by plan participants  2,760  2,426 

Benefits (paid)/deposited (4,813)  (851)

Gain/(loss) on settlement — —

Effect of business combinations and disposal — —

Plan settlements (2,978) —

Gain/(loss) on plan assets (excl. interest income)  3,529 (2,531)

Fair value of plan assets as of 31 December  43,918  41,391 

Plan settlements include the effects from the change into the 1e plan.

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Components of actual return on plan assets

Interest income on plan assets 422 329

Gain/(loss) on plan assets (excl. interest income)  3,529 (2,531)

Actual return on plan assets  3,951  (2,201) 

The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Significant actuarial assumptions

Discount rate 0.10% 1.00%

Salary growth rate 1.00% 1.00%

Pension growth rate 0.00% 0.00%

Future inflation rate 1.00% 1.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality as set forth below are based on Swiss BVG / LLP 2015 
mortality tables, which include generational mortality rates allowing for future projections of  
increasing longevity.

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Assumptions regarding future mortality

Longevity at age 65/64 (use plan retirement age) for current pensioners:

male 22.6 22.6

female 25.6 24.5

Longevity at age 65/64 (use plan retirement age) for future pensioners 
(age 45):

male 24.4 24.4

female 27.4 26.4

Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation in years 18.6 16.7
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Change in  
assumption

DBO after  
increase in  

assumption 
(CHF 

thousand)

DBO after 
decrease in 
assumption 

(CHF 
thousand)

Sensitivity analysis

Discount rate 0.25%  55,485  60,870 

Salary growth rate 0.25%  58,394  57,745 

Life expectancy 1 year  59,096  57,197 

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in one assumption, while all other assump-
tions remain constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some assumptions 
may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant 
actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calcu-
lated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied 
as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the statement of financial position.

On 01 January 2020, the Company’s pension plan was transferred to the new service provider, 
Axa. The plan assets under the old pension plan amounted to CHF 43,915 as of 31 December 
2019 and represent a receivable from the previous service provider, Zürich Lebensversicherungs-
Gesellschaft AG. 

CHF thousand Quoted Unquoted Total

Plan assets are comprised as follows

Cash and cash equivalents  6,613 204  6,817 

Equity instruments  12,891 —  12,891 

Debt instruments  17,043 —  17,043 

Real Estate  3,584 —  3,584 

Other  1,056 —  1,056 

Total plan assets as of 31 December 2018  41,187  204  41,391 

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Best estimate of contributions of next year

Contributions by employer  3,450  3,325 

Contributions by plan participants  2,400  2,532 
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33	 Expected credit loss
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company applies the expected credit loss methodology to calcu-
late and recognise an impairment provision for financial assets measured at amortised cost or at 
fair value measured through other comprehensive income. These assets comprise the balance 
sheet items, “cash in hand”, “amounts due/from banks”, “amounts due/from securities transac-
tions”, “amounts due/from customers” and “financial investments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income”.

Impairment of financial assets
For all debt financial assets measured at amortised cost and/or measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, the Company applies the expected credit loss methodology:

•	 Stage 1, performing assets: At initial recognition, the 12-month expected credit loss is recog-
nised for all assets.

•	 Stage 2, under-performing assets: If credit risk has increased significantly since initial recogni-
tion, the 12-month expected credit loss is increased to the life-time expected credit loss. In 
the case of a significant decrease in credit risk, the life-time expected credit loss is reduced 
to a 12-month expected credit loss and the assets are reclassified to stage 1.

•	 Stage 3, non-performing assets: If there is objective evidence of a loss event, an additional 
impairment adjustment is recognised.

The increase or decrease of the expected credit loss is recognised in “changes in value adjust-
ments for default risks and losses from interest operations” in the income statement. The allow-
ance for 12-month expected credit loss as well as life-time expected credit loss is recognised in 
“expected credit loss provision or other comprehensive income”. The Company calculates the 
expected loss allowance on a portfolio-basis.

Credit risk management
Assets measured at amortised costs mainly consist of cash balances or cash collateral in  
connection with the Company’s business operations. The Company holds cash collateral in  
connection with its trading activities relating to derivatives instruments and/or securities financ-
ing transactions. Assets measured at fair value through consists of bonds. 

The credit quality of the Company’s counterparties is monitored continuously: The Risk Commit-
tee of the Executive Committee approves the counterparties and allocates individual counterparty  
limits to them. Risk Control monitors adherence to these limits on an ongoing basis. If signs of 
the deterioration of a counterparty credit risk are identified, business activities are reduced  
accordingly.

The Company’s products usually have a short duration. Consequently, all credit exposure is of a 
short-term nature or could be reduced with risk-mitigating actions such as the unwinding of 
trades and removal of excess cash. 

Expected credit loss calculation
The expected credit loss takes into account the exposure at default, probability of default, and 
loss given default. The starting point for the expected credit loss calculation is the determination 
of the input factors that are based on market observable inputs whenever possible. Exposure at 
default is based on exposures to different counterparties, taking into account the time value of 
money and risk-mitigating measures. The probability of default and loss given default are based 
on industry standard values, observable market inputs such as credit default swaps, and the 
extrapolation of observable market inputs. The calculation of the expected credit loss provision is 
performed at portfolio level. 
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Development of expected credit loss allowance

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Balance at the beginning of the period  2,950  1,310 

Change in 12-month expected credit loss  (1,834)  1,640 

Change in lifetime expected credit loss  —  — 

for non-credit impaired financial assets with significantly 
increased credit risk

 —  — 

for credit impaired financial assets  —  — 

for trade receivables contract assets or lease receivables  —  — 

Purchased or originated credit impaired assets  —  — 

Balance at the end of the period  1,116  2,950 

of which presented as a liability  269  2,950 

of which presented in equity 847  — 

Due to the short duration of financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, no discounting of the ECL provision is needed.

The overall ECL provision decreased from CHF 2.95 million to CHF 1.12 million as of 31 Decem-
ber 2019. Given that more comparative information is available, the ECL model was revised for 
the first time since its introduction in 2016. The revised calculation model increases the ECL 
provision on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income but 
reduces the ECL provision on financial assets measured at amortised cost which overall resulted 
in a reduction. 

The ECL allowance in connection with financial assets measured at fair value through other  
comprehensive income is recognised in the other comprehensive income (equity).
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34	 Provisions
The Company recognises a provision if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a current 
liability at the balance sheet date that will probably lead to an outflow of funds (which can include 
legal fees), at the level of which can be reliably estimated. The recognition and release of provi-
sions are recognised in the line item “changes to provisions and other value adjustments and 
losses”. If an outflow of funds is unlikely to occur or the amount of the liability cannot be reliably 
estimated, a contingent liability is shown. A contingent liability is also shown if, as a result of a 
past event, there is a possible liability at the balance sheet date whose existence depends on 
future developments that are not fully under the Company’s control. If the possibility of an  
outflow of resources is remote, neither a provision nor a contingent liability is reported.

2019 2018

CHF thousand Reinstate-
ment cost 
provisions

Other  
provisions

Total  
provisions

Total  
provisions

Balance at the beginning of the period  —  11,360  11,360  8,264 

Adjustment due to first time adoption of IFRS 16  2,849  —  2,849  — 

Utilisation in conformity with designated purpose (2)  (1,749)  (1,751) (542)

Increase in provisions recognised in the income statement 34  3,598  3,632  3,750 

Release of provisions recognised in the income statement  — (564) (564) (44)

Translation differences (1) (61) (62) (68)

Balance at the end of the period  2,880  12,584  15,464  11,360 

of which short-term provisions  —  3,448  3,448  2,697 

of which long-term provisions  2,880  9,136  12,016  8,663 

Reinstatement cost provisions 
In the course of the adoption of IFRS 16 the Company reassessed its expected reinstatement 
costs as well as presentation of these costs. The amount of CHF 2,849 thousand therefore con-
sists of amounts previously presented within other line items and newly built provisions (initially 
offset with the right-of-use asset or through equity – refer to Note 29 for further information on 
the first-time adoption of IFRS 16). Such provisions include a high level of judgement with regard 
to the point in time as well as the respective amounts which are expected to be incurred. While 
the point in time when it is expected to incur these costs is aligned with the estimated duration 
of the underlying lease contract, the amount is determined based on inputs received from  
experts (e.g. architects) or derived from costs incurred when moving office locations in the past.

Other provisions
From time to time, the Company is involved in legal proceedings and litigation that arise in the 
normal course of business. Such proceedings and litigation are subject to many uncertainties 
and the outcome is often difficult to predict, particularly in the early stages of a case. The uncer-
tainties inherent in all such matters affect the amount and timing of any potential outflows. The 
Company makes provisions for legal proceedings and litigation brought against it based on  
Management’s assessment after seeking legal advice.

In connection with a value added tax (VAT) audit for the years 2007 through and including 2011, 
the Swiss Federal Tax Administration (SFTA) has taken the view that distribution services of for-
eign providers, including those from our subsidiary Leonteq Securities (Europe) GmbH, rendered 
to Leonteq Securities AG are subject to VAT as a reverse charge (Bezugssteuer). Furthermore, 
the SFTA has not agreed with the factor applied by Leonteq Securities AG for input VAT recovery 
on intragroup services rendered. Leonteq has filed an appeal against the SFTA determination. In 
December 2019, the Swiss Federal Administrative Court decided in favour of Leonteq regarding 
the reverse charge but in favour of the SFTA regarding the factor. At closing of the financials of 
the year ended 31 December 2019, the decision of the Swiss Federal Administrative Court was 
however not yet final but subject to a potential appeal by the SFTA to the Swiss Federal Supreme 
Court. The full provision (covering the period from 2007 to 2019) related to the pending Swiss VAT 
litigation increased by CHF 0.4 million in 2019 and amounted to CHF 7.4 million as of 31 December 
2019. Thereof, CHF 2.3 million related to the input factor and CHF 5.1 million related to the reverse 
charge.  
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The amount of CHF 564 thousand recognised as a provision for employment law related matters 
at the end of 2018 was released through the income statement in 2019 and no new provision 
was built 2019 for respective matters. A provision in the amount of CHF 850 thousand for legal 
fees was recognised as of 31 December 2019. For further potential disputes and litigations  
related to the main business activities of Leonteq, CHF 3,335 thousand (31 December 2018:  
CHF 3,326) are provisioned.

35	 Shareholders’ equity	
Share capital

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Total par 
value (CHF)

Number 
of shares

Capital 
eligible for 
dividends

Total par 
value (CHF)

Number 
of shares

Capital 
eligible for 
dividends

Share capital  15,000,000  15,000  15,000,000  15,000,000  15,000  15,000,000 

of which fully paid in  15,000,000  15,000 —  15,000,000  15,000 —

Total share capital  15,000,000  15,000  15,000,000  15,000,000  15,000  15,000,000 

Authorised capital — — — — — —

of which capital increase completed — — — — — —

Conditional share capital — — — — — —

of which capital increase completed — — — — — —

The Company does not hold any own shares. The Company’s share-based payments plans are 
settled with Leonteq AG shares. For further information refer to Note 12.

Capital distribution
The Board of Directors plans to propose to the Annual General Meeting of Leonteq Securities AG 
on 31 March 2019 that no dividend be paid out of retained earnings and that there be no distribu-
tion out of reserves from capital contributions for the financial year 2019 and 2018, accordingly, 
that all accumulated profits as well as accumulated reserves from capital contributions be carried 
forward.

No dividend out of retained earnings and no distribution from reserves form capital contributions 
were paid for the financial year 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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36	 Significant shareholders

Leonteq Securities AG is wholly owned by Leonteq AG. The significant shareholders of Leonteq AG 
are the following:

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Number of  
shares held

Voting  
rights in %

Number of  
shares held

Voting  
rights in %

Raiffeisen Switzerland Cooperative  5,495,157 29.02%  5,495,157 29.02%

Lukas Ruflin family interests9, 10  1,543,756 8.15%  1,543,756 8.15%

Sandro Dorigo  463,317 2.45%  463,317 2.45%

Subtotal shareholders’ agreement  7,502,230 39.62%  7,502,230 39.62%

Rainer-Marc Frey11  2,784,000 14.70%  2,201,081 11.63%

Directors and executives12  178,322 0.94%  157,523 0.83%

Total significant shareholders  10,464,552 55.26%  9,860,834 52.08%

9	 Lukas Ruflin family interests represents all the holdings of Lukas T. Ruflin (founding partner), Clairmont Trust Company Limited and Thabatseka LP; Clairmont Trust Company 
Limited acts as trustee of a trust that holds shares in Leonteq AG through Thabatseka LP (which, in turn, is indirectly wholly owned by Clairmont Trust Company Limited);  
the trust was settled by Lukas T. Ruflin.

10	 In addition, Lukas Ruflin family interests holds 462,325 call options issued by Raiffeisen subject to the following conditions: Strike price CHF 210 (adjusted by cumulative 
dividends per share and effects of corporate actions from 2015 to 2025); subscription ratio 1:1; maturity 19 October 2025; European style.

11	 H21 Macro Limited, Cayman Islands, is the direct shareholder.
12	 Excluding shareholdings of Lukas T. Ruflin.
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37	 Related-party transactions
The Company entered into various transactions and agreements with related parties. Significant 
transactions and agreements can be categorised as financial and platform partner agreements 
with Raiffeisen Switzerland Cooperative and its affiliated companies.

CHF thousand Amounts 
due from 

31.12.2019

Amounts 
due from 

31.12.2018

Amounts 
due to 

31.12.2019

Amounts 
due to 

31.12.2018

Income  
from  
2019

Income  
from  
2018

Expense 
to 

2019

Expense 
to 

2018

Significant shareholders 
Raiffeisen Switzerland Cooperative

Amounts due from banks  19,018  25,112  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Positive replacement values of 
derivative instruments

 65,427  186,462  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due to banks  —  —  3,950  285,891  —  —  —  — 

of which credit facility  —  —  —  98,160  —  —  —  — 

Negative replacement values of 
derivative instruments

 —  —  63,593  29,632  —  —  —  — 

Accrued expenses and deferred 
income

 —  —  276  555  —  —  —  — 

Platform partner service fee 
income

 —  —  —  — 7,443  11,952  —  — 

Other fee income  —  —  —  — —  —  —  — 

Other fee expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  1,141  — 

Interest income  —  —  —  —  482  298  —  — 

Interest expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  2,642  4,951 

Leonteq AG

Amounts due from customers  55  2,061  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due to customers  —  —  26,285  25,500  —  —  —  — 

Bond issues and central  
mortgage institution loans

 —  —  100,000  100,000  —  —  —  — 

Accrued expenses and deferred 
income

 —  —  2,206  2,147  —  —  —  — 

Fee income  —  —  —  —  1,049  1,370  —  — 

Interest expense  —  —  —  —  1  —  7,055  6,731 

Affiliated companies 
Raiffeisen Switzerland B.V. Amsterdam

Amounts due from customers  13,903  31,331  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Positive replacement values of 
derivative instruments

 110,609  383,233  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Accrued income and prepaid 
expenses

 302  3  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due to customers  —  —  84,360  377,581  —  —  —  — 

Negative replacement values of 
derivative instruments

 —  —  74,157  25,917  —  —  —  — 

Platform partner service fee 
income

 —  —  —  —  21,777  24,337  —  — 

Other fee income  —  —  —  — —  —  —  — 

Other fee expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  3  — 

Interest income  —  —  —  —  639  347  —  — 

Interest expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  1,093  611 
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CHF thousand Amounts 
due from 

31.12.2019

Amounts 
due from 

31.12.2018

Amounts 
due to 

31.12.2019

Amounts 
due to 

31.12.2018

Income  
from  
2019

Income  
from  
2018

Expense 
to 

2019

Expense 
to 

2018

Leonteq Securities (Europe) GmbH

Amounts due from customers  47  23  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Accrued income and prepaid 
expenses

 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due to customers  —  —  2,826  1,949  —  —  —  — 

Interest income  —  —  —  —  —  1  —  — 

Fee expense  —  —  —  —  —  24,699  22,465 

Leonteq Securities (Hong Kong) Ltd.

Amounts due from customers  —  13  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due to customers  —  —  384  517  —  —  —  — 

Fee expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  4,243  4,716 

Leonteq Securities (Japan) Ltd.

Amounts due from customers  54  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due to customers  —  —  281  209  —  —  —  — 

Fee expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  2,921  2,348 

Leonteq Securities (Monaco) SAM

Amounts due from customers  8  11  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due to customers  —  —  337  651  —  —  —  — 

Fee income from other services  —  —  —  —  14  14  —  — 

Fee expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  7,150  6,005 

Leonteq Securities (Singapore) PTE Ltd.

Amounts due from customers  5  65  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Amounts due to customers  —  —  773  782  —  —  —  — 

Fee expense  —  —  —  —  —  13,385  13,610 

Significant shareholders 
Transactions with members 
of governing bodies

 —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

On 7 March 2016, Leonteq entered into a term sheet with Raiffeisen, which was replaced on  
6 April 2018 by a cooperation agreement (“the Raiffeisen Agreement”). Pursuant to the  
Raiffeisen Agreement, Leonteq and Raiffeisen agreed to cooperate in the structuring, issuance, 
hedging, distribution, market making and lifecycle management of structured products and  
the provision of related services. The Raiffeisen Agreement ends on 31 March 2026, unless the 
parties otherwise agree to renew or amend it. 

On 6 April 2018, the Company entered into a credit facility framework agreement with Raiffeisen 
(the “Raiffeisen Facility”). The Raiffeisen Facility is valid from 1 April 2018 and ends automatically 
and without notice on 31 March 2022, if not renewed for another four years by the parties. The 
Raiffeisen Facility has a maximum limit of CHF 350 million (unsecured). Leonteq Securities has 
the right to reduce the facility to CHF 300 million at any time at the end of a calendar quarter.

As of 30 June 2019 Leonteq made use of this clause and reduced the facility to CHF 300 million. 
Business activities with related parties are subject to standard market rates.
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Key management personnel compensation
The Company’s key management personnel comprise the members of the Board of Directors and 
the Executive Committee. As of 31 December 2019, the Board consisted of eight members, all of 
whom are non-executive directors, and the Executive Committee consisted of seven members. 

Compensation awarded to the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee is determined by 
the Company’s Nomination & Remuneration Committee and is reviewed annually. The Nomination 
& Remuneration Committee provides the Board with recommendations on the remuneration of 
Board members and the Executive Committee and defines the basic principles for the establish-
ment, amendment and implementation of incentive plans. Taking into account the maximum 
amount of remuneration for members of the Board of Directors and the members of the Execu-
tive Committee approved by the Annual General Meeting (AGM), the Board reaches its final  
decisions regarding remuneration.

Total compensation for the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee of the Company 
(together key management personnel) for the year ending 31 December 2019 are listed in the 
tables below.

Compensation of members of the Board of Directors

CHF thousand Salaries  
and other 

short-term 
employee 

benefits

Share- 
based 

payments 13

Total 
compensation 

2019

Total 
compensation 

2018

Christopher M. Chambers (Chairman since EGM 2017)  138  256  394  350 

Hans Isler (Vice-Chairman since AGM 2018, Chairman AC since 2012)  50  202  252  242 

Jörg Behrens (Chairman RC since 2012)  90  112  202  204 

Paulo Brügger (Member until 2 February 2019)  8  5  13  150 

Vince Chandler (Member until AGM 2019)  33  21  54  200 

Patrick de Figueiredo (Member since 2010)  78  79  157  161 

Susana Gomez Smith (Member since AGM 2019)  73  48  121 —

Richard A. Laxer (Chairman NRC since AGM 2019)  55  136  191  121 

Thomas R. Meier (Member since EGM 2017)  80  80  160  164 

Lukas T. Ruflin (Vice-Chairman until AGM 2018) — — —  93 

Dominik Schärer (Member since EGM 2019)  16  29  45 —

Total 621 968  1,589  1,685 

13	 These share-based payment amounts reflect the fair value of the shares at time of grant (including corresponding social security contributions).

Compensation of members of the Executive Committee

CHF thousand 2019 2018

Short-term employee benefits  5,768  5,564 

Post-employment benefits  424  410 

Other long-term employee benefits  666  1,331 

Share-based payments  1,668  2,450 

Total  8,526  9,755 

whereof recognised as personnel expenses in the year under review  9,154  7,487 

The Company has not granted any loans or guarantee commitments to members of the Board of 
Directors or members of the Executive Committee.
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38	 Off-balance

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Off-balance sheet transactions

Contingent liabilities  21,302  22,600 

Irrevocable commitments  28  32 

Obligations to pay up shares and make further contributions  —  — 

Credit commitments  —  — 

Contingent liabilities arise from deferred payments in relation to employee variable compensa-
tion plans. For further information refer to Note 12.

Irrevocable commitments relate to Swiss Deposit Insurance.

39	 Post-balance sheet events
No events occurred after the balance sheet date which would materially affect the financial  
statements. 

40	 Statutory banking regulations
The Company’s financial statements were prepared in accordance with the International  
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). FINMA stipulates that banks or security dealers domiciled 
in Switzerland that report their financial statements according to US GAAP or IFRS must explain 
any material differences between Swiss accounting regulations for banks (Banking Ordinance 
and FINMA Circular 2015/1) and the reporting standard used. The most significant  
differences between IFRS and Swiss accounting regulations for banks that are of relevance to 
the Company are as follows:

Extraordinary profit
Under IFRS, all items of income and expense are allocated to ordinary operating activities. In 
accordance with Swiss accounting regulations for banks, income and expenses are classified as 
extraordinary if they are not recurring or not related to operational activities.

Pensions and post-retirement benefits
Under IFRS, the liability and related pension expense are determined based on the projected unit 
credit actuarial calculation of the benefit obligation. Under the Swiss accounting regulation for 
banks, the liability and related pension expense are determined primarily on the basis of the  
pension plan valuation. A pension asset is recognised if a statutory overfunding of a pension plan 
leads to a future economic benefit, and a pension liability is recognised if a statutory underfund-
ing of a pension plan leads to a future economic obligation. Pension expenses include the  
required contributions defined by the Swiss accounting regulation for banks, any additional con-
tribution required by the pension fund trustees, and any change in the value of the pension asset 
or liability between two measurement dates, as determined on the basis of the annual year-end 
pension plan valuation.

Share based payments
The Swiss accounting regulations for banks allow the same accounting treatment for share-
based payments as IFRS with the following exceptions: The expense for share-based payments 
is recognised in the income statement with a corresponding entry in accrued expenses and  
deferred income.

Lease accounting
IFRS 16 requires the Company to recognise a lease liability reflecting the present value of future 
lease payments and a corresponding right of use asset on the balance sheet. The right of use 
asset is reflected in the “long-lived assets” and the lease liability in “other liabilities”. The right of 
use asset is amortised over the period of the lease on a straight-line-basis. Lease payments are 
deducted from the lease liability after applying the interest charge for the period. The Swiss  
accounting regulations for banks do not accept IFRS 16. Instead, lease payments made during 
the period are recognised as an operating expense.
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Cryptocurrencies
Since cryptocurrencies do not meet the criteria for a financial instrument under IFRS, the respec-
tive balance is presented as Trading Inventories. FINMA clarified in December 2018 that under 
the Swiss accounting regulations cryptocurrencies held must be presented as Trading Financial 
Assets.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
The Swiss accounting regulations for banks do not allow for financial instruments to be accounted 
for at fair value through other comprehensive income. Instruments held under this IFRS category 
are classified as other financial instruments at fair value under the Swiss accounting regulations 
for banks. The full mark-to-market effect is reflected in the income statement, instead. The corre-
sponding adjustments to the expected credit loss provision is also eliminated.

Hedge Accounting
Under IFRS, the fair value movements of hedging instruments of cash flow hedges are recog-
nised in comprehensive income. Swiss accounting regulations for banks does not allow the 
recognition of expenses or income in the comprehensive income. The fair value movements of 
the hedging instruments of cash flow hedges are recognised in the compensation account  
instead. The effect was CHF 0 thousand for 2019 and for 2018, respectively. Hedge accounting 
was not applied in 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

Refinancing costs for trading financial assets and liabilities as well as other financial  
assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 
The Company offsets refinancing costs for trading financial assets and liabilities as well as other 
financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss with the “result from 
trading activities and the fair value option”. The net position is disclosed as “interest and discount 
income”. Interest and discount income includes the net refinancing result of the trading activities 
of CHF 6,797 thousand and CHF 9,202 thousand in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Deferred taxes
The Swiss accounting regulations for banks generally do not recognise deferred tax assets.  
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised as provisions. Leonteq Securities AG does not recognise 
any for its stand-alone financial statement in accordance with the Swiss accounting regulations 
for banks.

Current taxes
The Swiss accounting regulations for banks recognise current tax assets (liabilities) for income 
taxes under accrued income and prepaid expenses (accrued expenses and deferred income).

Changes in own credit
Under IFRS 9, changes in fair value related to own credit risk for financial liabilities designated at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in other comprehensive income. The changes in 
other comprehensive income in own credit risk are subsequently transferred within equity to 
retained earnings reserves over the same period as the sales fee income is deemed earned. Any 
fair value impact not related to changes in own credit risk is recognised in the income statement.

Under Swiss accounting regulations for banks, the changes in own credit risk are recognised 
through the compensation account and amortised through the income statement over the same 
period as the sales fee income is deemed earned. Any fair value impact not related to changes 
in own credit risk is also recognised in the income statement.

Compensation account
The balance of the compensation account was CHF 0 and CHF 0 as of 31 December 2019 and as 
of 31 December 2018, respectively.
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Assets under management

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Type of managed assets

Assets in collective investment schemes managed by the bank —  — 

Assets under discretionary asset management agreements  31,685  11,507 

Other managed assets —  — 

Total managed assets (including double-counting)

of which double-counted items  —  — 

Total Assets under management (incl. double counted)  
at beginning of the period

 11,507  10,297 

+/- Net new money inflow/(outflow)  20,562  975 

+/- effect of fair value movements, currency translation, interest  (384)  235 

+/- other  —  — 

Total assets under management at the end of the period  31,685  11,507 

Assets are classified as “assets under management” if the Company provides investment  
advisory or discretionary portfolio management services in respect of those assets. In particular, 
this includes certain issued certificates where the Company offers such services. Structured 
products where no investment advice or discretionary portfolio management services are  
provided, including rule-based investment certificates, do not meet the Company’s definition of 
assets under management.
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Leonteq Securities AG
Income statement in accordance with ARB for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

CHF thousands 2019 2018

Result from interest operations

Interest and discount income  16,441  15,092 

Interest expense  (25,892)  (25,841)

Gross result from interest operations  (9,451)  (10,749)

Changes in value adjustments for default risks and losses from interest operations  1,833  (1,640)

Net result from interest operations  (7,618)  (12,389)

Fee income

Fee income from securities trading and investment activities  270,792  313,539 

Fee income from other services  1,063  1,384 

Fee expense  (56,647)  (110,880)

Net fee income  215,208  204,043 

Result from trading activities and the fair value option  (14,681)  13,603 

Result from other ordinary activities

Other ordinary income  2,838  3,363 

Result from other ordinary activities  2,838  3,363 

Operating expenses

Personnel expenses  (83,295)  (77,932)

Other operating expenses  (40,373)  (43,435)

Operating expenses  (123,668)  (121,367)

Depreciation of long-lived assets  (20,059)  (15,798)

Changes to provisions and other value adjustments, and losses  (3,131)  (5,046)

Result from operating activities  48,889  66,409 

Extraordinary income  230  62 

Taxes  (709)  (1,528)

Net profit  48,410  64,943 

Interest and discount income includes the net refinancing result of the trading activities of  
CHF 6.8 million as of 31 December 2019 and CHF 9.2 million as of 31 December 2018.
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Appropriation of retained earnings

CHF thousands 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Net profit  48,410  64,943 

Profit carried forward from prior years  173,169  108,226 

Accumulated profit carried forward  221,579  173,169 

Appropriation of profit

Allocation to the statutory retained earnings reserves  —  — 

Dividend  —  — 

Accumulated profit to be carried forward  221,579  173,169 
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Leonteq Securities AG
Balance sheet in accordance with ARB as of 31 December 2019 and 2018

CHF thousands 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Assets

Liquid assets  130,891  — 

Amounts due from banks  478,031   1,341,405 

Amounts due from securities financing transactions  48,883  84,076 

Amounts due from customers  393,448  214,784 

Trading financial assets   2,181,701   2,042,802 

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments   2,991,746   4,948,893 

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss   2,644,294   1,913,507 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses  23,276  16,112 

Long-lived assets  60,597  52,527 

Other assets  19,190  36,574 

Total assets   8,972,057   10,650,680 

Total subordinated claims  11,612  4,809 

of which subject to mandatory conversion and/or debt waiver  —  — 

Liabilities

Amounts due to banks  232,210  924,049 

Liabilities from securities financing transactions  259,319  428,901 

Amounts due to customers  622,190   1,404,709 

Trading financial liabilities  433,907  360,432 

Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments   2,527,075   3,688,353 

Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss   4,092,490   3,123,856 

Bond issued and central mortgage institution loan  100,000  100,000 

Accrued expenses and deferred income  177,340  141,461 

Other liabilities  6,223  5,414 

Expected credit loss provision  1,114  2,950 

Provisions  12,584  11,360 

Total liabilities   8,464,452   10,191,485 

Equity

Share capital  15,000  15,000 

Statutory capital reserve  270,307  270,307 

of which tax-exempt capital contribution reserve  163,525  163,525 

Statutory retained earnings reserve  719  719 

Profit carried forward  173,169  108,226 

Net profit  48,410  64,943 

Total shareholders’ equity  507,605  459,195 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   8,972,057   10,650,680 

Total subordinated liabilities  127,706  127,644 

of which subject to mandatory conversion and/or debt waiver  100,000  100,000 

Off-balance in accordance with ARB

Please refer to Note 38.
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Leonteq Securities AG
Statement of changes in equity for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

CHF thousands Share 
capital

Statutory 
capital  

reserve1

Statutory 
retained  
earnings 

reserve

Profit/(-loss) 
carried  

forward

Net profit/ 
(-loss)

Total

Balance as of 31 December 2017  15,000  170,307  719  82,507  25,719  294,252 

Reallocation of retained earnings — — —  25,719  (25,719) —

Employee participation schemes — — — — — —

Capital increase/(decrease) —  100,000 — — —  100,000 

Acquisition and disposal of own shares — — — — — —

Dividends and other distributions — — — — — —

Other allocations to/(transfers from) the other reserves — — — — — —

Net profit — — — —  64,943  64,943 

Balance as of 31 December 2018  15,000  270,307  719  108,226  64,943  459,195 

1	 CHF 163,525 thousand relate to tax exempt capital contribution reserve of which CHF 51,950 thousand have been confirmed by the Swiss Federal Tax Administration (ESTV) on 
16.02.2015. The proceeds from the capital increase have been reported to the tax authorities. Leonteq Securities AG is awaiting formal confirmation

CHF thousands Share 
capital

Statutory 
capital  

reserve2

Statutory 
retained  
earnings 

reserve

Profit/(-loss) 
carried  

forward

Net profit/ 
(-loss)

Total

Balance as of 31 December 2018  15,000  270,307  719  108,226  64,943  459,195 

Reallocation of retained earnings — — —  64,943  (64,943) —

Employee participation schemes — — — — — —

Capital increase/(decrease) — — — — — —

Acquisition and disposal of own shares — — — — — —

Dividends and other distributions — — — — — —

Other allocations to/(transfers from) the other reserves — — — — — —

Net profit — — — —  48,410  48,410 

Balance as of 31 December 2019  15,000  270,307  719  173,169  48,410  507,605 

2	 CHF 163,525 thousand relate to tax exempt capital contribution reserve of which CHF 51,950 thousand have been confirmed by the Swiss Federal Tax Administration (ESTV) on 
16.02.2015. The proceeds from the capital increase have been reported to the tax authorities. Leonteq Securities AG is awaiting formal confirmation
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Concordance table regarding disclosure requirements
The following concordance table reconcile the ARB disclosure requirements to the disclosures 
in the single entity financial statements of Leonteq Securities AG. The company is a fully owned 
subsidiary of the listed Leonteq AG, that publishes consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with IFRS. Therefore, Leonteq Securities AG can apply the consolidation relief to selected 
disclosure requirements. In accordance with margin number 327 of FINMA Circ. 15/1, Leonteq 
Securities AG does not need to disclose a management report.

Margin number  
of FINMA  
Circ. 15/1

Disclosure requirement Disclosure in single financial statements of Leonteq Securities AG

75 – 124 Balance sheet Note 40: Statement of financial position for the year ended 31 December 
2019 and 2018

125 – 161 Income statement Note 40: Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

162 – 169 Appropriation of profit/coverage of losses/ 
other distributions

Note 40: Proposed appropriation of retained earnings as well as proposed 
distribution from reserves from capital contribution

170 Cash flow statement In accordance with margin number 327, Leonteq Securities AG does not 
need to disclose a cash flow statement.

171 – 172 Statement of change in equity Note 40: Statement of changes in equity from the years ended  
31 December 2019 and 2018

182 Business name and its legal form and domicile Note 1: General information

183 – 190 Accounting and valuation policies Note 4: Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting 
policies;
Note 5: Changes to critical accounting estimates and changes to  
presentation;
Note 3: Principal accounting policies;
Note 40: Statutory banking regulations (differences between IFRS and ARB)

191 Risk Management Risk and Control (pages 3 to 19)

195 Material events after balance sheet date Note 39: Post-balance sheet events

197 Information on the balance sheet Notes to the (consolidated) financial statements

198 Breakdown of securities financing transactions  
(assets and liabilities)

Note 21: Securities financing transactions (assets and liabilities)

199 Presentation of collateral for loans/receivables and 
off-balance-sheet transactions and impaired loans/ 
receivables

Note 40: Collateralised loans/receivables and off-balance-sheet transactions 
and impaired loans/receivables

200 Breakdown of trading portfolios and other financial 
instruments at fair value (assets and liabilities)

Note 22: Trading financial assets and liabilites
Note 23: Trading inventories 
Note 25: Other financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value  
through profit or loss

201 Presentation of derivative financial instruments  
(assets and liabilities)

Note 24: Replacement values of derivative instruments

202 Breakdown of financial investments Leonteq Securities AG does not have any financial investments

203 Presentation of participations In accordance with margin number 328, Leonteq Securities AG does not 
need to disclose the participations

204 Disclosure of companies in which the banks holds a 
permanent direct or indirect significant participation

In accordance with margin number 329, Leonteq Securities AG does not 
need to disclose the permanent direct or indirect significant participations

205 Presentation of long-lived assets Note 29: Long-lived assets

206 Presentation of intangible assets Leonteq Securities does not have any intangible assets

207 Breakdown of other assets and other liabilities Note 30: Other assets and liabilities
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Margin number  
of FINMA  
Circ. 15/1

Disclosure requirement Disclosure in single financial statements of Leonteq Securities AG

208 Disclosure of assets pledged or assigned to secure 
own commitments and of assets under reservation  
of ownership

Leonteq Securities AG does not have any assets pledged or assigned to 
secure own commitments and of assets under reservation of ownership

209 Disclosure of liabilities relating to own pension 
schemes and number and nature of equity instruments 
of the bank held by own pension schemes

Note 40: Statutory banking regulations – Pension and post-retirement 
benefits

210 Disclosure of the economic position of own pension 
schemes

Note 40: Information on Economic Benefit/Liability and the pension  
expenses

211 Presentation of issued structure products Note 25: Other financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value  
through profit or loss

212 Presentation of bonds outstanding and mandatory 
convertible bonds

Note 26: Bond issued and central mortgage institution loans

213 Presentation of value adjustments and provisions, 
reserves for general banking risks and changes  
therein during the current year

Note 34: Provisions

214 Presentation of the bank’s capital Note 35: Shareholder’s equity

215 Number and value of equity securities or options on 
equity securities held by all executives and directors 
and by employees and disclosure of any employee 
participation schemes

Note 12: Personnel expenses

216 Disclosures of amounts due from / to related parties Note 37: Related-party transactions

217 Disclosure of holders of significant participations Note 36: Significant shareholders

218 Disclosure of own shares and composition of equity 
capital

Note 35: Shareholder’s equity

219 Disclosures in accordance with the Ordinance against 
Excessive Compensation with respect to Listed Stock 
Corporations and Article 663c para. 3 CO for banks 
whose equity securities are listed

The equity securities of Leonteq Securities AG are not listed

220 Presentation of the maturity structure of financial 
instruments

In accordance with margin number 333, Leonteq Securities AG does not 
need to disclose the maturity structure of financial instruments

221 Presentation of assets and liabilities by domestic and 
foreign origin in accordance with the domicile principle 

In accordance with margin number 334, Leonteq Securities AG does not 
need to disclose the presentation of assets and liabilities by domestic and 
foreign origin in accordance with the domicile principle maturity structure  
of financial instruments

222 Breakdown of total assets by country or group of  
countries (domicile principle)

In accordance with margin number 335, Leonteq Securities AG does not 
need to disclose the breakdown of total assets by country or group of  
countries (domicile principle)

223 Breakdown of total assets by credit rating of country 
groups (risk domicile view)

Note 40: Statutory banking regulations – Breakdown of total assets by credit 
rating of country groups

224 Breakdown of assets and liabilities broken down  
by the most significant currencies for the bank or  
financial group

In accordance with margin number 336, Leonteq Securities AG does not 
need to disclose the breakdown of assets and liabilities broken down by  
the most significant currencies for the bank or financial group

225 – 228 Off-balance-sheet transactions Note 38: Off-balance

229 Assets under management Note 40: Statutory banking regulations – assets under management

230 Information on the income statement Notes to the (consolidated) financial statements

231 Breakdown of the result from trading activities  
and the fair value option

Note 9: Results from trading activities and the fair value option
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Margin number  
of FINMA  
Circ. 15/1

Disclosure requirement Disclosure in single financial statements of Leonteq Securities AG

232 Disclosure of material refinancing income Note 40: Statutory banking regulations – Refinancing costs for trading 
financial assets and liabilities as well as other financial assets and liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss

233 Breakdown of personnel expenses Note 12: Personnel expenses

234 Breakdown of general and administrative expenses Note 13: Other operation expenses

235 Explanations regarding material losses, extraordinary 
income and expenses as well as material releases 
of hidden reserves, reserves for general banking 
risks and value adjustments and provisions no longer 
required

Note 40: Statutory banking regulations – Extraordinary profit

236 Disclosure of and reasons for revaluation of  
participations and long-lived assets up to acquisition 
cost at maximum

Leonteq Securities AG does not have any participation and long-lived assets 
with hidden reserves

237 Presentation of the operating result broken down  
according to domestic and foreign origin, according  
to the principle of permanent establishment

In accordance with margin number 339, Leonteq Securities AG does not 
need to disclose the presentation of the operating result broken down ac-
cording to domestic and foreign origin, according to the principle of  
permanent establishment

238 Presentation of current and deferred taxes and  
disclosure of tax rate

Note 14: Taxes

239 Disclosures and explanations of the earning per  
equity securities

The equity securities of Leonteq Securities AG are not listed
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Collateralised loans receivables and off-balance sheet transactions and impaired loans/receivables

CHF thousands Type of collateral Total 
31.12.2019

Secured by 
mortgage

Other  
collateral

Unsecured

Loans (before netting with value adjustments)

Amounts due from customers —  84,908  308,540  393,448 

Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit & loss —  184,069  2,460,225  2,644,294 

Mortgage loans

Residential property — — — —

Office and business premises — — — —

Commercial and industrial premises — — — —

Other — — — —

Total loans (before netting with value adjustments)

Balance as of 31 December 2019 —  268,977  2,768,765  3,037,742 

Balance as of 31 December 2018 —  210,889  1,917,402  2,128,291 

Total loans (after netting with value adjustments)

Balance as of 31 December 2019 —  268,977  2,768,765  3,037,742 

Balance as of 31 December 2018 —  210,889  1,917,312  2,128,201 

Off-balance sheet

Contingent liabilities — —  21,302  21,302 

Irrevocable commitments — —  28  28 

Obligations to pay up shares and make further contributions — — — —

Credit commitments — — — —

Total off-balance-sheet as of 31 December 2019 — —  21,330  21,330 

Total off-balance-sheet as of 31 December 2018 — —  22,632  22,632 

CHF thousands Gross debt 
amount

Estimated 
liquidation 

value of  
collateral

Net debt 
amount

Net debt 
amount

Impaired loans / receivables

Balance as of 31 December 2019 — — — —

Balance as of 31 December 2018 — — — —
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Information on economic benefit/liability and the pension expenses

CHF thousands 31.12.2019 
Surplus

31.12.2019 
Economic 
benefit or 

liability

31.12.2018 
Economic 
benefit or 

liability

Change  
versus  

previous  
year

Contributions 
accrued for 
the period

31.12.2019 
Pension costs 

included in 
Personnel 
Expenses

31.12.2018 
Pension costs 

included in 
Personnel 
Expenses

Patronage funds and pension plans — — — — — — —

Pension plans without a surplus/
shortfall

— — — — — — —

Pension plans with a surplus  1,811 — — —  3,607  3,607  3,251 

Pension plans with a shortfall — — — — — — —

Pension schemes without their  
own assets

— — — — — — —

 Total  1,811 — — —  3,607  3,607  3,251 

Pension fund Leonteq Securities AG

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Coverage ratio excluding employer’s contribution reserve 104.30% 103.30%

Coverage ratio including employer’s contribution reserve 104.30% 103.30%

Ownership of shares and options by members of the Board 
of Directors and Executive Committee

The table below shows the number of shares held by the individual members of the Board of 
Directors and members of the Executive Committee as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 
2018, respectively. Members of the Board of Directors and members of the Executive Commit-
tee did not hold any options to acquire shares as of 31 December 2019 and as of 31 December 
2018, respectively. RSUs issued to members of the Executive Committee convert into shares  
upon vesting.

Board of Directors 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Christopher M. Chambers  25,019 18,419

Hans Isler  21,172 19,000

Jörg Behrens  14,361 11,802

Paulo Brügger3  N/A —

Vince Chandler4  N/A 20,741

Patrick de Figueiredo  10,866 8,846

Susana Gomez Smith5  1,616 N/A

Richard A. Laxer  5,502 1,797

Thomas R. Meier  4,156 2,136

Dominik Schärer6  1,572 N/A

Total  84,264 82,741

whereof locked shares  50,295 34,293

3	 Paulo Brügger resigned from Leonteq’s Board of Directors on 2 February 2019 with immediate effect. 
4	 Vince Chandler did not stand for re-election at the Annual General Meeting on 27 March 2019.
5	 Susana Gomez Smith joined Leonteq’s Board of Directors on 27 March 2019.
6	 Dominik Schärer joined Leonteq’s Board of Directors on 19 September 2019.
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Executive Committee 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Shares Restricted  
Stock Units7

Shares Restricted 
Stock Units7 

Lukas T. Ruflin8, 9  12,380  — 12,380 —

Marco Amato  30,432  5,908 27,000 8,330

Jochen Kühn  29,038  18,261 16,734 35,563

Manish Patnaik  5,122  1,587 4,550 2,159

Reto Quadroni  5,488  936 4,889 1,535

David Schmid  22,870  3,714 20,926 5,658

Ingrid Silveri  1,108  783 683 1,208

Total  106,438  31,189 87,162 54,453

7	 Balance of unvested stock units granted for prior year variable compensation or contractually agreed with vesting periods 
2018 – 2022.

8	 This excludes 1,531,376 shares as of 31 December 2019 and as of 31 December 2018 held by Thabatseka LP, which is 
indirectly wholly owned by Clairmont Trust Company Limited; Clairmont Trust Company Limited acts as trustee of a trust 
which holds shares in Leonteq AG through Thabatseka LP; the trust was settled by Lukas T. Ruflin.

9	 Excluding 462,325 call options as of 31 December 2019 and as of 31 December 2018 held by Thabatseka LP; call options 
are subject to the following conditions: original strike CHF 210 (adjusted by cumulative dividends per share and effects of 
corporate actions from 2015 to 2025); subscription ratio 1:1; maturity 19 October 2025; European style. These call options 
are written by Raiffeisen.

The Company has not granted any loans or guarantee commitments to members of the Board of 
Directors or members of the Executive Committee.

Total assets by credit rating of country groups

Risk domicile view

Moody’s rating categories Net foreign 
exposure  

in CHF  
thousands

2019  
Shares as %

Net foreign 
exposure  

in CHF  
thousands

2018 
Shares as %

Aaa – Aa3   5,415,029 96%   5,561,833 96%

A1 – A3  730 0%  1,107 0%

Baa1 – Baa3  133,584 2%  129,160 2%

Ba1 – Ba2  39,914 1%  32,918 1%

Ba3  18,944 0%  8,868 0%

B1 – B3  55,600 1%  42,037 1%

Caa1 – C  4,415 0%  918 0%

unrated  11,760 0%  6,409 0%

Total assets   5,679,976 100%   5,783,249 100%
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Capital management

The capital base serves primarily to cover inherent business risks. The active management of the 
amount and structure of capital is therefore of key importance. The monitoring and management 
of capital adequacy is performed primarily on the basis of the regulatory capital requirements 
determined by the Swiss Federal Council and the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority 
(FINMA), which follows the capital framework defined by the Bank for International Settlements 
(BIS), retaining the tradition of higher capital requirements through the application of capital  
buffers, depending on the size of the company. The Company is not subject to liquidity require-
ments, as they apply specifically to banks.

The Company’s capital management is closely tied to the Company’s overall income targets and 
budgeting process, which also provides a reliable forecast of available capital on the basis of  
future profits, dividend policy and corporate actions. Capital planning is based on realistic  
assumptions with regard to business performance and includes an analysis of potential sources 
of additional capital in times of stress. Management is responsible for the capital planning pro-
cess. The Board of Directors approves the capital plan at least annually. The main drivers of capi-
tal consumption are monitored on a regular basis by the Risk Control department. Risk Control 
regularly considers the Company’s current and future capital position and provides management 
and the Board of Directors with the necessary information for decision-making purposes. 

The following sections summarise the eligible capital, required capital and capital ratios calcu-
lated in accordance with the ARB (FINMA Circ. 15/1) as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 
2018.

Eligible capital 

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Total shareholders’ equity 507,605  459,195 

Capital deductions —  (81)

Other adjustments — —

CET 1 capital 507,605  459,114 

Additional Tier 1 100,000  100,000 

Tier 1 capital 607,605  559,114 

Tier 2 capital 26,614  28,450 

Total BIS eligible capital 634,219  587,564 

Tier 2 capital component takes the subordinated loan as well as the expected credit loss provi-
sion into account.

Capital adequacy
Risk-weighted assets are determined according to specific requirements, which reflect the vary-
ing levels of risk related to on- and off-balance sheet exposures and include amounts in respect 
of market risk, credit risk, operational risk and non-counterparty related risk.

The following approaches are applied when determining the regulatory capital requirements of 
the Company.

•	 Market risk: The standardised approach is applied for calculating market risk charges.  
Requirements for general interest rate risk in the trading book are calculated according to 
the maturity method. Commodity inventory is dealt with under the maturity ladder  
approach. For options the delta-plus approach is applied.

•	 Credit risk: The international standardised approach (SA-BIS) is applied for calculating credit 
risk charges. Credit equivalents for derivatives are calculated according to the current expo-
sure method. Collateral is recognised using the comprehensive approach. Requirements on 
potential credit valuation adjustments are calculated according to the standardised approach.

•	 Operational risk: The basic indicator approach is applied for calculating operational risk charges.

•	 Non-counterparty related risk: The standardised approach is applied for calculating non-coun-
terparty related risk charges.
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As a securities dealer, the company is subject to Swiss capital adequacy requirements. The  
Company has complied with these rules and met the minimum total capital ratio of 10.5% of 
risk-weighted assets as of 31 December 2019 and at all times throughout 2019.

CHF thousand BIS required capital Risk weighted assets

31.12.2019 31.12.2018 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Market risk (incl. derivatives) 161,568  137,441 2,019,599   1,718,011 

Interest rates 107,505  81,127 1,343,817   1,014,088 

Equities 35,291  38,366 441,140  479,573 

Foreign exchange and gold 12,375  9,352 154,685  116,898 

Commodities 6,397  8,596 79,957  107,452 

Credit risk 33,137  43,801 414,211  547,513 

Operational risk 25,230  23,531 315,373  294,137 

Non-counterparty related risk 4,848  4,202 60,597  52,527 

Items not deducted in application of 
threshold 3, but risk-weighted with 
250%

— — — —

Cryptocurrencies 2,227  50 27,841  629 

Total 227,010  209,025 2,837,621   2,612,817 

BIS capital ratios (%) 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

CET 1 capital ratio (required: 7.0%10) 17.9% 17.6%

Tier 1 capital ratio (required: 8.5%10) 21.4% 21.4%

Total capital ratio (required: 10.5%10) 22.4% 22.5%

10	 Minimum requirement including capital conservation buffer according to Annex 8 of the Capital Adequacy Ordinance.

Capital charges for market risks increased in 2019 due to the growth in issuance volume and the 
increase in investment activity which contributed to the increase in interest rate risk related 
capital requirements in addition to the increase in capital requirements related to credit sensitive 
products. On the back of a quiet market environment, capital requirements for credit risks de-
creased at the end of 2019, driven by the reduced exposures to banks and insurance companies 
as a result of the Company’s cash holdings, securities transactions, derivative exposures arising 
from positions in OTC and listed derivatives, as well as securities lending and borrowing activi-
ties. The capital requirement for operational risk is based on average earnings over a three-year 
time period.

For additional information according to the FINMA circular 2016/1 Disclosure-Banks, refer to the 
separate Basel III Pillar 3 Report published on the Investor Relations section of the Company’s 
website at: www.leonteq.com. The report will be available at the end of April 2020.

Leverage ratio

CHF thousand 31.12.2019 
Exposure

31.12.2018 
Exposure

Tier 1 capital 607,605  559,114 

Total assets as per published financial statements 8,972,057   10,650,680 

Adjustments (281,438)  (3,271,295)

Leverage ratio exposure 8,690,619   7,379,386 

Leverage ratio 7.0% 7.6%

The leverage ratio decreased by 0.6 percentage points in 2019 primarily due to the increase in 
issuance volume. For the calculation of the leverage ratio exposure the majority of derivative 
exposures can be netted or offset against cash collateral based on the netting agreements in 
place with trading counterparties (presented as adjustments).
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Legal Disclaimer
This annual report of Leonteq Securities AG (the ’Company’) serves for information purposes only and does not consti-
tute research. This annual report and all materials, documents and information used therein or distributed in the context 
of its publication do not constitute or form part of and should not be construed as, an offer (public or private) to sell or 
a solicitation of offers (public or private) to purchase or subscribe for shares or other securities of the Company or any 
of its affiliates or subsidiaries in any jurisdiction or an inducement to enter into investment activity in any jurisdiction, 
and may not be used for such purposes. Copies of this annual report may not be made available (directly or indirectly) 
to any person in relation to whom the making available of the annual report is restricted or prohibited by law or sent to 
countries, or distributed in or from countries, to, in or from which this is restricted or prohibited by law. 

This annual report may contain specific forward-looking statements, e.g. statements including terms like ’believe’,  
’assume’, ’expect’, ’forecast’, ’project’, ’may’, ’could’, ’might’, ’will’ or similar expressions. Such forward-looking state-
ments are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may result in a substantial diver-
gence between the actual results, financial situation, development or performance of the Company or any of its affili-
ates or subsidiaries and those explicitly or implicitly presumed in these statements. These factors include, but are not 
limited to: (1) general market, macroeconomic, governmental and regulatory trends, (2) movements in securities mar-
kets, exchange rates and interest rates and (3) other risks and uncertainties inherent in our business. Against the 
background of these uncertainties, you should not rely on forward-looking statements. 

Neither the Company nor any of its affiliates or subsidiaries or their respective bodies, executives, employees and  
advisers assume any responsibility to prepare or disseminate any supplement, amendment, update or revision to any 
of the information, opinions or forward-looking statements contained in this annual report or to adapt them to any 
change in events, conditions or circumstances, except as required by applicable law or regulation. 

The COSI® asset-backed products (hereinafter ’COSI® products’) are collateralised in accordance with the terms of the 
SIX Swiss Exchange ’Framework Agreement for Collateral Secured Instruments’ (’Framework Agreement’). COSI®  
Collateral Secured Instruments – Investor Protection engineered by SIX. COSI® secures structured products with a 
pledge, thus offering investors a high level of protection from issuer defaults.

Any – including only partial – reproduction of any article or picture is solely permitted based on an authorisation from 
Leonteq Securities AG No responsibility is assumed in case of unsolicited delivery.

© Leonteq Securities AG 2020. All rights reserved

In the spirit of sustainability, this publication was printed using a carbon-neutral process on FSC certified paper and 
guarantees a sustainable management of the world’s forests. Only green electricity was used for the manufacture of 
this publication and it was delivered with a hybrid car.
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